

COLLEGE OF LAW AND MANAGEMENT STUDIES SCHOOL OF LAW

LAWS8LM MINI-DISSERTATION FOR MASTERS IN MEDICAL LAW

Examining the role of intellectual property law, policy and management in open innovation models that facilitate innovation in and access to genomic medicine.

Siddharthiya Pillay 211505906

Supervisor: Dr Donrich W Thaldar 2017

Table of Contents

Declaration Of Original Work	3
Abstract	4
Chapter One: An introduction to the role of intellectual property law and policy in fac open innovation in genomic medicine	_
I. Introduction	5
II. Rationale and research questions	9
III. Research outline	10
IV. Literature review	11
(a) The Global Intellectual Property Rights Regime	11
(b) An Evolved Concept of Open Innovation	13
(c) Open innovation in South Africa	16
V. Research design and methods	17
Chapter Two: Understanding the Principles of Genomic Medicine	18
I. Conceptualising genomic medicine	19
(a) A scientific background to genomics	20
(b) Understanding the nature of genomics medicine	22
II. Generating genomic knowledge for application: an insight into genomic databases an biobanks	
(a) The Human Genome: uncovering the reference genome	
(b) Genomic databases and biobanks: creating research tools for innovation	
III. Conclusion	31
Chapter Three: understanding the current IP landscape in genomic medicine	33
I. A brief understanding of patents	
II. The impact of patents on genomic medicine: a focus on genomic knowledge	35
(a) Genomic knowledge as a public good	36
(b) The tragedy of the anti-commons: the underuse of genomic knowledge as research t	ools38
(c) IPRs on publically-funded technologies: the private rights granted to genomic know generators	
III. Patenting Genome Sequences	
(a) Examining international patent law: the TRIPS agreement	
(b) The role of <i>Myriad</i> in patent office practice	
(c) Examining the patent law of the EU and South Africa	
IV. The benefits of patents on the human genome	
V. Conclusion	
Chapter Four: The role of IP policy on open collaborative innovation in genomic medi-	cine 60

I. The principles of open innovation in genomic medicine	60
(a) The foundation of open innovation: purposive knowledge flows	60
(b) The evolution of open innovation through democratisation and collaboration	65
(d) The shift to open collaborative innovation	71
II. The role of IP policy in open collaborative innovation	75
(a) A consolidation of IP Policies to promote open collaborative innovation in genomic medicine	75
(b) The promise of South African IP policy in open collaborative innovation	84
III. Conclusion	92
Chapter Five: Conclusion	96
List of Cited Works	101

My sincere gratitude to all my teachers for opening the doors to this new world, and to my mentors

— Dr Thaldar and Dr Goodier — for their wisdom, support and tireless sculpting.

To my parents, my second parents, my grandmothers, and the rest of my family and friends, thank you for your love and sharing this adventure with me.

'Probably the last man who knew how it worked had been tortured to death years before. Or as soon as it was installed. Killing the creator was a traditional method of patent protection.' — Terry Pratchett, Small Gods

Declaration Of Original Work

I, Siddharthiya Pillay (211505906), declare that:

selle

- (i) the research produced in this mini-dissertation for the purposes of completing an LLM in Medical Law, except where otherwise indicated, is my original work;
- (ii) this mini-dissertation has not been submitted for any degree or examination at UKZN or any other university.
- (iii) this mini-dissertation does not contain other persons' data, pictures, graphs or other information, unless specifically acknowledged as having been sourced from other persons.
- (iv) this mini-dissertation does not contain other persons' writing, unless specifically acknowledged as having been sourced from other researchers. Where other written sources have been quoted, then:
 - a. their words have been re-written but the general information attributed to them has been referenced, or;
 - b. their exact words have been quoted inside quotation marks, and referenced.
- (v) this mini—dissertation does not contain text, graphics or tables copied and pasted from the Internet, unless specifically acknowledged, and the source acknowledged in this mini—dissertation and in the List of Cited Works.

Signature:

Abstract

The traditional closed innovation model is largely supported by a regime where intellectual property rights (IPRs) are used to secure monopolies over inventions, with one justification being that this maximises profits for future innovation. In the pharmaceutical and related healthcare technology industries, such a regime has been criticised as impeding access to healthcare technologies and hampering cumulative innovation. One response to this criticism has been a shift towards a more open innovation model, where more permeable boundaries between organisations facilitates the flow of knowledge for innovation. In such a model, IPRs may be used to facilitate such knowledge flows rather than solely as a means of securing a monopoly, satisfying the interests of private actors to profits, public interest to access advanced technology, and private-public interest to further innovation. In this dissertation, it is explored how IPRs, particularly as patents, may be used to facilitate open collaborative innovation in the genomic medicine field. This relatively nascent field of medicine endeavours to personalise medical decisions based on an individual's genome, but in order to develop the necessary technologies, requires vast amounts of knowledge on the human genome. Many initiatives have adopted intellectual property (IP) policies that facilitate open innovation so as to accelerate knowledge flows and resulting innovation in genomic medicine. Herein, these policies are consolidated to provide a tentative IP policy framework that supports open collaborative innovation in genomic medicine, against which South Africa's Draft IP policy and the IP policy of South Africa's leading research body, the Medical Research Council, is compared. It is found that whilst other countries are directly addressing the issues of patenting in genomic medicine through legislature and case law, South Africa is yet to take comparable actions. This is reflected in its vague patent laws and IP policies regarding IP in genomic medicine. Though there may be common elements that support open innovation between the policies of international initiatives and those of South Africa, the lack of clarity in the South African instruments does not provide a strong foundation for open innovation in genomic medicine. However, as the national IP policy is still in its draft phase, and this policy recognises the value of protecting public health, there may be opportunity to amend provisions to provide the necessary direction towards open innovation in genomic medicine, especially for bodies such as the Medical Research Council.

Chapter One: An introduction to the role of intellectual property law and policy in facilitating open innovation in genomic medicine

I. Introduction

International treaties such as Universal Declaration of Human Rights (1948)¹ and the International Covenant on Economic, Social & Cultural Rights (1966),² as well as regional instruments such as the African Charter on Human and Peoples' Rights³ and national legislation such as the Constitution of the Republic of South Africa 1996,⁴ have recognised access to healthcare as a basic human right, in which access to medicines is encompassed. As healthcare needs evolve, new branches of medicine emerge, and require existing aspects related to healthcare, such as models of innovation, to evolve. Such a branch is that of genomic medicine.

Genomics medicine is a way to customise medical care to a person's unique genomic makeup.⁵ Genomics refers to the study of genomes; a genome is the entire collective of DNA present within an individual, which includes genes.⁶ Whilst each individual in a species has a standard genomic blueprint, each genome may vary structurally,⁷ resulting in different characteristics between individuals. These variations are termed genomic variants, and form the basis of genomic medicine.⁸ In genomic medicine, genomic variation is examined to: 1) determine predisposition to disease; 2) tailor treatments accordingly; and, consequently 3) predict response to treatments.⁹ This informs personalised routes of medical care offered to patients from diagnosis of disease, to treatment and prognosis. The intention of developing such tailored care is to enhance efficiency and efficacy, thereby reducing adverse outcomes and maximising benefits of healthcare beyond what is currently achieved in conventional medicine.¹⁰ However, when juxtaposed to conventional medicine, genomic medicine is a relatively nascent field, requiring significant amount of research and development (R&D) before it can adequately fulfil the right to health.

¹ Universal Declaration of Human Rights (1948) Article 5.

² International Covenant on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights (1966) Article 12.

³ African Charter on Human and Peoples' Rights (1981) Article 16.

⁴ Constitution of the Republic of South Africa (1996) Article 27.

⁵ D M Goodman, C Lymn, E H Livingston 'Genomic Medicine' (2013) 309(14) JAMA 1544.

⁶ World Health Organization *The Ethical, Legal and Social Implications of Pharmacogenomics in Developing Countries* (2007) (Report of an International Group of Experts) 5.

⁷ Ibid 3.

⁸ Ibid 5.

⁹ Ibid 3.

¹⁰ Ibid 3.

The fulfilment of the right to health is aided by the *availability* of health technologies¹¹ as well as *accessibility* to these, as proposed by the Committee on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights.¹² Innovation enables access to a greater range of health technologies, and is therefore implicated in the fulfilment of the right to health. Innovation in science is often cumulative, meaning that innovation is built on previous innovation or knowledge.¹³ Therefore, access to upstream knowledge and innovation is essential in driving the progression of innovation in genomic medicine. However, with the emergence of a globalised intellectual property (IP) regime there has been a trend to increase IP rights (IPRs) on such knowledge and technologies, which has received public outcry.¹⁴

A globalised regime on IP protection has emerged from the agenda of the World Trade Organisation. This has been achieved by binding member states to TRIPS, which seeks to 'reduce distortions and impediments to international trade' by harmonising the protection of IPRs. ¹⁵ The patent legislation of member states has adopted the TRIPS provisions as minima standards, despite the differing economic, social and political standing and interests between the countries.

TRIPS does recognise the need of members to 'promote the public interest in sectors of vital importance to their socio–economic and technological development'. This encompasses the promotion of technological innovation and the transfer of technology, to benefit producers and users, in a way that is 'conducive to social and economic welfare', and that balances 'rights and obligations'. However, developing countries found that interpretation of TRIPS by developed countries did not promote their interests as developing countries in public health, despite its express provisions relating to this. Consequently, the Declaration on the TRIPS Agreement and Public Health (the Doha Declaration), which also recognises the importance of IP protection in medical development, emerged largely from the disgruntlement of developing countries at the WTO Fourth Ministerial Conference in Doha. The Doha Declaration emphasises that developing countries in particular should make use of the flexibilities provided in TRIPS, but to date, these have been used

¹¹ Used as an umbrella term to include facilities, services and goods.

¹² CESCR General Comment No. 14: The Right to the Highest Attainable Standard of Health (Art. 12) (2000) Article 12) Articles 12(a)–(b).

¹³ Y Joly 'Open source approaches in biotechnology: Utopia Revisited' (2007) 59(2) Maine Law Review 391.

¹⁴ M A Heller & R S Eisenberg 'Can Patents Deter Innovation? The Anticommons in Biomedical Research.' (1998) 280(5364) *Science*.

¹⁵ Agreement on Trade-related Aspects of Intellectual Property Rights (TRIPS Agreement) (1994) 320.

¹⁶ Ibid Article 8, 323.

¹⁷ Ibid Article 7, 323.

¹⁸ Ibid Article 7, 323.

¹⁹ Doha Declaration on the TRIPS Agreement and Public Health (Doha Declaration) (2001).

²⁰ Ibid Article 4–7.

sparsely to meet public health needs. Thus, IP governance needs to evolve under a more pragmatic model that supports public and private interests.

Pharmaceutical and biotechnology industries claim that patents allow for recoupment of high R&D costs and investment, which incentivises and stimulates further innovation in the field, which in turn may raise the standard of healthcare available to the public. However, patent monopolies are likely to arise, running the risk of restricted patient access and high costs of technologies. Thus, this rationale has received criticism and public outcry, as commentators view these healthcare-based industries as having a 'unique' 'social contract with the public' to produce health technologies. Consequently, the United Nations responded by consolidating the obligations of non-states actors, namely businesses, to the right to health. ²³

This claim of recouping R&D investment may be boosted in light of the consequences of stratification of consumer markets according to genomic sub-populations, to be discussed in the following chapters, and whether it is sound, it is undeniable that the costs of R&D and commercialisation are high. There are multiple results of patents, which will be discussed further in the following chapters, however, regarding innovation and access to innovation, patents have two possible effects: a) monopolies may be created where access to genomic medicine by patients is limited, and costs may be raised without competition; b) innovation in the field of genomic medicine may be stymied as R&D attempts are hindered by the threat of patent infringement, despite the claim that the promise of patenting spurs innovation. If the traditional business rationale of patenting to recoup investment for further innovation does in fact hinder R&D more than it promotes innovation, such a rationale may be untenable for the advancement of personalised healthcare. Furthermore, this traditional business rationale of patenting profusely so as to maximise profits invites contention around the issue of whether elements of the human genome, such as human genes, as shared biological features of all human organisms, are even patentable subject matter.

The Human Genome Project ignited the discussion on gene patents. The Human Genome Project regarded the discovered genomic information as a public good, and promoted open access to this information. However, competing private firms sought to privatise the genetic knowledge that they had discovered. This issue of gene patenting were considered in the United States case of

²¹ Y A Vawda, B K Baker 'Achieving social justice in the human rights/intellectual property debate: Realising the goal of access to medicines' (2013) 13 *AHRLJ* 70–73.

²² KM Lybecker 'Social, ethical and legal issues in drug development, marketing, and pricing policies: setting priorities; pharmaceuticals as private organizations and the duty to make money/maximize profits' in Cohen et al (eds) *The Power of Pills* (2006) 25–31.

²³ Special Representative of the Secretary-General *Guiding principles on business and human rights: Implementing the United Nations 'protect, respect and remedy' framework*, UN Doc A/HRC/17/31 (2011).

Association for Molecular Pathology et al v Myriad Genetics, Inc et al.²⁴ This case concerned the breast cancer risk genes BRCA1 and BRCA2 (BRCA1/2) that were patented by Myriad Genetics, hence limiting patient access to breast cancer diagnostics based on these genes. A clear theme underlying this debate is: to what extent must healthcare-based companies and such non-state actors fulfil their unique social responsibility in lieu of their private interests to generate a profit? Clearly, a new model for organisational R&D is required — one that promotes what will be termed as the 'triad of interests': a) the private interest in return on investments; b) the private—public interest in rapid innovation in the field of genomic medicine to deliver optimal technologies; and c), the public interest in patients' access to technologies in genomic medicine. A new R&D model that has been widely adopted by global leaders in healthcare technologies — the 'big pharma' — in an attempt to address the triad of interests, is open innovation.²⁵

'Open Innovation' is a model proposed by Henry Chesbrough where 'firms can and should use external ideas as well as internal ideas, and internal and external paths to market, as the firms look to advance their technology'. ²⁶ This contrasts the traditional 'closed innovation' model in which R&D was retained in the internal structures of an organisation, whose boundaries remained impermeable. ²⁷ Essentially, Chesbrough calls for a bi-directional flow of knowledge — classified as either inbound, outbound, or coupled processes — through leveraging of R&D (which focuses significantly on rethinking traditional IP management). ²⁸ Open innovation has evolved as the literature and experiential evidence around it has grown, and has even extended to 'open collaborative innovation'. ²⁹ Nonetheless, what is retained in these divergent views is that there are 'distributed sources of knowledge for innovation', ³⁰ a highly relevant feature of the genomic medicines industry. These 'sources', under an open innovation framework, need to network or collaborate to optimise the utility of their IP expanding innovation beyond the existing 'closed' and impermeable boundaries of the organisations. This could be highly beneficial to the advancement of innovation in genomic medicine, whilst satisfying the private interests of the entities involved.

²⁴ Association for Molecular Pathology et al v Myriad Genetics, Inc, et al (2014) 569 USC.

²⁵ B H Raja, P Sambandan *Open Innovation in Pharmaceutical Industry: A case study of Eli Lilli* (Master of Science Thesis, KTH Industrial Engineering and Management, 2015).

²⁶ H W Chesbrough *Open innovation: The new imperative for creating and profiting from technology* (2003).

²⁷ H W Chesbrough & M Bogers 'Explicating Open Innovation: Clarifying an Emerging Paradigm for Understanding Innovation' in H W Chesbrough, W Vanhaverbeke, J West (eds) *New Frontiers in Open Innovation* First edition (2014) 3.

²⁸ Ibid 13–15.

²⁹ Ibid 15–16.

³⁰ Ibid 16.

Genomic medicine has two central facets underlying diagnostic testing and personalised, genome—based treatment — basic research of genome sequences, function and location, and downstream development of genome-based diagnostic and therapeutic technologies. These facets may be suited different approaches to IP protection, which will be explored herein, so as to facilitate sustainable innovation. Instead of using blanket approaches where IP protection is either abolished (such as in the public good argument), or where IP protection is too extensive to serve the interests of inventors (such as in closed innovation), an open innovation model may consider both the public good nature of genes and the value of downstream technologies as IP leverage in innovation. This may facilitate patient access to genomic health technologies, whilst promoting innovation in the field.

South Africa (SA) has identified through its 2013 Bio–economy Strategy that innovations in emerging knowledge economies, such as genomics, may contribute significantly to the country's future economy.³¹ However, it reports that 'sustained performance of biotechnology companies has been a challenge',³² calling for new innovation models that integrate issues, one of which it identifies as 'access to global intellectual property and knowledge pools'.³³ Thus, SA may stand to benefit from open innovation in terms of growing its biopharmaceutical and biotechnological industries, but will also need to create a favourable IP environment.

II. Rationale and research questions

As the field of genomic medicine is explored, it becomes apparent that rapid and significant innovation is needed to make available optimal technologies. However, as the contention surrounding access to conventional medicine and IPRs illustrates, researchers may face challenges in accessing knowledge and upstream innovations that are essential to advancing genomic medicine technology. However, as it will be explored, IPRs also have a role in the open innovation model. A consolidated, multi-faceted open innovation concept endeavours to expand innovation through the use of IPRs, and reduce the burden on healthcare entities such as companies and universities (where burdens may range from costs to human capital and skills), optimising the benefits to all stakeholders, including patients, and fulfilling the triad of interests posited above.

This study therefore endeavours to examine the role of IP law, policy and management in the open collaborative innovation model that facilitates innovation in and access to genomic medicine, so as to fulfil the right to health as delineated by international law. In order to achieve this, the role of IPRs under the traditional, closed innovation model that has received criticism for blocking

³¹ Department of Science & Technology *The Bio-Economy Strategy* (2013).

³² Ibid 14.

³³ Ibid 21.

essential knowledge and upstream technologies is explored. This highlights, from an IP perspective, why there is a shift to an open innovation model that uses IPRs differently. The value of open collaborative innovation in genomic medicine is substantiated using existing initiatives, and it is examined through IP policies how IPRs are used in these initiatives to create sustainable open innovation. Using these policies, a consolidated open collaborative innovation policy that can be suited to the different aspects of genomic medicine is provided.³⁴ This consolidated policy is then used as a reference in brief analysis of the amenability of major policy influences in SA to open collaborative innovation in genomic medicine in the country.

III. **Research outline**

The body of the dissertation will be constructed of five chapters, including the introductory and conclusory chapters. In Chapter One, the topic is introduced and the background and rationale of the study is presented. This is followed by a Literature Review detailing the main sources of literature mainly primary works — that are relevant to answering the research question.

Chapter two introduces the concept of genomic medicine will be developed and juxtaposed to conventional medicine. This juxtaposition elucidates how R&D needs for innovation differs between the two, partially justifying a shift in healthcare innovation. In outlining these R&D needs, there is a concentration on the role of large-scale genomic research projects, such as the Human Genome Project, databases and biobanks in facilitating the generation of genomic knowledge that can be used to downstream R&D.

In Chapter Three, the concept of a closed innovation model and how IPRs in genomics has traditionally been used to support his model is introduced. The public good nature of genomic knowledge is also explored, and the value of limiting IPRs use so as to promote access to essential research tools such as genome sequences is highlighted. There is an examination of various cases in which patents on genomic elements, such as genes, have been challenged on the basis of hindering future innovation and restricting patient access, providing a rationale for a shift in how IPRs is used to promote innovation whilst expanding access to genomic knowledge and technologies.

In Chapter Four, the paradigm of open innovation will be explored, with a focus on open collaborative innovation. The rationale for using open collaborative innovation in the field of genomic medicine is substantiated, and there is an exploration of the IP policies of initiatives to establish how IP may be used to further the objectives of openness in genomic medicine innovation. Through this exploration of policies, a consolidated IP policy that supports open innovation is provided,³⁵ and used

³⁴ Section II (a).

³⁵ Ibid.

to analyse the IP policy climate within the South African context, focusing on SA's national IP policy and the IP policy of a leading body of research, the SA Medical Research Council.

The last chapter, Chapter Five, will conclude this study by listing the limitations to the study and recommendations for future researchers to consider. The conclusory remarks on the role of IP in open innovation that facilitates innovation in, and access to, genomic medicine, will be presented to close this chapter.

IV. <u>Literature review</u>

In this literature review, the major authoritative patent legislature and litigation in genomic medicine that illustrate the use of IPRs under a closed innovation model, and the divergent approaches to genome patenting adopted by various jurisdictions resulting from the lack of an international consensus on the matter are identified. This forms part of the substantiation for shifting to the open innovation model proposed by Chesbrough. Following this is an outline the evolution of Chesbrough's open innovation into the model of open collaborative innovation that will be used in this dissertation. The various initiatives and authoritative bodies whose IP policies are used to highlight the groundwork that is being laid for open collaborative innovation in genomic medicine are then introduced. Subsequent to the introduction of these policies, it is substantiated as to why South African has been chosen as a focus country in this dissertation as there is a paucity of IP law and policy supporting open collaborative innovation in genomic medicine in the country.

(a) The Global Intellectual Property Rights Regime

A starting point for any critique of genome patenting and its effects on innovation is the TRIPS Agreement, which binds member states to its provisions and aims to 'reduce distortions and impediments to international trade' by harmonising the protection of IPRs in a manner that does not allow these rights to hamper 'legitimate trade'.³⁶ The two underlying principles of TRIPS include the National Treatment and the Most–Favoured–Nation–Treatment provisions that essentially seek to harmonise the protection of IPRs amongst member states by extending state provisions to nationals of all other states.³⁷

Though TRIPS arises from a trade agenda, it also recognises the need of members to 'promote the public interest in sectors of vital importance to their socio-economic and technological

11

³⁶ TRIPS Agreement (note 15 above) 320.

³⁷ Ibid Articles 3-4.

development', ³⁸ which includes the public interest to protect public health. ³⁹ This is reiterated in the Declaration on the TRIPS Agreement and Public Health (the Doha Declaration), which also recognises the importance of IP protection in medical development. ⁴⁰ Both TRIPS and the Doha Declaration also emphasise the use of flexibilities to protect public health, especially regarding compulsory licensing and parallel licensing, ⁴¹ although commentary on this suggests these not are not exploited, opening the avenue for new models that facilitate technological development and address public health interests. ⁴²

The IPRs provisions of TRIPS are meant to be interpreted in light of its objectives of Article 8 mentioned above, but have been criticised as being open-ended, minima standards, 43 leading to divergent approaches to patenting in specific technological industries. Genome patenting is a pertinent case where it is observed that various jurisdictions have opposing views that could affect innovation in genomics differently. Two prominent examples are that of the US and the EU. The EU's Directive on the Legal Protection of Biotechnological Inventions⁴⁴ (the EU Directive) recognises the EU's primary obligations set out in TRIPS, and in its preamble, takes a pro-trade outlook, indicating the importance of IP protection in trade and industrial development. Subsequently, it provides clear grounds for the patenting of biological material, including genome sequences isolated from humans, taking a stance that promotes maximum patent-eligibility within the conditions of patentability set forth in TRIPS. 45 However, the US Patent and Trademark Office takes an opposing stance to patenting isolated genome sequences, following the judgement of the Myriad case in the US, where a number of claims based on the BRCA1 and BRCA2 genes were challenged on the grounds that they are not patentable subject matter under section 101 the Title 35 of the US Code, following that the isolated genes are products of nature, and thus patent-ineligible according to the law at hand. 46 These dissimilar provisions highlight the need for sound and clear patent law that

_

³⁸ Ibid Article 8, 323.

³⁹ TRIPS Agreement (note 15 above) Article 8.

⁴⁰ Doha Declaration (note 19 above) Article 3.

⁴¹ TRIPS Agreement (note 15 above); Doha Declaration (note 19) Article 5.

⁴² K J Strandburg 'Accommodating user innovation in the international intellectual property regime: A global administrative law approach' (2009) *Acta Juridica* 283-318.

⁴³ Ibid.

⁴⁴ Directive 98/44/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council of 6 July 1998 on the legal protection of biotechnological inventions (1998).

⁴⁵ EU Directive (note 45 above) Articles 3(1), 5(2).

⁴⁶ K Sevick 'U.S. patent office floats new biotech-friendly guidelines' (19 December available at http://www.sciencemag.org/news/2014/12/us-patent-office-floats-new-biotech-friendly-guidelines), accessed on 15 April 2017.

addresses patenting of the various forms of DNA and associated molecular structures, uses of these, and associated methods claims.

A review of the literature on genome patenting, in light of TRIPS, highlights the need to a comprehensive legal international consensus on patenting in genomics that fulfils the objectives to protect public health and promote technological development as set out in TRIPS and the Doha Declaration. However, the structure of such a consensus determines how innovation will be conducted, and law and policy reform should be cognisant of the emerging models of innovation that digress from the traditional closed model.

(b) An Evolved Concept of Open Innovation

In his 2003 paper, Chesbrough introduces the concept of open innovation in the firm as that based on inbound and outbound flow of knowledge, ⁴⁷ and in his subsequent work, he evolves the concept of open innovation by incorporating more recent reconceptualisations, including Gassman and Enkel's coupled innovation where knowledge is simultaneously inbound and outbound. ⁴⁸ Chesbrough proposes the following definition of open innovation as 'a distributed innovation process [primarily of R&D spill–overs] based on purposively managed knowledge flows across organizational boundaries, using pecuniary and non-pecuniary mechanisms in line with the organization's business model'. ⁴⁹

Chesbrough then incorporates divergent views on open innovation that transgress his firm—centric model. These views include innovations of a public good nature that arise through 'distributed social division of labour', as proposed by von Hippel, ⁵⁰ particularly termed as 'open, distributed innovation' and 'open collaborative innovation'. ⁵¹ Both open innovation and open collaborative innovation are based on the notion of 'distributed sources of knowledge for innovation'. ⁵² Open collaborative innovation is offered as a feasible, evolved model of open innovation in genomic medicine by various initiatives, as commentators debate the public good nature of genomic knowledge, ⁵³ yet also recognise the need to incentivise private actors in collaborations.

⁴⁷ Chesbrough (note 26 above).

⁴⁸ Chesbrough & Bogers (note 27 above; 13).

⁴⁹ Ibid.

⁵⁰ Ibid 16.

⁵¹ Ibid 15.

⁵² Ibid 16.

⁵³ F Huzair & T Papaioannou 'UK Biobank: Consequences for commons and innovation' (2012) 39 *Science and Public Policy* 501.

Commentators suggest that open collaborative innovation has the potential to capture value both for private and public actors, and to accelerate the biotechnological advancement.⁵⁴

Though there is a relative paucity of evidence of the success of open collaborative innovation in genomic medicine when compared to more established open practices in industries such as the software industry, many open initiatives in genomics have emerged that lay the foundation for future insight into the success of open collaborative innovation. Two such examples are that of CAMBIA's BIOS⁵⁵ and the 100 000 Genomes Project (100KGP). Both these initiatives emphasise in their policies the crucial role of their genomic biobanks and databases in generating meaningful genomic knowledge and allowing for knowledge flows.

Established in 2004, the BIOS initiative, based in Australia, seeks to use collective and distributed innovation to create sustainable and equitable economic and social development in the biological sciences. ⁵⁶ Though its focus has largely been on agriculture, BIOS does recognise the need to address public health, and its innovation policy is worthwhile to examine as it incorporates an open innovation approach. Its objectives are seek not only to recognise public-good norms in the biological sciences, but also to 'adapt new inclusive IP sharing mechanisms' that do not allow the appropriation of public goods. ⁵⁷ These two objectives indicate that BIOS does not employ a narrow view on open innovation, and endeavours to include interests to use research tools to innovate, and public and private interests to capture value from innovations through dissemination of knowledge and technologies and commercialisation. Importantly, BIOS distinguishes between research tools and downstream applications, ⁵⁸ forming a crux of this dissertation — that research tools such as genome sequences should be public goods to maximise innovation of downstream technologies that need to be commercialised. BIOS seeks to achieve this commercialisation in a manner that does not restrict further access and innovation through patenting, but looks for alternative IP sharing mechanisms.

Firstly, BIOS seeks to create an understanding of the current patent IP landscape amongst its users, and has created a cost–free, public–access database of patents in the EU, US, Australia and through the Patent Cooperation Treaty (PCT) — BIOS intends to extend the range of jurisdictions. Through its patent database and informatics tools, BIOS creates a means by which to guide policy through 'analysis of patterns of IP development, protection and ownership'. ⁵⁹ BIOS favours open—

⁵⁴ M Gastrow 'Open innovation in South Africa: case studies in nanotechnology, biotechnology, and open source software development' (2012) 9(1) *Journal for New Generation Sciences* 42.

⁵⁵ CAMBIA (note 57 above).

⁵⁶ A Carvalho 'The Intellectual Property and Open Source Approaches to Biological Material' in Trento Law and Technology Research Group Student Paper Series (2013) 105.

⁵⁷ CAMBIA *The CAMBIA BIOS Initiative* (2004) 3.

⁵⁸ Ibid.

⁵⁹ Ibid 9.

access licensing of CAMBIA's IP, and endeavours to identify core technologies that need to be developed. To support such development, BIOS will create a cyberspace — an internet—based platform where researchers and developers can communicate to facilitate open collaborative innovation. It is for these reasons that BIOS is a suitable candidate for the study of open collaborative innovation.

The 100KGP is a genomic database established by the UK Department of Health company, Genomics England, in 2013, and is a key initiative discussed by the University of Cambridge's Centre for Science and Policy. 61 It aims to compile and own the genomic and clinical data of patients with specific diseases, and make these available for use by third parties either freely (if parties are members) or for a reasonable and fair fee. 62 Though it is not directly a platform for collaborative innovation, as with BIOS, its IP and access policy is notable as is it more aligned to a business model that seeks to generate a profit for public benefit. The IP and access policy for this project is tiered: academic and public-sectors researchers are required to join the Genomics England Clinical Interpretation Partnership ('GeCIP'), and private companies are to join the Genomics Expert Network for Enterprises ('GENE') Consortium. 63 Each tier is subject to different rules on IPRs and access, and licensing and payments. This tiered approach considers the different roles potential collaborators have, that is, whether their strengths lie in generating basic knowledge or in developing this knowledge into commercial applications, aligning with the crux of this dissertation that an innovation model needs to accommodate both the public good nature of genomic knowledge and the private good nature of its downstream applications. The 100KGP does achieve openness through fair and reasonable licensing, fully/partial open-access databases, capture of social value, and dissemination of knowledge through management of IPRs, 64 and for these reasons, is considered as a significant initiative in this dissertation topic.

These initiatives provide valuable insight into the IP policies that engender openness in collaboration, but are restricted to the boundaries of the initiative. Policy and guidelines need to extend beyond an entity to a national and even international phase, as illustrated by the OECD's *Guidelines for the Licensing of Genetic Inventions*, 65 a source which ultimately provides a platform

⁶⁰ Ibid 10.

⁶¹ Centre for Science and Policy IP Policy Workshop Report No. 2 *Open Innovation with Large Bioresources: Goals, Challenges and Proposals* (2016) 14.

⁶² Ibid.

⁶³ Ibid.

⁶⁴ Ibid.

⁶⁵ OECD Guidelines for the Licensing of Genetic Inventions (2006).

This document was endorsed by OECD's Committee for Scientific and Technological Policy meeting at ministerial level and by OECD health ministers in 2004.

for the integration and balancing of innovation, IPRs and genomic medicine. Licensing is identified by Chesbrough as a key element to open innovation, ⁶⁶ and the *Guidelines* discuss best practices for licensing genetic inventions in healthcare, ⁶⁷ defining 'genetic invention' ⁶⁸ beyond that tackled in the case law mentioned above. ⁶⁹ It explores the value of genetic innovation (which is included in genomic invention) in human healthcare and economic growth, ⁷⁰ and explores the collaborative and cooperative nature of innovation. In its objective to balance the IP system, the guidelines outline licensing that: a) occurs in an 'economically-rational' manner; b) comply with competition law; and c), balance the 'interests of society, shareholders and stakeholders'. ⁷¹ The overarching themes under which 'Principles and Best Practices' are discussed all have a role in the structure of open collaborative innovation, and include: licensing generally, healthcare and genetic inventions, research freedom, commercial development, competition. ⁷² Whilst the premise may seem idealistic, the *Guidelines* provide further insight and solutions where possible in the 'Annotations', ⁷³ and is a valuable foundation for national, regional or international IP policy that can foster openness in innovation.

(c) Open innovation in South Africa

South Africa is a developing country with the status of an emerging market and leader in biotechnology R&D investment, as found by Gastrow in his quantitative study of the South African biotechnology sector. However, in this study, which is partially based on patent data, Gastrow finds that South Africa's biotechnology R&D profile is small by international standards, with Jordaan's concurring finding that biotechnology innovation of SA as compared to other countries has been 'modest'. Furthermore, Jordaan observes an asymmetry between the involvement of the private and public sectors in biotechnological innovation, which has not been amended by prior policy revisions

⁶⁶ Chesbrough (note 26 above).

⁶⁷ OECD (note 65 above; Article 1).

⁶⁸ Ibid Article 2.

⁶⁹ Myriad (note 24 above).

⁷⁰ Ibid Article 3.

⁷¹ Ibid Article 8.

⁷² Ibid Part I.

⁷³ Ibid Part II.

⁷⁴ M Gastrow 'Great expectations: The state of biotechnology research and development in South Africa' (2008) 7(4) *African Journal of Biotechnology*.

⁷⁵ D W Jordaan 'Biotech Innovation in South Africa: Twenty Years in Review' (2016) 35(1) *Biotechnology Law Report* 41.

such as that of the 2001 National Biotechnology Strategy or the 2013 Bio-Economy Strategy.⁷⁶ As discussed above the current Bio-Economy Strategy sees the value of genomics in the economy, but reports that 'sustained performance of biotechnology companies has been a challenge',⁷⁷ calling for new innovation models that integrate issues, one of which it identifies as 'access to global intellectual property and knowledge pools'.⁷⁸ From this statement, an open innovation model may find a place in building SA's bio-economy.

In another study, Gastrow observes that literature on open innovation focussed on developed countries, and addresses this by conducting a study of open innovation in the South African nanotechnology, biotechnology and software industries.⁷⁹ He finds that whilst the biotechnology sector is 'highly networked and highly collaborative', current public policies 'do not take sufficient advantage of this', and encourages the development of public policy that supports network—building.⁸⁰ As the Draft Intellectual Property Policy of SA Phase 1 (2017)⁸¹ is still in its early stages, and there are no major research bodies with policies geared towards open innovation in the biotechnology sector, there is a window of opportunity for SA to drive its public policy towards open innovation.

V. Research design and methods

The design of this study is based on desktop research of primary and secondary sources. Primary sources include, but are not limited to, international treaties and agreements, national legislature/policies/strategies, case law, empirical research of journal articles and original reports, and patent databases. Review of secondary sources mainly involve journal articles, reports and commentary on cases.

⁷⁶ Ibid 42.

⁷⁷ Department of Science & Technology (note 31 above; 14).

⁷⁸ Ibid 21.

⁷⁹ M Gastrow (note 54 above).

⁸⁰ Ibid 63.

⁸¹ GN 636 of GG 41604, 25/08/2017.

Chapter Two: Understanding the Principles of Genomic Medicine

For centuries, patents as a form of IPRs have been granted for inventions in various fields of technology as a reward for innovation by private parties, and as an incentive to disclose the invention for the sake of public interest.⁸² These inventions derive from the application of knowledge, for example, the principles of physics were applied to the invention of the aircraft. Over the years, knowledge has evolved, and new fields of technology have emerged. In the biological sciences, one such field is genomics, which is the study of the genomes of species and individuals. The genome is the entire DNA content found in an individual, which includes their genes — the unique set of instructions for the various functions and characteristics of an individual.⁸³ Genomics has led to the emergence of genomic medicine — a branch of personalised medicine where medical decisions are based on the unique characteristics of an individual's genome. As a relatively nascent field, genomic medicine requires extensive innovation that is rapid and cost-effective. Innovation begins at the stages of research and development (R&D), and extends through to the commercialisation of a product for use by the consumer. 84 Traditional proprietary-based models of innovation, loosely termed as 'closed' innovation, is when a firm is responsible for the entire innovative process, and is in this way the sole owner of any IPRs that is applied to the innovation — this will be explained further in the following chapters. 85 Though the closed model has reaped significant advancements in the past, industries have recognised the pitfalls of this type of model — namely, that it is costly and that IPRs may impede follow-on developments by blocking research and development (R&D) using patented technologies. Thus a new model of 'open' innovation, based on the flow of knowledge and technology that will be elaborated on below,86 in which IPRs could play a more conducive role in innovation and access to emerging technologies, may be better suited to the progression of genomic medicine.

However, before it is understood how IPRs can be used in an open innovation model to further genomic medicine, the facets of the field itself will be explained, that is, what is genomic knowledge and what are its applications, and how has IPRs thus far been applied to these facets under the traditional proprietary model. In this chapter, in order to understand genomic knowledge and its applications, a brief explanation of the science of genomics and genomic medicine will first be presented. This will be followed by an exploration of the historical development of genomic

⁸² TRIPS Agreement (note 15 above; Article 29(1)).

⁸³ N A Campbell et al *Biology* 8 ed (2008), 9.

⁸⁴ H W Chesbrough & M M Appleyard 'Open Innovation and Strategy' (2007) 50(1) *California Management Review* 57-59.

⁸⁵ Ibid.

⁸⁶ Ibid 60-62.

knowledge and its significance as a research tool in genomic medicine, and a description of the current structures that contribute to the generation of this knowledge. Following this understanding of genomic knowledge, the IPRs issues regarding genomic knowledge, and the impact this may have in a closed innovation model will be explored in Chapter Three.

I. Conceptualising genomic medicine

The field of genomic medicine is a relatively new concept in healthcare, although it is closely aligned with another field — genetic medicine — which has provided the foundation for genomic medicine. Similar to genomic medicine, genetic medicine is also a branch of personalised medicine. Genetic medicine entails the making of medical decisions regarding the treatment of a disease based on a patient's specific genes.⁸⁷ As discussed below, a gene for a particular characteristic can have many variations, such as the gene for eye colour. As it will be seen with genomic medicine, this requires genetic testing and therapies tailored to genetic variations of a patient. An example pertinent to genetic medicine would be in breast cancer, where specific variations of the breast cancers genes BRCA1 and BRCA2 confer a greater susceptibility to breast cancer in women.⁸⁸ Genetic medicine has, in the past few decades, garnered much attention regarding the influence of IPRs on innovation in and access to the technologies of this field. 89 Using the above example of BRCA1 and BRCA2, a landmark case emerged in the US when Myriad Genetics, the company holding the patents for these genes claimed that other companies who were offering commercial genetic testing for these genes were infringing on their patents.⁹⁰ In this case, the attention centred on how these claims of infringement would affect the provision of genetic testing to the public, and further innovation in breast cancer research using the genetic data from these tests.

Genomic medicine is also raising the question of whether the traditional, proprietary-based 'closed' innovation model is sufficient to meet private and public interests. However, before answering whether a shift is needed in the innovation model, and how IP can facilitate this model, an understanding of the nature of genomic medicine and how this nature may lend itself to more 'open' innovation will be provided. 'Open' innovation is the flow of knowledge and technologies between innovation entities, changing the requirements of closed innovation from that which necessitates that an entity perform all the innovative activities (from R&D to commercialisation), to that which allows

-

⁸⁷ Goodman, Lymn & Livingston (note 5 above; 1544).

⁸⁸ R Cook-Deegan & A Niehaus 'After Myriad: Genetic Testing in the Wake of Recent Supreme Court Decisions about Gene Patents' (2014) 2 Curr Genet Med Rep 224.

⁸⁹ Sevick (note 46 above).

⁹⁰ Myriad (note 24 above).

for a networking and sharing of these activities. ⁹¹ This may be valuable in a highly complex, knowledge-based and high technology field such as genomic medicine, and will be explored in greater detail in the following chapters. In this section, a brief background into the science of genomics and genomic medicine and its link to genetics and genetic medicine will be provided, which will be reiterated in the following chapter where some of the IP issues relating to genetics will be extrapolated to genomics. The use of genomic knowledge as a research tool in downstream applications, such as pharmacogenomics, is also discussed, providing an understanding that genomic medicine comprises of essentially two facets which may lead to different approaches under an open innovation model.

(a) A scientific background to genomics

As early as 1963, an Expert Committee of the World Health Organization (WHO) noted that 'genetic considerations add a new dimension to public health work: a concern not only for the health and wellbeing of persons now living, but also for ... generations yet to come'. ⁹² In the past few decades, genetics and genetic medicine are fields that have been deliberated at length not only by health organisations, but by intellectual property authorities as well, who have considered how IPRs should be applied in these fields. As science progressed, genetics research was taken further, and the field of genomics emerged. Both these fields are based on the gene, a concept that will be explored below.

A human being is composed of trillions of cells, each containing the same set of genes. ⁹³ A gene encodes the 'master instructions to build, repair, and maintain humans' in a cell. ⁹⁴ The cell uses these instructions to produce functional molecules, such as proteins, for specialist functions — for example, a liver cell will be instructed by a subset of genes to produce proteins that perform the functions of detoxifying ingested compounds, and a white blood cell will be instructed by a different subset of genes to produce antibodies proteins fight off infections. ⁹⁵ Essentially the gene is a molecule consisting of DNA — a nucleic acid made up of nucleotides, or bases. ⁹⁶ A single strand of DNA forms a structure called a chromosome within the nucleus, along which many genes are located at a specific locus on the chromosome. The four bases of DNA occur in sequences which may differ in order and length, resulting in a code; it is for this reason that genes are called 'coding' DNA. ⁹⁷ This variety of sequences in the genes arises in differences in the instructions given to the machinery of a

⁹¹ Chesbrough (note 84 above; 60-62).

⁹² World Health Organization *Genetics*, *genomics* and the patenting of DNA: review of potential implications for health in developing countries (2005) 1.

⁹³ Campbell (note 83 above; 9).

⁹⁴ S Mukherjee *The Gene: An Intimate History* Kindle edition (2016) 11.

⁹⁵ Campbell (note 83 above).

⁹⁶ Campbell (note 83 above; 426-434).

⁹⁷ Ibid.

cell, a simple example being that a gene for blue eye colour instructs the relevant cells to produce a blue pigment, whereas a variation to that gene may result in a green pigment being produced. The roughly 23 000 genes of a typical human are found in the 23 pairs of chromosomes, 98 although between these genes are also stretches of 'junk' DNA — that is DNA that has no apparent coding, regulatory or structural function, and is probably the result of inefficient evolution. 99 Only about 2% of the human genome contains the genes that encode for other functional molecules such as proteins; 100 the remaining 98% is junk DNA. As each half of each chromosome pair is received from each parent's reproductive cell during sexual reproduction, genes are actually inherited and passed down to future generations. 101

In his New York number one bestseller, *The Gene: An Intimate History*, Siddhartha Mukherjee suggests as follows regarding the concept 'gene': 'one of the most powerful...ideas in the history of science: the "gene," the fundamental unit of heredity, and the basic unit of all biological information.' This is a reasonable viewpoint, as genes encode the characteristics of individuals that makes them different in how they look, behave and interact with their environment. These differences conferred by genes have been identified as the future of medicine by tailoring medical decisions based on the genetics of individuals. Now science has introduced the term 'genomics' to the concept of personalising medicine. ¹⁰³ So what is the link, and what does genomics have to offer to healthcare?

As stated above, genes are coding regions of DNA, and genetics is primarily concerned with the study of these coding regions. However, the DNA of chromosomes also includes regions that do not code for specific characteristics (termed non-coding DNA, which includes junk DNA), or that is required for structural or regulatory purposes in the cell. A genome consists of all the DNA in an organisms, as introduced above, which includes coding, non-coding, structural and regulatory DNA. Though it is often confused with genetics, genomics differs subtly from genetics. Whereas genetics is the study of a single gene or a small number of genes and their associated functions and disorders, genomics studies the entire genetic constitution of an organism. These studies include identifying the structure, function, location and evolution of the genetic elements of the genome.

⁹⁸ World Health Organization *Medical genetic services in developing countries: The ethical, legal and social implications of genetic testing and screening* (2006) 7.

⁹⁹ E Lawrence *Henderson's Dictionary of Biology* 14 ed (2008) 344.

¹⁰⁰ World Health Organization (note 106 above; 15).

¹⁰¹ Campbell (note 83 above; 426-434).

¹⁰² S Mukherjee (note 94 above; 9).

¹⁰³ Goodman, Lymn & Livingston (note 5 above; 1544).

¹⁰⁴ Campbell (note 83 above; 426-434).

¹⁰⁵ Campbell (note 83 above; 426-434).

¹⁰⁶ World Health Organization Genomics and World Health (2002) 32-36.

Furthermore, genomics considers the interactions of chromosomes with each other and with other environmental factors. ¹⁰⁷ This allows for researchers to study complex, multi-factorial diseases such as diabetes, cancer and cardiovascular diseases. ¹⁰⁸ The study of genomes (or 'genomics') includes understanding the structure, function, mapping and evolution of genomes, which will enable scientists to understand the multiple genetic factors contributing, together with environmental interactions, to certain diseases.

Many developments in genomics have been made since the 1950s, and this field is still expanding. A critical development has been the Human Genome Project, led as a public initiative by the National Human Genome Research Institute. ¹⁰⁹ In the Human Genome Project, researchers compiled a representative genome of the human genome by sequencing and mapping the genes of many individuals, providing a comprehensive reference database for future research. ¹¹⁰ Sequencing refers to uncovering the order of the bases in a gene, which codes for specific RNA and possibly proteins. ¹¹¹ Mapping refers to identifying the location of genes along the chromosomes so as to produce a 'genetic map'. ¹¹² As Mukherjee suggests, understanding genes (and by extension, genomes), 'tantalizes us with the prospect of controlling our bodies and fates'. ¹¹³ However, as will be discussed below, understanding genomes results in the development of knowledge which must be regulated. This knowledge can then be applied to produce technology that has a utility for society. How this knowledge and these applications is governed and protected, and how this protection allows for the development of the field through innovation, forms the crux of this dissertation.

(b) Understanding the nature of genomics medicine

Human genomics knowledge has been applied to the healthcare setting, resulting in the field of genomic medicine, a branch of personalised medicine, as introduced above. The inherent diversity seen between individuals of a species can be largely attributed to variations in genes. Genetic

¹⁰⁷ Y Farmer & B Godard 'Public Health Genomics (PHG): From Scientific Considerations to Ethical Integration' (2007) 3(3) *Genomics, Society and Policy* 15.

¹⁰⁸ B M Knoppers, M H Abdul-Rahman & K Bédard 'Genomic Databases and International Collaboration' (2007) 18 *King's Law Journal* 291.

¹⁰⁹ National Human Genome Research Institute (NHGRI) 'A Brief Guide to Genomics' (27 August 2015) available at *https://www.genome.gov/18016863/a-brief-guide-to-genomics/*, accessed on 29th August 2017.

¹¹⁰ Genome News Network 'What's a genome?' (15 January 2003) available at http://www.genomenewsnetwork.org/resources/whats-a-genome/Chp4_1.shtml, accessed on 23 September 2017.

¹¹¹ NHGRI (note 109 above).

¹¹² NHGRI (note 109 above).

¹¹³ Mukherjee (note 94 above) 12.

variation in humans arises from mutations and processes of sexual reproduction, where the nucleotide sequence of a gene may be altered. 114 These processes produce gene variants, or alternative forms of a gene, which may alter an instruction given for a specific function, for example, a variant may instructs that more antibodies are produced, or may instruct for the production of a dysfunctional protein. 115 Gene variants can be classified according to their effect, that is, they may be protective, neutral or risk variants. 116 Risk variants increase the susceptibility to disease, whereas protective variants decrease susceptibility to disease. Neutral variants do not appear to provide an advantage or disadvantage. 117 The study of these variants is the basis of genomic medicine. Some diseases are caused by alterations to one gene, and are called Mendelian or monogenic diseases; these are the subject of genetic studies. 118 Others are polygenic, which means the risk variants of many genes are involved in disease progression. 119 Often, polygenic diseases are multifactorial, i.e. there is a genetic component to the disease as well as an environmental component, which includes the external environment as well as the interactions that occur with noncoding DNA sequences and other molecular structures in the cell environment. ¹²⁰ Examples of such diseases include heart diseases, mental illnesses, diabetes and cancer. 121 Due to the involvement of multiple genes and the cell's environmental factors, which together contribute to genomic variation, genomics provides a better understanding of how these genetic and environmental factors interact in the cell to cause disease, as opposed to identifying and studying these genes in isolation to each other and other factors. 122

In genomic medicine, variations in the genome are used to optimise patient diagnosis, treatment and prognosis, and reduce side effects and risk of inefficiency. This is based on the premise that the diagnosed diseases have a significant genomic basis. By understanding the genomic component of disease progression more clearly, in conjunction with patient history, presentation of symptoms and laboratory testing, a more accurate route of treatment can be chosen for the patient. This may involve pharmacogenomics, where a pharmaceutical treatment is administered depending on the genomic constitution of an individual (which may affect the response to the treatment). This

¹¹⁴ Campbell (note 83 above; 258-260).

¹¹⁵ Campbell (note 83 above; 426-434).

¹¹⁶ Coriell Institute 'Genetic Variation' available at https://cpmc.coriell.org/genetic-education/genetic-variation, accessed on 25 September 2017.

¹¹⁷ Campbell (note 83 above; G-24).

¹¹⁸ Ibid 276-279.

¹¹⁹ Ibid.

¹²⁰ Ibid 279.

¹²¹ Ibid.

¹²² Ibid.

¹²³ World Health Organization (note 92 above; 4-5).

¹²⁴ Ibid.

application will be discussed further in subsequent sections. In this way, it can be seen that genomic medicine has been taken a step further than conventional medicine, which has only been able to use presentation of symptoms, patient history and laboratory tests of non-genetic factors. This means that conventional medicine has had to employ blanket, 'trial—and—error' approaches to treatment upon diagnosis, an approach which runs the risk of being ineffective or toxic to the individual.¹²⁵

Additionally, genomic medicine also has a strong preventative medicine component — genetic testing is employed to predict the likelihood of developing a disease based on an individual's genes. This enables healthcare professionals to design a route of preventative measures to delay disease onset before onset of disease; in this way, genomic medicine seeks to reduce reactive medicine (that is, treating a disease only upon presentation of symptoms), in favour of preventative medicine. Conventional medicine has endeavoured to develop a preventative approach to medicine, for instance, statins are used to lower cholesterol to prevent cardiovascular disease, but genomics medicine will be able to more accurately and timeously inform the preventative interventions strategy, with less reliance on patient and family history and presentation of symptoms, which may be incomplete.

The ultimate goal of genomic medicine is to have the patient's genomic profile (that is, the data on all the patient's genes and other genetic material) available to the physician so that a route of treatment can be chosen that will minimise harms and maximise benefits to the patient. Hence, it is apparent that genetic testing is a tenet of this approach. The development of genetic diagnostic technologies will have to progress simultaneously with genomic treatment technologies; that is, as new diseases emerge, or at least, as genes are identified that correlate with specific diseases and are recognised as targets in treatments, ¹²⁹ there must be sufficient capability to diagnose whether an individual possesses those specific genes responsible — the example of DNA microarrays relates to this and will be discussed below. A genetic test may not be confined to only direct analysis of genetic material, but may also include testing for a gene product like protein. ¹³⁰ These genes and gene products will then have to be available for ensuing R&D of genetic diagnostic technologies.

¹²⁵ World Health Organization (note 92 above; 4-5).

¹²⁶ Ibid

¹²⁷ Campbell (note 83 above; 258-279).

¹²⁸ World Health Organization (note 92 above; 4-5).

¹²⁹ A gene may be regarded as a 'target' as its expression may be regulated by pharmaceutical or biotechnological treatments. Consequently, functional molecules such as proteins that are encoded by DNA are may also be targets of pharmaceutical treatment. These treatments, depending on how the expression of the gene affects the diseased state, may prevent, retard or accelerate gene expression.

¹³⁰ World Health Organization (note 98 above; 15).

Whilst this focus on the patient necessitates the profiling of an individual's genome, understanding the data of this profile requires extensive R&D. The structure, function, location and evolution of genes and their variants, as well as the rest of the DNA within the genome needs to be clarified and understood in relation to diseases. As with any scientific study, this requires large-scale studies in order to derive accurate and statistically significant information. This requirement emphasises the importance of genomic databases — databases storing the information pertaining to individuals' sequenced and mapped genomes — in future medical practice. The databases, which will be discussed below, could also store information on the environmental factors to which a patient is exposed, strengthening the study of multifactorial diseases that are often the subject of genomic medicine.

What is critical to note from this discussion is the nature of genomic medicine with regard to its two technological components: genomic knowledge (such as DNA sequences and associated disease risk), and the diagnostic and therapeutic technologies that emerge downstream to this knowledge. The examples of these are briefly discussed so as to create an appreciation for the essential nature of genomic knowledge in genomic medicine innovation.

(i) Pharmacogenomics and DNA microarrays: the application of genomic knowledge

In genomic medicine, genomic knowledge can be applied to downstream diagnostic or therapeutic technologies, mentioned above. The examples of DNA microarrays and pharmacogenomics are used to illustrate the necessity of genomic knowledge in both these types of technologies, respectively.

Pharmacogenomics is the study of how genomes affect a person's response to medications in order to develop effective and safe medications, tailored to a person's genomic makeup. ¹³¹ These medications may be existing medications that are tested in different genomic sub-populations, or may be new medications that are developed using genomic knowledge. An example of this would be the highly popular medication used to prevent heart attacks and strokes, Plavix. ¹³² Using knowledge on the variation of the gene *CYP2C19*, researchers realised that certain variants of this gene could not metabolise Plavix, resulting in the FDA issuing a warning that patients should get tested for these variants. ¹³³ This emphasis on genomic testing relates to the second technology, diagnostic technology.

Diagnostic technology may be used in a clinical setting where a patient's genomic profile is captured for further use in treatment decisions, or in research studies, where, using the example of pharmacogenomics, the data generated may be used in the development of downstream applications.

¹³¹ Genetics Home Reference 'What is pharmacogenomics? (26 September 2017) available at https://ghr.nlm.nih.gov/primer/genomicresearch/pharmacogenomics, accessed on 26 September 2017.

¹³² Ibid.

¹³³ Ibid.

However, these diagnostic technologies rely on the incorporation of DNA sequences into their hardware. 134 An example of this is DNA microarray technology, where a collection of DNA 'spots' are placed on a solid surface. These spots are the DNA sequences of specific genes or other elements of the DNA that are under study, and are used to determine the expression of elements in, for example, disease or treatment response. 135 This will help determine how the gene influences disease progression or responds to medical treatment.

These are not the only example of how genomic knowledge is essential to the development of downstream applications — other examples include genome therapy where the genome is altered. Nonetheless, even without extensive exploration of the downstream technologies, the vital importance of genomic knowledge as a research tool can be appreciated, and it for this reason that the focus of this dissertation is on the impact of IP on genomic knowledge generation and its use.

II. Generating genomic knowledge for application: an insight into genomic databases and biobanks

As noted above, genomic knowledge is a critical component of genomic medicine, providing research tools that can be applied to addressing diseases with a genomic component. The first major step in uncovering this knowledge was seen in the Human Genome Project and in the concurrent efforts by the private company Celera Genomics, under the direction of Craig Venter, to do the same. 136 These examples are discussed below to illustrate these landmark efforts by the public and private sectors, highlighting the need for both, as critical in the advancement of genomic medicine.

(a) The Human Genome: uncovering the reference genome

The Human Genome Project was a 3-billion-dollar, 15-year public initiative, 137 'brought about by 'international cooperation, scientific excellence and altruism' which led to the production of a 'curated and accurate' reference sequence for the human genome, referring to an abstraction of the

¹³⁵ Ibid.

¹³⁴ R Rouse & G Hardiman 'Microarray technology- an intellectual property perspective' (2003) 4(5) Pharmacogenomics 1.

¹³⁶ YourGenome 'Why was there a race to sequence the human genome' available at https://www.yourgenome.org/stories/why-was-there-a-race-to-sequence-the-human-genome, accessed on 03 September 2017.

¹³⁷ L Hood & L Rowen 'The Human Genome Project: big science transforms biology and medicine' (2013) 5(79) Genome Medicine 1.

typical genome of a human being. ¹³⁸ This led to the cataloguing of a 'parts list 'of most human genes, and thus most human proteins and other important elements, integral for this understanding of system biology. 139 The human genome thus described is a mosaic of the genomes of many research participants, and whilst each and every individual has their own unique genome, what the Human Genome Project and other similar projects demonstrated is that individuals of the human species shared distinct elements. 140 Individuals have different variations of genes, which confer varying characteristics, but the location and function of these genes in a normal human profile is the same. ¹⁴¹ Thus, whilst genomic medicine relies on the sequencing of an individual's genes, it is the 'master' information on gene location and function provided by projects such as the Human Genome Project that allows for the holistic application of this sequencing data in genomic medicine. However, the information provided by the Human Genome Project alone is not sufficient for the translation of genomic data. 142 Further data needs to be collected especially on gaps left in the Human Genome Project, such as undiscovered variants, and experimental analyses needs to be conducted to adequately annotate the genome (that is, to indicate the particular gene variant sequenced in the genome, the chromosomal environment, and the functional implications of these factors on the production of downstream molecules). 143

Genomic medicine focusses on genomic sub-populations that are characterised according to their genomic variation. In both conventional medicine and genomic medicine, studies have statistical power when the sample sizes of the studies are large enough. The statistical power of a test in a study is the probability that the test will correctly detect a difference, if the difference actually exists. 144

An example in genomics medicine could be in a study of whether gene variant X influences progression of disease Y. In a small sample of 10 individuals with X, 9 may have Y. This suggests that X influences progression of Y. But in a much larger sample of 1000 individuals, only 300 may have Y. An appropriate sample size would be one that yields a result that will be seen even if the sample size is

¹³⁸ Ibid.

¹³⁹ Ibid.

¹⁴⁰ D R Bentley 'Genomes for medicine' (2004) 429 Nature 445.

¹⁴¹ This is to say that even although a mutant gene may disrupt a particular cellular function by causing the aberrant production of a protein, the cellular function still remains central in the identity of the gene mutation.

¹⁴² Bentley (note 140 above; 445).

¹⁴³ Ibid.

¹⁴⁴ The power of a test is influenced by the design of the test and by the sample size. A simple example of this would be flipping a coin. It is already known that there are two options, and in an unrigged coin, there is an equal (50%) chance of getting either tails or heads. However, if ten coins are flipped, it is unlikely that 5 will land on heads and 5 will land on tails. The number of coins will have to be increased until a 50:50 ratio is observed. Thus, a small sample size runs a higher risk of not detecting what *should* be detected, and thus has a lower statistical power. This means that it is unlikely the same results will occur when the experiment is repeated.

However, due to the blanket, 'one—size fits all' nature of conventional medicine, this is much easier to achieve — often study cohorts are selected from a provincial or national region. In genomic medicine, variations in genes and possible other factors that affect genome function stratify research samples into variant sub-populations. This may mean that research has to extend to a national or global scale to achieve significant statistical power. Additionally, research that is performed at a global level could identify links between diseases and smaller genomic sub-populations — links that may otherwise remain undetected in smaller scale research. To facilitate such genomic research, as seen in the Human Genome Project, 'a powerful new set of research tools, resources and supporting technologies' is needed. This includes not only sample data, but also 'highly sophisticated, substantial database infrastructures'. Therefore, countries and global consortia have created mechanisms like genomic biobanks and databases to collect, store and use genomic data samples. Essentially, these databases contain upstream technologies (or research tools) which will facilitate innovation in downstream technologies such as pharmacogenomics.

The Human Genome Project followed an open approach to data sharing and used open source software. ¹⁴⁸ The international cooperation and altruism of this project has been praised by those who maintain that genomic data should be placed in the public domain and should not be privatised. ¹⁴⁹

Proponents of this stance maintain that the human genome is part of the common human heritage and belongs to all people, and should be made freely accessible to the public. ¹⁵⁰ This claim will be explored further in the following chapter. However, much has to be said about the privately—run human genome project led by Craig Venter and his team in Celera Genomics. In 1998, Venter started Celera Genomics and announced that his company would also sequence the human genome using a different, newer sequencing technique, as he felt the efforts of the Human Genome Project was too costly and was taking longer than necessary. ¹⁵¹ Unlike the Human Genome Project, Celera intended to privatise its genome sequences granting access to these data only to paying customers, ¹⁵² and through patenting roughly 100–300 genes that were important to drug development, although

increased. And unlike with a coin that has only two options, potentially thousands of genes could be associated with a specific disease, requiring much larger sample sizes.

¹⁴⁵ Farmer & Godard (note 107 above; 16).

¹⁴⁶ Knoppers, Abdul-Rahman & Bédard (note 108 above; 292).

¹⁴⁷ Ibid.

¹⁴⁸ Hood & Rowen (note 137 above).

¹⁴⁹ Ibid.

¹⁵⁰ Ibid.

¹⁵¹ YourGenome (note 136 above).

¹⁵² Ibid

approximately 6 500 place-holder patent applications were initially filed (and later relinquished). ¹⁵³ As this was contrary to the public-spiritedness of the Human Genome Project, the race was on to complete the sequencing of the human genome.

In the beginning of 2000, both Celera and the Human Genome Project made a joint public announcement that they had each completed a working draft of the human genome, although there were still gaps to be filled by both contenders.¹⁵⁴ This announcement was made together with the joint declaration by US President Bill Clinton and British Prime Minister Tony Blair that all genome information should be free to the public.¹⁵⁵ In 2001, the Human Genome Project published its findings in *Nature*, with Celera publishing its findings a day later in *Science*.¹⁵⁶ By 2003, The Human Genome Project had completed its final draft of the human genome, and Celera agreed to make its sequences available for non-commercial use, although it limited the amount of data that could be downloaded at any given time.¹⁵⁷ Unfortunately, in 2002, Venter was removed from his presidency at Celera, and pursued improving the application of personalised medicine through sequencing his own genome with a slightly different goal to Celera or the Human Genome project.¹⁵⁸ Whereas Celera and the Human Genome Project concentrated on sequencing one chromosome of each pair of chromosomes in the complete set, Venter decided to sequence both chromosomes in the 23 pairs.¹⁵⁹

This entry of a private competitor may well have galvanised the efforts of the Human Genome Project, suggesting that private entities could have a necessary role in creating sustainable models to undertake extensive, time-consuming and costly R&D needed before genomics medicine can become a primary route of medical care. As stated by Venter, business is the way to drive science forward, and people are finding there's no difference in the goals or outcomes, because for science to impact society, it has to be economically viable'. Celera and the Human Genome Project ran parallel to each other, yet it is likely that they influenced the accomplishment of each other's goals. It is possible that creating a symbiosis between the public and private domains through an open innovation model

¹⁵³ BBC News 'Human Gene Patents Defended' (27 October 1999) available at http://news.bbc.co.uk/2/hi/science/nature/487773.stm, accessed on 11 December 2017.

¹⁵⁴ M A Shampo & R A Kyle 'J. Craig Venter — the Human Genome Project' (2011) 86(4) *Mayo Clinic Proc* e27.

¹⁵⁵ Ibid.

¹⁵⁶ Ibid

¹⁵⁷ Wikipedia 'Celera Corporation' (28 November 2017) available at https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Celera_Corporation, accessed on 11 December 2017.

 $^{^{158}}$ E Singer 'Craig Venter's Genome' (4 September 2007) available at $\label{eq:https://www.technologyreview.com/s/408606/craig-venters-genome/, accessed on 11 December 2017.$

¹⁵⁹ Ibid.

¹⁶⁰ A Beard 'Life's Work: An interview with J. Craig Venter' (September 2014) available at *https://hbr.org/2014/09/j-craig-venter*, accessed on 11 December 2017. ¹⁶¹ Ibid.

could accelerate the field of genomics medicine even more. This will be explored further in Chapter Four. However, before exploring the innovation model that may accelerate the field, the aspects that individually contribute to the development of genomic medicine are identified in the following subsection.

(b) Genomic databases and biobanks: creating research tools for innovation

When considering that the roughly 23 000 genes of the human genome is only about 2% of the genome, ¹⁶² and considering the multitude of diseases implicated in genomic medicine, it is not difficult to acknowledge the amount of R&D that will be needed to develop this medical field. This R&D will require an extensive amount of genomic data and samples from which this data can be obtained. The infrastructural requirement to capture and store such data and their associated samples may be 'huge'. ¹⁶³ It is likely that it is on these grounds that biobanks and large genomic databases have secured a place in the field of genomics research.

Biobanks are repositories of samples from living organisms, which are used in studies to generate information that is stored in databases. This may include genomic data on gene variants and other genome-related molecules, as well as non-genomic data such as environmental factors and epidemiological information, all of which may have a bearing on genomic variation to influence disease progression. These structures are usually based in a regional or national population, for example, the Framingham Heart study is based in Framingham, Massachusetts, and more large-scale initiatives have been established, such as the UK Biobank, the National Biobank of Korea, the Estonia Genome Project and the Icelandic Health Sector Database. However, as it will be discussed below under global consortia, efforts are being to globalise these databases and biobank-related research through networking.

Both biobanks and databases are 'huge infrastructural development[s]', and necessitate 'ongoing governance and management for sample collection, storage and use'. As raised by Huzair and Papaionnou, regarding the UK Biobank, there is the question of 'who should invest to support pharmaceutical innovation... and serve the public interest.' Currently, approximately 60% of

¹⁶² World Health Organisation (note 106 above).

¹⁶³ Huzair & Papaioannou (note 53 above; 500).

¹⁶⁴ R Chadwick & S Wilson 'Genomic databases as global public goods' (2004) 10 Res Publica 124.

¹⁶⁵ Ibid 211.

¹⁶⁶ Farmer & Godard (note 107 above; 17).

¹⁶⁷ Huzair & Papaioannou (note 53 above; 500).

¹⁶⁸ Ibid.

sponsors for biobanks are government institutions, 169 yet pharmaceutical companies benefit from these resources by developing commercial technologies from their related studies. The CAMBIA BIOS initiative¹⁷⁰ recognises the distinction between the tools for innovation generated by biobanks and stored in databases, and the products of innovation, such as the downstream applications of diagnostics or therapeutic technologies, often produce by private actors. ¹⁷¹ This initiative seeks to create an open, networking platform that addresses how IP may be used in open innovation in biological sciences, including genomics. This type of networking between public and private actors endeavours to alleviate the challenges of the substantial time, investment, research participation and expertise that is involved in creating and applying genomic knowledge so as to 'fully to address all of the complexities of the common disease risk'. 172 Collaborative initiatives involving biobanks and databases, including CAMBIA BIOS, ¹⁷³ are explored in Chapter Four to assess how their IP policies and structure contribute to open innovation in genomic medicine.

III. **Conclusion**

WHO states that 'in the long-term, [information generated by genomics will] have major benefits for the prevention, diagnosis and management of many diseases which hitherto have been difficult or impossible to control.'174 It is for this reason that special attention should be given to the progress and development of genomics, which includes innovation in genomic medicine and access to its technologies.

Genomic medicine requires the genomic profile of an individual in order to inform medical decisions. This profiling requires genomic testing, but a profile alone cannot aid in directing medical decisions if the significance of genomic variants in disease progression is not understood. Thus, an understanding the complexity of the human genome is critical. The development of genetic technologies used to understand human genes is not a new endeavour, however the human genome, in all its complexity, poses a more complicated, and possibly more expensive challenge. A projection of the costs of sequencing an individual genome shows that there has been a dramatic decline in the cost, starting at roughly \$100 million in 2001, to approximately \$1000 in 2015. This is promising,

¹⁶⁹ Ibid 212.

¹⁷⁰ CAMBIA (note 57 above).

¹⁷¹ CAMBIA (note 57 above).

¹⁷² Knoppers, Abdul-Rahman & Bédard (note 108 above; 293).

¹⁷³ CAMBIA (note 57 above).

¹⁷⁴ World Health Organization (note 106 above; 5).

¹⁷⁵ NHGRI 'DNA Sequencing Costs: Data' (24 May 2016) available at https://www.genome.gov/27541954/dna-sequencing-costs-data/, accessed 26 September 2017.

however if the resulting genomic knowledge is protected by IPRs, further R&D may be expensive — this is discussed in the next chapter. Furthermore, to fully annotate the human genome and develop downstream technologies, significant expertise is needed. Thus, biobanks and genomic databases as components of larger networking initiatives, could be critical structures in accelerating research, whilst addressing these issues of cost and capacity.

It is for this reason that a better model that facilitates access to research tools for innovation in downstream applications should be developed and employed. Intellectual property will have a role in this model, which should allow for both open collaboration and maintaining a sustainable industry. Thus it is important to answer the questions of who should own such genomic knowledge, and how can IPRs be used to facilitate R&D in genomic medicine for further innovation. These questions will be discussed in the following chapters on: a) IPRs pertaining to genomic knowledge; and, b) the open innovation models of biobanks and databases that facilitate innovation in genomic medicine.

Chapter Three: understanding the current IP landscape in genomic medicine

'Light bulb moments' are synonymous with an ingenious, innovative idea. However, innovation is not just a moment; it is a process of many stages. A simplified innovative process begins with an idea, discovery or emergence of new knowledge. These are then used in the design of new technologies, which may occur by tying in old knowledge or inventions, by experimental trial-and-error, or both. Following the invention of the new technology, the technology has to be marketed and commercialised so as to create a consumer market, satisfy this market, and, regarding profit-driven entities, generate a profit. If the technologies are health-related, there may be an additional, regulatory step prior to commercialisation. This multi-step process can be laborious and expensive depending on how many steps an entity controls.

In traditional closed innovation, an entity will control the entire process, incurring significant costs. IPRs then play an important role in securing financial gains for the inventors by limiting the amount of competitors in the market. In this way, securing markets captures value for the inventors from the invention. Thus, an important aspect of closed innovation is the protection and management of IP. However, there has been a shift in the innovation models of certain industries, particularly in the biotechnology and software industries. ¹⁷⁶ Escalating costs and burden of resources, which will be discussed further in Chapter Four, are compelling actors in certain industries to limit their activities to fewer steps in the innovation chain. ¹⁷⁷ This division of the innovation chain falls under the model of open collaborative innovation, which will be explored in the next chapter. However, this shift does not make IPRs obsolete. In fact, IPRs now adopt an additional role to being an incentive to invent and reward — the role of being an incentive to network with another entity to gain external knowledge for one's own innovation chain.

However, especially in the health-related industries of pharmaceuticals and biotechnology, IPRs, especially in the form of patents, have received criticism for two broad effects: blocking further innovation, and hampering consumer access through trade barriers. The latter will not be discussed herein, as this would require discussion that is too extensive for this dissertation. Instead, the impact of IPRs on innovation will be explored. Through this exploration it will be ascertained how the current IP regime, which has been used to support a closed innovation model, could hinder scientists in accessing upstream technologies for further innovation and so reduce both the scientific progress for public benefit and potential economic gains of the related private sector. The discussion will focus

¹⁷⁶ Gastrow (note 54 above).

¹⁷⁷ Ibid 42.

¹⁷⁸ Vawda & Baker (note 21 above; 73-76).

on patents as these are the main form of IPRs used by biotechnology and pharmaceutical industries. It will be assessed whether patents on parts of the genome (such as gene sequences and non-coding DNA) should be allowed under international and national patent law, considering the value of this knowledge as research tools and the nature of this knowledge as a public good. Using this assessment, the amendment of patent law and how these amendments may facilitate open innovation between the public and private sectors will be recommended.

.

I. A brief understanding of patents

Intellectual property refers to 'creations of the mind: inventions; literary and artistic works; and symbols, names and images used in commerce'. ¹⁷⁹ Intellectual property rights, in the form of patents, copyrights and trademarks, are rights to ownership of intellectual property, and are enshrined by Article 27(2) of the Universal Declaration on Human Rights which states that:

'Everyone has the right to the protection of the moral and material interests resulting from any scientific, literary or artistic production of which he is the author'. ¹⁸⁰

Patents are government-granted privileges that provide exclusive rights to the patent holder to make, use, sell and trade in the patented invention within a particular jurisdiction, ¹⁸¹ usually for a term of 20 years. ¹⁸² An invention, as stipulated by Article of 27(1) of TRIPS, is that which is: a) novel (it does not exist in prior art, which is the body of existing knowledge); b) non-obvious (or inventive, as termed some jurisdictions), meaning that it is not obvious to a person skilled in the art to create the invention from prior art; and c), useful or capable of industrial application. ¹⁸³ Patents may apply to products, processes of manufacture or uses of an invention. ¹⁸⁴

Patents operate under a *quid pro quo* system — they seek to reward the inventor through exclusive rights that will enable him to recoup the costs of inventing, but also for the obligatory disclosure of his invention to the public in a sufficiently detailed manner so as to enable a person skilled in the art to replicate in the invention.¹⁸⁵ With this knowledge, others may apply for a licence

¹⁷⁹ WIPO Publication No.450(E) What is Intellectual Property 2.

¹⁸⁰ Universal Declaration (note 1 above; Article 27(2)).

¹⁸¹ TRIPS Agreement (note 15 above; Article 28(1)).

¹⁸² Ibid Article 27(1)).

¹⁸³ Ibid Article 33).

¹⁸⁴ WIPO (note 179 above; 5).

¹⁸⁵ TRIPS Agreement (note 15 above; Article 29).

to use the invention within the patent term, 'invent around' the claims of the patent, or choose to use it once the patent has lapsed. Thus, this information may be used in further innovation that makes a greater range of technologies available for public consumption, and in doing so, may significantly boost economic activity. As set out in Article 7 of TRIPS to be discussed below, the objectives of IP protection are as follows:

'promotion of technological innovation and to the transfer and dissemination of technology, to the mutual advantage of producers and users of technological knowledge and in a manner conducive to social and economic welfare, and to a balance of rights and obligations.' 188

This disclosure through patents is juxtaposed to trade secrets, which are based in private law, where information of an invention is not publically disclosed, preventing the public from using this information in further innovation until the trade secret is shared either through private contract or unauthorised disclosure. Is In this scenario, information may remain undisclosed for an indefinite period of time, which would not support further innovation. Contrary to this, patents attempt to balance the social cost of exclusion to use an invention with the social benefit to information about the invention for further use and innovation. However, contention arises as to whether patent law does actually achieve this balance, and whether patents do not in fact 'deter' innovation. This debate, particularly in the context of genomic medicine, will be explored in the following sections.

II. The impact of patents on genomic medicine: a focus on genomic knowledge

The impact of patents on access to technologies by researchers and consumers has been widely debated over the past decades, especially after the rise of human-rights based litigation challenging pharmaceutical patents. Whilst patents have an economic justification as a reward for the labour and costs incurred by inventors, these also have the potential to create monopolies that prevent access to patented technologies, stifling further innovation along the innovation chain.

¹⁸⁶ Here the term 'use' refers to the activities mentioned TRIPS.

¹⁸⁷ M B Guaragna Stimulating innovation in Brazil: a study of intellectual property law, biotechnology and open scientific innovation (DPhil in Law, Queen Mary University of London, 2016) 70.

¹⁸⁸ TRIPS Agreement (note 15 above; Article 7).

¹⁸⁹ Heller & Eisenberg (note 14 above; 698).

¹⁹⁰ Heller & Eisenberg (note 14 above; 698-699).

¹⁹¹ Myriad (note 24 above).

On the note of research, genomic technologies are heavily reliant on upstream research tools, such as DNA sequences, for their R&D. This was illustrated in the examples of DNA microarrays and pharmacogenomics in Chapter Two. As critical research tools, the privatisation of these sequences through patents may result in their underuse, a phenomenon described as the 'tragedy of the anti-commons' by Eisenberg and Heller. Furthermore, DNA sequences form part of a critical facet of genomic knowledge, which some argue is a public good that should not be privatised. The effect of patents on genomic medicine innovation will be discussed in light of these two arguments.

(a) Genomic knowledge as a public good

As proposed by Clark and Turner, 'knowledge is at the heart of innovation'. This is exemplified by the biotechnology industry, which is a knowledge-based industry where knowledge is derived from research and developed into applications. Both the knowledge and the applications capture not only social value from use in health systems, but also financial value from IP protection and consumer markets (where for-profit entities are concerned). In genomic medicine, the foundational knowledge is that of genomic variants and their role in disease progression. Such knowledge, as research tools, has allowed for a plethora of downstream applications in diagnostics and therapeutics to emerge, justifying the above statement by Clark and Turner. However, knowledge is also regarded as the archetypal public good, and the human genome may be regarded as our 'common human heritage'. As such, genomic knowledge regarding the genome sequences may be considered as a public good, which should benefit the public and not be privatised — this will be explored below.

The nature of goods as public or private has been defined by politics and economics. In a political sense, public goods are defined as 'interests or goods which are associated with a multiplicity of people or communities'. ¹⁹⁸ Though this dissertation focuses more on the economic ramifications of IP on genomic medicine innovation, this political definition cannot be discarded as genomics relates to it in two ways: a) research projects like the Human Genome Project require several groups

¹⁹² Eisenberg & Heller (note 14 above).

¹⁹³ Huzair & Papaioannou (note 53 above; 500-501).

¹⁹⁴ J L Clark & P Turner 'Extending the Knowledge-based View: An Examination of Intellectual Property Strategies in Australian Biotechnology Firms' (2003) 21(1) *Prometheus* 96.

¹⁹⁵ Ibid 88.

¹⁹⁶ E Dowdeswell et al 'Realising the promise of genomics: exploring governance' (2006) 8(1/2) *Int J Biotechnology* 135.

¹⁹⁷ P N Ossorio 'The Human genome as Common Human Heritage: Common Sense or Legal Nonsense?' (2007) *Journal of Law, Medicine & Ethics* 425.

¹⁹⁸ Huzair & Papaioannou (note 53 above; 501).

of participants from different communities in order for the research to be translated into effective and viable applications that address multiple interests groups, for example, analysing the variations in the genome across ethnicities could highlight which ethnic groups are more susceptible to onset of certain diseases; and b), in such public initiatives, the involved scientists and related personnel may come from many different national background and sectors. Therefore, groups have argued that the human genome (as genomic knowledge) is a public good, and because it is shared amongst people and inherited through generations, is also part of the 'common human heritage'. ¹⁹⁹ The Human Genome Organisation (HUGO) Ethics Committee Statement on Human Genomic Databases is one such proponent, taking the view that such databases are 'global public goods', and so should be treated as public resources to promote the access and flow of information.²⁰⁰ It is for this reason that these groups argue against patenting the parts of the human genome, such as DNA sequences. This is a strong argument, but fails to evaluate genomic knowledge as a tool in the innovation process. Certainly the sentiment of a 'common human heritage' calls for unhindered access to genomic knowledge, but this fails to address how innovation can be derived from genomic knowledge sans the traditional incentive of IPRs. Thus, the economic definition of private and public goods must be applied to genomic knowledge to evaluate to what extent this knowledge should reside in the public domain or be privatised.

From an economics perspective, public goods are non-excludable, meaning that no person can be 'effectively excluded from using the good'.²⁰¹ Public goods are also non-rivalrous, meaning that the use of the good by one person does not reduce the availability of the good for use by another.²⁰² Knowledge is considered the archetypal public good,²⁰³ but this stance is evolving as throughout the decades, knowledge, and not merely the applications deriving from knowledge, have been subjected to privatisation by patents, making such knowledge excludable. Indeed, holding knowledge as a trade secret excludes others from using it, and so knowledge may not actually be a pure public good. In this case, where a good is excludable and non-rivalrous, it is considered as a 'club good'.²⁰⁴

Biobanks and genomic databases, specifically those associated with consortia, as mentioned in Chapter Two, govern common pool resources, that is, samples are rivalrous (they can be depleted or be made unavailable through use), but are intended to be non-excludable (available to all researchers, often pending research approval). However the knowledge that is generated, which

¹⁹⁹ Knoppers, Abdul-Rahman & Bédard (note 108 above).

²⁰⁰ Thid

²⁰¹ Huzair & Papaioannou (note 53 above; 501).

²⁰² Ibid

²⁰³ Dowdeswell et al (note 196 above; 135).

²⁰⁴ Huzair & Papaioannou (note 53 above; 502).

includes genomic knowledge, is non-rivalrous and does not necessarily have to be excludable.²⁰⁵ In many cases, public (or semi-public) biobanks and databases endeavour to protect the non-excludability of knowledge, that is, the knowledge generated from research on the samples is kept in the public domain for others to access.²⁰⁶ This is mainly because samples from which this knowledge is obtained are donated by the public, and so the public interest to access this knowledge and avail it for future beneficial innovation is considered.

However, generating knowledge, especially in risky and high-technology fields such as genomics, is expensive, and so it is unrealistic to assume that continued production of genomic knowledge will continue without a means to guarantee a profit. Public initiatives and government intervention shoulder these costs to keep the knowledge in the public domain to satisfy all interests to access and demand, but looking at the cost of the Human Genome Project, listed in chapter two, it may be unwise to rely on these for the future of genomic research. This does not necessarily mean that privatisation of genomic knowledge is the solution, as will be discussed further on, although the private sector may have access to greater resources for the generation of genomic knowledge. Thus, what may be needed are collaborations between the private and public sectors where genomic knowledge is generated in the public domain and used to develop technologies for privatisation. As biobanks and related consortia already face the dilemma of whether the privatisation of the downstream technologies, derived from public participation should be condoned,²⁰⁷ what is needed are clear IP policies on genomic knowledge, downstream innovation and collaboration. However, as policy is informed by law, patent law, which will be discussed below, is critical in determining whether genomic knowledge remains in the public domain, and how it is used as research tools if it is privatised. The impact of patents on genomic knowledge as a research tool will be discussed below.

(b) The tragedy of the anti-commons: the underuse of genomic knowledge as research tools

As drawn from the *Ligand Pharmaceuticals v. La Jolla Research* case,²⁰⁸ research tools have significant impacts on basic research activities and on commercial treatment discovery. Science innovation is a cumulative process where inventions or knowledge are constantly improved or used to create new inventions.²⁰⁹ For this to occur, scientists need to be able to access and use the inventions

²⁰⁵ Ibid.

²⁰⁶ Knoppers, Abdul-Rahman & Bédard (note 108 above).

²⁰⁷ Umea University's biobank in Sweden and the Type 1 Diabetes Genetic Consortium.

²⁰⁸ Ligand Pharms, Inc v La Jolla Cancer Research Found, (1993) No. 93-01895 S.D. Cal.

²⁰⁹ J Pénin 'More open than open innovation? Rethinking the concept of openness in innovation studies' (2008) 18 *Juillet* 8.

or knowledge generated by others. Premarket, upstream research yields knowledge that can be used as research tools in the further development of a technology. Genomic knowledge, such as sequences of coding and non-coding DNA regions, is valuable as research tools and a foundation for further innovation in genomic medicine, for example, gene sequences can be used in creating DNA microarrays for genome testing as discussed in Chapter Two.

Biomedical research, which includes pharmaceutical and biotechnology research, has traditionally existed in the public sector, ²¹⁰ with universities as prolific hubs of research. Governments frequently funded such research, especially at universities, and the results were placed in the public domain through publication. ²¹¹ However, in recent years, the promise of such research to yield profitable products has been recognised, and a shift has occurred in universities to patent the products of their research and not only to publish their results. Some countries even have legislation that supports this, such as the Patent and Trademark Law Amendments Act (commonly referred to as the Bayh-Doyle Act)²¹² in the US and the Intellectual Property Rights Act in South Africa, ²¹³ possibly to encourage accelerated growth of sectors — these will be examined below. This shift towards privatising knowledge that may otherwise have existed in the public domain potentially reduces the access and use of important upstream resources — a phenomenon called 'the tragedy of the anticommons'. ²¹⁴

In their article, Eisenberg and Heller propose the 'tragedy of the anti-commons' in biomedical research. ²¹⁵ The tragedy of the anti-commons derives from the contrasting proposition of the 'tragedy of the commons'. The latter was a theory proposed by ecologist Garrett Hardin which states that people overuse resources they commonly own to satisfy their self–interests, which results in the depletion of the resource, contrary to the common of all users, ²¹⁶ for example, communal land may be farmed excessively. This occurs because there are no private rights to protect how the resource is used, and is analogous to tangible goods, such as biological samples, placed in the public domain. ²¹⁷ Thus, to protect common resources from overuse and exploitation, private rights to these resources were granted in hopes of conserving these resources. Knowledge has been included as a resource that

²¹⁰ D Nicol & J Nielsen 'The Australian Medical Biotechnology Industry and Access to Intellectual Property: Issues for Patent Law Development' (2001) 23(347) *Sydney LawReview* 353.

²¹¹ Ibid.

²¹² Patent and Trademark Law Amendments (1980).

²¹³ Intellectual Property Rights From Publicly Financed Research and Development Act No. 51 of 2008.

²¹⁴ Eisenberg & Heller (note 14 above; 698).

²¹⁵ Ibid.

²¹⁶ G Hardin 'The Tragedy of the Commons' (1968) 162 (3859) Science 1243–1248.

²¹⁷ Ibid.

requires protection, but as it will be substantiated further on, knowledge cannot be depleted as it is used, nullifying the justification that knowledge should be privatised to conserve it.

The tragedy of the anti-commons posits that at present resources have been privatised too extensively, preventing access to these resources, and effectively underusing them. This is not limited to the patenting activities of universities, but these entities are prolific hubs of premarket, upstream scientific research, and are usually publically-funded. This proposed tragedy underlies the rationale for the Bermuda Principles²¹⁸ signed by the Human Genome Project consortia to place primary gene sequences in the public domain, discussed in chapter two. In this way, the consortia sought to maximise the use of this basic scientific resource, and so was jolted by Celera's threat to privatise their own corresponding genomic research.²¹⁹

In biomedical science, including biotechnology, Eisenberg and Heller propose that extensive patenting leads to 'patent thickets', that is, when many patents are held for a particular technology.²²⁰ In order to access this technology for use in R&D or in a clinical setting, the potential user would have to gain licenses for a number of patents, or risk infringements. ²²¹ This may be a time-consuming and expensive task, and may deter R&D and use of the invention. Furthermore, where there is fragmentation of patents, that is, each of the many patents on a technology are held by multiple holders, license negotiations may be more arduous and costly, and there is no guarantee that every patent holder will agree to licensing out their patent.

In the context of biotechnology, the tragedy of the anti-commons can be discussed in terms of concurrent fragments and stacking licenses. Concurrent fragments of IPRs refers to when multiple patents required for a technology are held by many different patent holders, requiring extensive licensing agreements to avoid infringement. Eisenberg and Heller propose that as more patents exist for a technology, the risk of infringement increases, and it is more likely to deter potential innovation. 222 This is of particular interest in genomic diagnostic and therapeutic technologies, whose R&D require multiple gene sequences to be used simultaneously. Using the example of genomic microarray technology for diabetes, if a microarray for this multifactorial disease was to be developed, many genes of the genome, and possibly non-coding regions, would be required to develop the technology. If each of these genes and non-coding regions are patented, a developer would have to negotiate multiple licenses before being able to develop the microarray technology. 223 This may be a formidable task in terms of time and costs, and could deter the envisioned innovation.

²¹⁸ Bermuda Principles (1996).

²¹⁹ YourGenome (note 136 above).

²²⁰ Ibid.

²²¹ Ibid.

²²² Ibid.

²²³ Rouse & Hardiman (note 134 above; 1).

Additionally, depending on the contract of the licenses, selling and use of the microarray technology may be subject to additional royalty payments, as it will be discussed below under stacked licenses.

A particular incident highlights the challenge of concurrent fragments in genomic technologies. In 1991, the (National Institutes of Health) NIH filed patents for expressed sequence tags (ESTs), which are gene fragments that signal how genes are expressed, and are used in genomics to identify genes and families of genes, and map these. ²²⁴ Unlike with the case of Myriad Genetics discussed below, ²²⁵ the outcry was not necessarily that gene sequences were being patented, but that the function of these ESTs were largely unknown. ²²⁶ As ESTs were correctly thought to be powerful research tools in genome analysis, patenting these ESTs potentially had the effect of hindering efficient genomic research as in many cases ESTs were not yet corresponded to their particular genes, and even if they were, the patents would prevent further R&D in the absence of licenses. The NIH abandoned their attempt to patent these tools, although private firms continued to patent ESTs and genes whose function were unknown. ²²⁷ In the development of genomic technologies for genomic medicine, patenting many ESTs and their associated genes could hinder R&D for a particular application, for example the microarray for diabetes, as licenses for each of the multiple ESTs and related genes may be needed before R&D can ensue. ²²⁸ This further translates to the use of the technology, which will be discussed under stacking licenses.

A stacked license is that which goes beyond the patented, licensed research tool to the ensuing downstream technologies.²²⁹ In many cases, research tools enable the development of valuable commercial technologies, but because the research tool may not be directly be incorporated into the technology, the patent holder of the research tool does not reap the downstream value his tool helped create. An example of this would be in pharmacogenomics, where genomes sequences would be used to research a medical treatment, but the actual sequences are not in the medication. In this case, patent holders of the sequences will only receive a once-off payment by licensees for use in research, and will not reap the commercial benefits of the medical treatment. A stacked license is a creative attempt to transfer some of these benefits of patent holders of upstream technologies. An example of a stacked license is a reach-through licensing agreement (RTLA).²³⁰ An RTLA gives the patent holder rights to the downstream technology developed by the licensee.²³¹ These rights may be exclusive or non-

_

²²⁴ Eisenberg & Heller (note 14 above; 699).

²²⁵ Myriad (note 24 above).

²²⁶ Eisenberg & Heller (note 14 above; 699).

²²⁷ Ibid.

²²⁸ Ibid.

²²⁹ Ibid.

²³⁰ Ibid.

²³¹ Ibid.

exclusive licenses to use the technology (to be explained in Chapter Four), and/or royalty rights. Where the RTLA stipulates exclusive licensing to the licensor, future innovation or use of the technology may be blocked as licensors now have bargaining power over the downstream technology, which may fall beyond the scope of their actual patents.²³²

However, RTLAs do provide a potential loophole to pursue otherwise costly research — licensors may only ask for a small upfront fee in anticipation of receiving royalties on the downstream technology, instead of asking for a larger, once-off payment for the license and receiving no further royalties.²³³ This simplifies the initiation of the R&D by the licensee. Although where a downstream technology requires many research tools, and thus incurs multiple RTLAs, this may not be a feasible solution, especially if the expected commercial value is low, as may be the case in stratified markets. In this case, royalties must be paid to many licensors, and is termed 'royalty stacking'.²³⁴ Cetus Corporation attempted to stack royalties on all products developed from their licensed technology called polymerase chain reaction, an integral technology in genome analysis, but was met with resistance.²³⁵

A particular challenge arises in negotiating licenses in genomic technologies due to the nature of the upstream research tools and technologies. Genes and non-coding regions of the genome, which are critical components of the research into and hardware of diagnostic and therapeutic technologies of genomic medicine, are non-substitutable. This exponentially increases the bargaining power of patent holders, who may hold out on licensing until satisfactory terms and conditions are applied. Furthermore, it is difficult to successfully 'invent around' DNA sequences, especially if the patent claims are broad. Using the example of the human erythropoietin protein in the case of *Amgen, Inc v Chugai Pharm Co*, ²³⁷ the claims to the erythropoietin protein (traded as EPOGEN) were broad, as it covered *any* 'purified and isolated DNA sequence consisting essentially of a DNA sequence encoding human erythropoietin', which would include chemically synthesised DNA and naturally-occurring DNA. These were found by the court to be valid and infringed by Chugai Pharm Co, forcing competitors to 'invent around' the product claims, for example the private company Hoffman—La

²³² Ibid 698.

²³³ Ibid.

²³⁴ E van Zimmeren et al 'Patent pool and clearinghouses in the life science' (2011) 29(11) *Trends in Biotechnology Trends in Biotechnology* 569.

²³⁵ Eisenberg & Heller (note 14 above; 699).

²³⁶ D Nicol 'Cooperative Intellectual Property in Biotechnology' (2007) 4(1) SCRIPT-ed 139.

²³⁷ Amgen, Inc v Chugai Pharm Co, 706 (1989) F. Supp. 94, 94 D. Mass.

Roche chemically altered its erythropoietin protein by conjugating it to another compound.²³⁸ However, as Roche still uses the DNA sequence in producing the erythropoietin protein prior to conjugation, Amgen sued the company,²³⁹ and Roche was ordered by the district court not to import its product to the US.²⁴⁰ As mentioned in the above section, infringement may be avoided by public sector researchers using research or experimental exemption, although this is not always clear. Additionally, if a technology resulting from such research were to be commercialised, and if it is clear that patented technology was used, inventors run this risk of infringement, as will be discussed under the *Myriad* case.²⁴¹

These examples illustrate the tragedy of the anti-commons, but Heller and Eisenberg do concede that privatisation through IPRs may fortify the incentive to undertake risky and high-investment research, and could allow for the distribution of profits more equitably as the rights clearly delineate who is to reap according to what he has sown.²⁴² Furthermore, there are means to circumvent the challenges of multiple negotiations. Developers have the option of employing experienced and knowledgeable lawyers to expedite the negotiation process, however, this is only feasible if the developers have the financial means to do so. Compulsory licenses, whereby the government instructs that the patent-holders to grant the developers the right to use the patented technology, may also be used.²⁴³ The debate on the effectiveness of compulsory licensing is extensive, and will not be discussed here, but what is noteworthy is that it is a measure to be used only after negotiations with the patent owner have failed, ²⁴⁴ and it is relatively rarely used, so it may not be an effective solution.²⁴⁵

Moreover, there is the argument that there is little evidence that the anti-commons is prevalence problem that will persist in biomedical sciences. Whilst Gold observes that in the pharmaceutical industry, there are fewer new medications produced each year, which he attributes to heightened patenting, ²⁴⁶ in Kaplan's review of studies on the anti-commons effect, he finds there is

²³⁸ R Cook-Deegan & C Heaney 'Patents in Genomics and Human Genetics' (2010) 11 *Annu Rev Hum Genet* 396–397.

²³⁹ Ibid.

²⁴⁰ Ibid.

²⁴¹ Myriad (note 24 above).

²⁴² Heller & Eisenberg (note 14 above; 698).

²⁴³ TRIPS Agreement (note 15 above; Article 31).

²⁴⁴ E R Gold et al 'Are Patents Impeding Medical Care and Innovation?' (2009) 7(1) PLoS Medicine 2.

²⁴⁵ R Beall & R Kuhn 'Trends in Compulsory Licensing of Pharmaceuticals Since the Doha Declaration: A Database Analysis' (2012) 9(1) *PLoS Medicine* e1001154.

²⁴⁶ Gold et al (note 244 above; 2).

little conclusive evidence on the existence of this tragedy in the biomedical sciences.²⁴⁷ Heller and Eisenberg note that private arrangements have been created to reduce the potential obstacles of multiple, overlapping IPRs, and such arrangements include bundling of licenses, clearinghouses and patent pools, as well as practicing non–exclusive licensing, all of which are discussed further on.²⁴⁸ As these become more established in the industry, negotiating licenses may become simpler, enabling wider use of the patented resource. The feasibility of such arrangements will be explored further in ensuing sections.

(i) Merck and the SNP Consortium: the private sector's attempts to counter the anticommons

As mentioned above, IPRs owners may devise an arrangement to alleviate the obstacles of privatisation. And so, although private actors are often accused of placing profit before public interest, contributing to the perceived anti-commons at the expense of further innovation, this is not always the case, as demonstrated by the following actions of private actors. One such action, important event in the timeline of genomics development, is that of the Merck Gene Index. In 1994, Merck, a private pharmaceutical company, together with the Gene Sequencing Center at Washington University, initiated a project to identify gene sequences and place these in the public domain. ²⁴⁹ Four years later, over 800 000 gene sequences had been released into the public domain where any interested researcher could access the data. ²⁵⁰ This move was not purely philanthropic, although it did enable open access to the data. ²⁵¹ By building this database in the public domain, Merck effectively prevented other entities from privatising the same knowledge, meaning that Merck would not have to enter into license negotiations as a licensee and incur license and transaction costs. ²⁵²

The success of this pre-emption in bolstering genomic research prompted further initiatives, such as the SNP consortium, where eleven pharmaceutical companies and the Wellcome Trust collaborated to share data on research into genome variations called single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNP) and disease associations.²⁵³ Though the data was placed in the public domain, the consortium initially filed patents to protect data that was at high risk of being patented by other entities. These

²⁴⁷ Ibid 3.

²⁴⁸ Heller & Eisenberg (note 14 above; 700).

²⁴⁹ Chesbrough & Appleyard (note 84 above; 72).

²⁵⁰ B M Frishmann, M J Madison, K J Strandburg Governing Knowledge Commons (2014) 121.

²⁵¹ Ibid.

²⁵² Ibid.

²⁵³ Ibid.

patents were then abandoned once the consortium placed the data in the public domain. This is a good example of IP strategy used to protect genomic knowledge.²⁵⁴

These two examples illustrate how valuable genomic knowledge is for commercial prospects — companies are willing to forgo IPRs and enter into collaborations to protect their interests to innovation down the line, and so openness is not only a model for public actors to share their scientific endeavours and avail it to the public for use. These collaborative efforts between private and public entities could be regarded as a foundation for openness in the genomics world, and more recent initiatives will be explored in the following chapter.

(c) IPRs on publically-funded technologies: the private rights granted to genomic knowledge generators

The anti-commons is by no means restricted to the patenting activities of large companies in the private sector. Publically-funded entities, such as universities and research institutes, biotechnology start-ups and non-profit organisations are prolific generators of genomic knowledge, and as such, may contribute to the anti-commons through their own patenting activities. As these entities are often driven by state-funding, it is questioned whether the results of their research should not be placed in the public domain to be used for the benefit of the public. Two ground-breaking additions to national legislature were made regarding this question in the US and SA with the Bayh-Dole Act²⁵⁵ and the IPR Act²⁵⁶ respectively. These statutes changed the IP activities of publically-funded entities to promote the ownership of inventions by these entities rather than the state. By granting universities, small businesses and non-profit organisations rights to their state-funded inventions, these Acts endeavour to encourage these entities to transfer their technologies from the laboratory to the market through commercialisation, as governments may not have the resources to commercialise all the projects they fund.²⁵⁷ In this way, the tragedy of the anti-commons and underusing inventions is lessened as inventions are commercialised for utilisation by the public.²⁵⁸ Importantly, the goal of such legislation is to promote scientific progress by unifying the policy on government-funded inventions. As these two Acts share many similarities, they will be discussed simultaneously below

²⁵⁴ Cook-Deegan & Heaney (note 238 above; 401).

²⁵⁵ Patent and Trademark Law Amendments (note 212 above).

²⁵⁶ IPR Act (note 213 above).

²⁵⁷ A Barratt 'Lessons from Bayh-Dole: Reflections on the *Intellectual Property Rights from Publicly Financed Research and Development Act*' (2010) 35(2) *Journal for Juridical Science* 31.

²⁵⁸ IPR Act (note 213 above; s 2(1)).

to determine how they may influence the privatisation of genomic knowledge and the collaboration between private and public sectors.

In the US, two of the objectives of the Bayh-Dole Act are:

'to promote *collaboration* between commercial concerns and non-profit organizations, including universities; to ensure that inventions made by non-profit organizations and small business firms are used in a manner to promote free competition and enterprise without unduly encumbering future research and discovery' (emphasis added)

Though these objectives are not explicitly stated in the IPR Act, the provisions of the IPR Act mirror those of the Bayh-Dole Act that seek to address these objectives.

In section 202(c)(3) of the Bayh-Dole Act, the above-mentioned entities are required to patent any state-funded invention that they intend to own and commercialise.²⁶⁰ The IPR Act also stipulates that IP must be protected from appropriation, although it does not explicitly state that this must be done through patenting.²⁶¹ It is assumed that a patent encourages commercialisation as it secures a market for the entity, and it also allows for the dissemination of knowledge through disclosure and licensing. Concerning licensing, both Acts stipulate that priority must be given to small businesses,²⁶² with the IPR Act preferring non-exclusive licensing.²⁶³ The Bayh-Dole Act states that the state must be granted a non-exclusive, irrevocable, non-transferrable, paid-up license.²⁶⁴ This is mirrored by the IPR Act, which stipulates that an irrevocable, royalty-free license must be granted to the state.²⁶⁵

Through these licensing provisions, it seems that the objectives of collaboration between the two sectors, and free competition and enterprise is being promoted. Furthermore, under the Bayh-Dole Act, if entities agree to license these inventions, royalties have to be shared with the state, and a percentage has to be invested to further scientific R&D, thus attempting to satisfy the second objective listed above. The IPR Act also calls for a portion of the resulting revenue to be allocated for further scientific development. However, for these licensing provisions to be effective in

²⁵⁹ Title 35 of the United States Code (USC) s 200.

²⁶⁰ Ibid s 202(c)(3).

²⁶¹ IPR Act (note 258 above; s 2(2)(b)).

²⁶² USC (note 259 above; s 202(c)(7)); IPR Act (note 258 above; s 11(1)(b)).

²⁶³ IPR Act (note 258 above; s 11(1)(a)).

²⁶⁴ USC (note 259 above; s 202(c)(7)).

²⁶⁵ IPR Act (note 258 above; s 11(1)(e)).

²⁶⁶ Ibid.

²⁶⁷ Ibid s 10(5)(a).

transferring technology from the laboratory to market, small businesses must be able to commercialise these technologies maximally. The sentiment of collaboration between state-funded entities should not rule out the possibility that larger private actors may more effectively achieve the objective of utilising the invention. Though the Bayh-Dole Act does not lean towards the involvement of larger private entities through its provisions, the IPR Act does recognise that:

'A private entity or organisation may become an exclusive licensee of intellectual property emanating from publicly financed research and development undertaken at an institution if such private entity or organisation has the capacity to manage and commercialise the intellectual property in a manner that benefits the Republic.' ²⁶⁸

Thus, whilst the Bayh-Dole Act makes collaboration an objective, it is actually the provisions of the IPR Act that may allow for more feasible collaborations for the commercialisation of technology. Therefore, policy on state-funded inventions should encourage collaboration that encompasses a diversity of actors so as to provide an even more regulated approach to openness.

As universities, biotechnology start-ups and non-profit organisations are primary contributors to the generation of genomic knowledge, it could be assumed that, in the absence of clear patent laws regarding DNA sequences and uses in research methods, which will be discussed below, these entities may ring-fence valuable knowledge needed for downstream applications by other entities through patenting. Whether this has indeed been the case requires further research beyond the scope of this dissertation.

In their study, Huang and Murray find that gene patenting decreases public genetic knowledge, an effect that is exacerbated by increasing patent scope, private sector ownership, thickets and fragmented patent ownership. However, Eisenberg and Heller do acknowledge the potential role of privatisation in upstream research, noting that it 'fortif[ies] incentives to undertake risky research projects'. Furthermore, Kaplan observes that 'there is little empirical evidence that an anti-commons problem is impeding innovation'. These diverging viewpoints on the pervasiveness of the anti-commons tragedy suggest that as yet patents can neither be absolved of their posited impediment to innovation, nor can they be prohibited on the basis of the anti-commons. Rather, it is recommended that more industry- and sector-specific research be conducted regarding the anti-

²⁶⁸ Ibid s 15.

²⁶⁹ Ibid.

²⁷⁰ Eisenberg & Heller (note 14215 above; 698).

²⁷¹ Gold et al (note 244 above; 2).

commons effect created by the patenting upstream research tools such as genome sequences, which will be discussed below.

III. Patenting Genome Sequences

When Celera announced its intent to patent the genomic sequences it uncovered, the Human Genome Project responded by accelerating its efforts so as to win the race and place its reference genome in the public domain (as elaborated on in the previous chapter). Since this race, patenting of genes has garnered global attention, with a simultaneous rise in litigation against DNA patents, mostly in developed countries. Indeed, in the US, there was a motion to pass the Genomic Research and Accessibility Act, which would end patenting of genes.²⁷² The number of DNA patents, on full or partial sequences, has increased over the years in the countries producing the most biomedical innovations. Thus GeneWatch UK noticed an upward trend in gene patenting in the UK. 273 However, investigators analysing gene patenting in the US should observe a decline in gene patents since the judgement of Myriad²⁷⁴ where patents on natural DNA sequences were declared non-patentable (to be discussed below). These discrepancies arise from the fact that international and national patent laws are either not clear on the subject of DNA patenting, or that they are not aligned. The laws on these research tools will affect the IP policies created for open innovation initiatives by consortia involving biobanks and genomic databases, as well as downstream developers, and will be explored in Chapter Four. Thus, the legal instruments — in particular, TRIPS, and the national or regional patent laws of the US, the EU and SA— as well as relevant litigation on DNA patenting and further innovation will be examined. Based on this, recommendations on how these laws can be amended so as to facilitate IP policies that align with open innovation principles will be made.

(a) Examining international patent law: the TRIPS agreement

The examination begins with an international legal instrument, the TRIPS agreement, which binds 162 member states, and thus has a significant influence on the global landscape of IPRs. The standards provisions of patents, relating to patent term and invention criteria, enclosed in TRIPS have been outlined in the above section. Though TRIPS seeks to harmonise IP law across states, the language of certain provisions allows for flexibility in interpretation. The most pertinent of such provisions to this discussion of DNA patenting are those of Article 27. Whilst Articles 27(2) and (3) allows

²⁷² C M Holman 'The impact of human gene patents on innovation and access: a survey of human gene patent litigation' (2007) 76(2) *eScholarship UC Berkeley* 295–296.

²⁷³ Nicol & Nielsen (note 210 above; 360).

²⁷⁴ Myriad (note 24 above).

members to exclude certain subject matter from patentability, it is neither specific in its exclusions, not are member states obliged to do so. Indeed, *methods* of diagnosis, therapy and surgery of humans may be excluded, but this in itself does not exclude diagnostic or therapeutic genomic technologies.²⁷⁵ The gene patent debate more likely hinges on the interpretation of Articles 27(1) and (2). Where Article 27(1) states that there may be no discrimination in the fields of technology on what is patentable,²⁷⁶ two overarching stipulations apply that may be used to challenge patents in genomic technologies. Firstly, the invention claimed must fulfil the criteria of inventiveness, novelty and industrial application.²⁷⁷ Litigants have challenged human gene patents based on these grounds. Secondly, members may exclude inventions from patentability if they are contrary to public policy or if the inventions protect human health.²⁷⁸ Considering the global public good nature of genomic knowledge, discussed above, it may be seen as contrary to public policy to patent genes as inventions. A second argument could be made that it is contrary to public health to patent basic science that is critical as a research tool.

Article 8, which outlines the principles of TRIPS, grants members the freedom to adopt measures that 'protect public health', 'promote the public interest in sectors of vital importance to their socio-economic and technological development', and 'prevent the abuse of intellectual property rights by right holders'.²⁷⁹ In light of these freedoms, the national/regional patent law of the US, the EU and SA, the choice of which has been justified in Chapter One, will be examined. These laws will be explored with reference to the landmark precedent set by the US *Myriad* case²⁸⁰ that led to a revision of United States Patent and Trademark Office (USPTO) guidelines.²⁸¹

(b) The role of *Myriad* in patent office practice

Myriad Genetics is a US-based molecular diagnostic company that held patents for the breast cancer genes, *BRCA1* and *BRCA2*. Under the prior USPTO guidelines, genes were patentable as they were regarded as 'compositions of matter'.²⁸² The company offered testing for the variants of these genes, some of which are associated with higher incidences of breast and ovarian cancer in women, but was

²⁷⁵ TRIPS Agreement (note 15 above; Article 27(3)).

²⁷⁶ Ibid Article 27(1).

²⁷⁷ Ibid Article 27(1).

²⁷⁸ Ibid Article 27(2).

²⁷⁹ Ibid Article 8.

²⁸⁰ Myriad (note 24 above).

²⁸¹ USPTO Memorandum *Supreme Court Decision in Association for Molecular Pathology v. Myriad Genetics, Inc.* (13 June 2013).

²⁸² USC (note 259 above; s 101).

not the only provider which used these genes in their diagnostic testing. In the ensuing litigation, Myriad challenged competing providers in attempts to secure a monopoly over the diagnostic service. ²⁸³ This began with litigation against OncorMed²⁸⁴ and the University of Pennsylvania²⁸⁵ that forced both competitors agreed to leave the commercial testing market and created a monopoly over the testing for these genes by Myriad. In this instance, the use of the genes in non-commercial research was not challenged. The risks of a monopoly are that: a) costs of services or products can be raised; b) logistics may hinder patient access; c) the company can deny access to goods; d) there is less incentive for a company to improve on the existing technology; ²⁸⁶ and, e) all the information about the gene variants is controlled by one entity, which is not necessarily unbeneficial if the company has interests in maximally developing this information. The threat of these risks led to the landmark case *Association for Molecular Pathology v Myriad Genetics, Inc*²⁸⁷ where a precedent was set regarding the patentability of naturally-occurring DNA sequences, ²⁸⁸ which led to a revision of the USPTO guidelines. ²⁸⁹

In the above case, the plaintiff, the Association for Molecular Pathology (AMP), challenged many claims of the *BRCA1/2* patents, including the validity of patenting gene sequences, diagnostic methods claims and drug screening claims. Of particular interest to this chapter is the validity of gene patents as patentable subject matter, based on §101 of Title 35 of the Unites States Code (regarding patent law) which states that:

'Whoever invents or discovers any new and useful process, machine, manufacture, or composition of matter, or any new and useful improvement thereof, may obtain a patent therefor, subject to the conditions and requirements of this title.'290

The plaintiff argued that the patents restricted research for clinicians and limited scientific progress, which is at the heart of this discussion. Additionally, the plaintiff argued that the patent

²⁸³ Myriad engaged in similar litigation in Australia. Though the limitations of this dissertation do not allow an in-depth discussion of this case, the High Court of Australia concurred with the US Supreme Court's ruling on isolate DNA sequences, based on analogous statutory provisions in patent subject matter.

²⁸⁴ Myriad Genetics, Inc v OncorMed, Inc, (1997) No. 97-922 D. Utah.

²⁸⁵ Myriad Genetics, Inc v Univ of Pa, (1999) No. 98-829 D.C. Utah.

²⁸⁶ Vawda & Baker (note 21 above).

²⁸⁷ Myriad (note 24 above)

²⁸⁸ USPTO Memorandum *Supreme Court Decision in Association for Molecular Pathology v. Myriad Genetics, Inc.* (13 June 2013).

²⁸⁹ Ibid.

²⁹⁰ USC (note 259 above; s 101).

made it impossible for patients to receive second opinions, and they were subjected to high costs of the testing service. The defendant, Myriad Genetics, countered that the 'isolated sequences' were analogous to other chemical compounds, which were patentable under the USPTO provided they were novel and thus different from sequences found in the body. Myriad argued that the isolation procedure sufficiently altered the chemical composition of the isolated sequences. Patent law is the US, in line with the guidelines of TRIPS (to be discussed below) excludes laws of nature from patent eligibility, and the Supreme Court judges in the *Myriad* case cited *Diamond v Chakrabarty* in determining whether the isolated genes had 'markedly different characteristics from any found in nature'.²⁹¹ It was found that merely isolating and purifying the two genes did not markedly alter their genetic information, and these patents did not claim for 'new compositions of matter', and were thus ineligible.²⁹² This led to a revision of the USPTO guidelines, which states that 'examiners should now reject product claims drawn solely to naturally occurring nucleic acids or fragments thereof, whether isolated or not'.²⁹³

Another claim that was challenged by the plaintiffs was the sequences to cDNA (complementary DNA) of the above genes. Genes contain regions that are coding and non-coding, called exons and introns, respectively.²⁹⁴ The introns do not code for the gene's functional product (such as a protein), but are involved in the regulation of gene expression in the cell. In a laboratory setting, these introns are unnecessary and removed to form cDNA — a refined form of the isolated DNA.²⁹⁵ As with natural DNA sequences, cDNA is also an important research tool, often used in place of naturally-occurring sequences, as introns may be redundant to the research.²⁹⁶ On this matter, the judges found that cDNA is 'not a "product of nature", and must be created in a laboratory by removing intron sequences, and thus it is patent eligible according to US patent law.²⁹⁷ However, it must be pointed out that whilst cDNA is produced by removing intron sequences, this is mirrored by machinery in the cell that creates templates of the DNA to be used in making the final product, such as a protein.²⁹⁸ These templates are also void of introns sequences, these having been removed by the cell machinery. Thus, it is felt that this step is part of existing knowledge and an obvious step, and should render cDNA patent ineligible.

_

²⁹¹ Diamond v Chakrabarty 447 U.S. 303.

²⁹² Myriad (note 24 above).

²⁹³ USPTO (note 288 above).

²⁹⁴ Campbell (note 83 above; 426-479).

²⁹⁵ Ibid.

²⁹⁶ Ibid.

²⁹⁷ Myriad (note 24 above).

²⁹⁸ Campbell (note 83 above; 426-479).

Nonetheless, the judgement on naturally-occurring DNA sequences has been celebrated by the public and scientific community. A key feature of this case is that the judges recognised that patent protection must balance creating incentives for innovation, and should not 'imped[e] the flow of information' that might lead to innovation.²⁹⁹ Furthermore, they highlighted that Myriad could not rely on that fact that it was the practice of the patent office in the past to grant gene patents.³⁰⁰ This is a promising stance that invites reconsideration of what may be an outdated system for genomic technologies, as it has already been incorporated into the USPTO guidelines.

(ii) Patenting methods of using research tools: the GTG controversy on non-coding DNA

Literature on DNA patenting has focussed on gene patenting, and little attention has been placed on the patents of non-coding DNA (as explained above, DNA that does not form genes, which code for cell processes). Non-coding DNA is also being recognised as a valuable diagnostics research tool in genomic medicine as it enables the identification and analysis of genes that may be associated with diseases. Recent cases have emerged with a leading firm in non-coding DNA research, Genetic Technologies (GTG), and have highlighted the function of non-coding DNA sequences in identifying gene sequences.

Non-coding sequences and genes are linked, which means that they are inherited together. Therefore, to identify a specific genetic variation, one can look for the non-coding region, which is often a shorter sequence, rather than looking for the longer gene sequence. In many of the GTG cases, the company claimed that other pharmaceutical and biotechnology firms were infringing on their patented methods of detecting genes using the non-coding DNA, such as in the US case of *Genetic Technologies Ltd v Merial LLC*. Here the Federal Court used the two-step test for patent-eligibility. In the first step they determined whether the disputed claim was directed toward patent-ineligible subject matter, and found that GTG's patent was 'directed toward a law of nature'— that is, the linkages between the non-coding and coding regions of DNA was naturally-occurring — which is a patent-ineligible concept. In the second step, the court assessed whether an inventive concept was used that sufficiently transformed the patent-ineligible law of nature into a patent-eligible application.

²⁹⁹ Ibid.

³⁰⁰ Ibid.

³⁰¹ Campbell (note 83 above; 426-479).

³⁰² Genetic Technologies Ltd. v Merial LLC (Fed. Cir 2016) Nos. 2015–1202, 2015–1203.

³⁰³ USC (note 259 above; s 101).

The court found that the steps of 'amplification and analysis of the amplified [non-coding] DNA' did not constitute an inventive concept, as these steps were 'well-known, routine and conventional' activity. 304 Furthermore, the court found that analysing the non-coding DNA to detect the coding region was a mental process, which is regarded as patent-ineligible because 'computational methods which can be performed entirely in the human mind are the types of methods that embody the basic tools of scientific and technological work that are free to all men and reserved exclusively to none'. 305 Thus, the patent was declared invalid under 35 USC s 101, 306 setting a precedent for methods that use non-coding DNA as a research tool for genomic analysis.³⁰⁷ However, this only applied in the US. Other countries have not yet raised the issue of patents on non-coding DNA sequences or how these are used, leaving GTG as a chief patent-holder in non-coding DNA technology. Additionally, the patenting of the sequences was not been challenged as in Myriad, 308 although it is likely that non-coding DNA will be treated the same as naturally-occurring isolated gene sequences. This is because the only difference between these two structures is their function, not their chemical structures. Thus, these implications for gene patents would hold for non-coding DNA sequence patents as well.

GTG, as such a leader in non-coding DNA technology, is in a prime position to expand its licensing potential globally. Unlike with the Merck Gene Index,³⁰⁹ GTG seeks to capture value through licensing patents to increase their revenue for further projects, even extending licensing to academic institutions who stand to benefit commercially from their R&D using non-coding DNA.³¹⁰ However, in light of the *Genetic Technologies* case (and similar litigation), it is questionable whether its patents are necessarily valid. If these patents are not valid, GTG's extensive licensing, costing from \$75,000 for commercial firms, is an expensive obstacle in the R&D cycle of firms and academic institutions.311 Nonetheless, in the absence of legal precedent and clarity in the patent law, GTG is primed to expand its licensing program with private and public entities engaged in genomic research. Mervyn Jacobson, executive chairman of GTG says that the licenses for academic institutions are a flat license arrangement of \$1 000, which is minimal, and that GTG tries 'to be helpful to publicly

³⁰⁴ Ibid.

³⁰⁵ *Genetic Technologies Ltd* (note 302 above).

³⁰⁶ USC (note 259 above; s 101).

³⁰⁷ Ibid.

³⁰⁸ Myriad (note 24 above).

³⁰⁹ Chesbrough & Appleyard (note 84 above; 72).

³¹⁰ Bio-IT World 'GTG Primed to Expand Non-coding DNA Licensing' (26 January 2006) available at http://www.bio-itworld.com/newsitems/2006/january/01-26-06-news-gtg/ accessed on 04 November 2017.

³¹¹ Ibid.

funded organizations'.³¹² Future research will determine whether this approach is indeed beneficial, or if the GTG extensive licensing program needs more development under an open innovation paradigm, assuming GTG will not adopt an open access approach like Merck and that patent law or case law will not address the patent-eligibility of non-coding DNA sequences or the methods of gene detection in which they are used.³¹³

(c) Examining the patent law of the EU and South Africa

The above cases, and those that were used in deciding their judgements, have set precedents in the US. However, not all jurisdictions concur with these guidelines, as seen in the EU. Under the EU Directive on the legal protection of biotechnological inventions, inventions are still eligible to patent 'even if the structure of that element is identical to that of a natural element', such as isolated DNA.³¹⁴ As products of nature, these were recognised as 'basic tools of scientific and technological work' beyond patent protection in *Myriad*, which were required for future innovation. ³¹⁵ The Directive holds the view that private business interests and public health interests should be considered, and acknowledges that high-risk investment in the fields related to genomics must be rewarded to encourage further investment and industrial development, without creating barriers to trade.³¹⁶ Although the Directive does acknowledge the need to protect public health, 317 which may be a gateway should a situation arise where genome patents threaten the interest of the public in genomic healthcare technologies, its current provisions allow genome sequences (natural, isolated or cDNA) to be privatised and kept out of the reach of the public domain, which may not favour open access, as envisioned by certain open innovation practices. However, open innovation does not rely on open access alone, with licensing of IP an integral part of certain practices under this paradigm. Therefore, at least with these clear legal guidelines, IP policies that favour open innovation may still be more easily developed as opposed to countries that do not have clear guidelines, such as SA.

SA is an example of a country that, despite adopting Article 27(1) of TRIPS in its Patents Act No. 57 of 1978³¹⁸ (hereafter the Patents Act), does not apply the subject patentability criteria of novelty, inventiveness and utility when granting patents. The European Patent Office, on the other

³¹² Ibid.

³¹³ Ibid.

³¹⁴ EU Directive (note 44 above; Article 5(2))

³¹⁵ Myriad (note 24 above).

³¹⁶ EU Directive (note 44 above).

³¹⁷ Ibid.

³¹⁸ Patents Act No. 57 of 1978 s 25.

hand, follows Article 3 of the EU Directive which lists these criteria. Unlike in the US, the SA patent authority does not issue guidelines that are used to assess patentability, so it could well occur that patent claims on naturally-occurring DNA sequences or otherwise may slip under the radar, left to be challenged in the courts. Nonetheless, this is not entirely ominous as this deficit of direction leaves a space to develop patent law, judicial guidelines or policy that could call for the proper application of the invention criteria (as will be discussed in Chapter Four under the national IP policy of SA). It is suggested that firstly, SA draws on the judgement of *Myriad*³¹⁹ to exclude naturally-occurring DNA sequences, isolated or not, and defines what is 'markedly different' to nature, and in the process reviews the decision made on cDNA. Secondly, SA should employ a search-and-examination system where the patent authorities will grant a patent based on the criteria of novelty, inventiveness and utility. This will be explored under SA IP policy reform in the next chapter. By implementing these measures, SA and other countries that follow suit, may create a healthier IP environment for open innovation initiatives.

Certainly, when looking at global consortia, such as the SNP Consortium or the Human Genome Project, international harmonisation regarding patent law and policy is favourable, regardless of the innovation model they employ. TRIPS is in an ideal position to initiate this, given the number of signatories, its objective to harmonise patent law, and the fact that its provisions were adopted into legislation in several countries. Commentators argue that perhaps the World Intellectual Property Organization (WIPO), free from the trade agenda of TRIPS, is a better platform for issues of intellectual property harmonisation.³²⁰ An international consensus on patent law and policy would ease the task of global consortia in advancing genomic health. However, as already seen by the contrasting provisions between the USPTO guidelines and the EU Directive, such a consensus on genomic issues, especially DNA patenting, may be challenging. Furthermore, natural genome sequences are only one aspect of the genomic research tool arsenal. As highlighted in the Myriad judgement, a distinction can be made between man-made and naturally occurring sequences, although this is also contentious. Additionally, a lack of IPRs may discourage discovery of these research tools in the private sector, placing the task on the public sector, which may lack the necessary resources. IP law may need to evolve to encompass these issues before solid IP policies of open initiatives can progress smoothly to address public and private interests in innovation.

_

³¹⁹ Myriad (note 24 above).

³²⁰ Strandburg (note 42 above).

IV. The benefits of patents on the human genome

In the above sections, the potential of patents on genomic knowledge to hinder scientific progress, however this is a one-sided perspective has been explored. Patents may also have a valuable role to play in managing the flow of information and optimising the use of knowledge. These benefits will be discussed under Burk's theory of patents as data aggregators, and under the practice of licensing in open innovation.

Burk theorises that patents on technologies that contribute to genomic knowledge application, such as genomic testing technologies, act as data aggregators.³²¹ In his theory, Burk posits that as patents can restrict the number of gene/genome testing providers, data resulting from these genetic tests will accrue within fewer companies' databases. Myriad Genetics is a good example of this as by monopolising the genetic testing of *BRCA1/2*, it received all the data on the possible variants and associated disease information from its patients. As genomic medicine is tethered to the in-depth understanding of these variants, Burk suggests that patents allow for the data to be coordinated at one point (in the case of single provider) rather than being dispersed among competitors as incomplete pockets of data. Thus, he proposes that the amount and diversity of useful data held by a firm decreases as more competitors enter a market, in the absence of licensing agreements and networking, leading to reduced innovative output.

In a closed innovation model, a patent monopoly favours data aggregation, but limits the R&D capabilities of other interested researchers who do not hold the patent rights through licensing. In open innovation, the flow of knowledge will require either open access to data or extensive licensing, both of which will be discussed in Chapter Four. Patents are integral to licensing, as these are licensed out or in, and in this way technology is transferred and a profit may be generated. Currently, licensing practices are modelled under a closed innovation approach, but are essential in Chesbrough's open innovation model to be explored in Chapter Four. But patents are not only a passive means of securing profits through monopolies or licensing, but are also used as indicators of a firm's expertise and potential. This is particularly relevant to Small and Medium Enterprises (SMEs) who may proactively use patent portfolios to attract the partnership or investment of large corporations, or may establish themselves as prolific innovators from whom large companies can buy the patented technologies or agree to licenses. This is especially the case in cross-licensing, where SMEs (or any actor) can use their IPRs as a form of leverage. In all these cases, IPRs are used to confer a

³²¹ D L Burk 'Patents as data aggregators in personalized medicine' (2015) available at https://intranet.law.ox.ac.uk/ckfinder/userfiles/files/Alleles_%20D%20Burkdocx.pdf, accessed 24 April 2017.

³²² Nicol & Nielsen (note 210 above; 355).

³²³ Ibid 355-356.

competitive advantage.³²⁴ Furthermore, the evolution of these inter-firm relationships could pave the way for more open models of innovation using IPRs and strengthening the pro-IPRs stance largely adopted by the private sector of the biotechnology and pharmaceutical industries. The use of IPRs in open innovation through licensing will be discussed in the following chapter.

V. <u>Conclusion</u>

Genomic knowledge generates critical R&D tools, such as DNA sequences, for downstream innovation in genomic medicine, but this knowledge, despite it being argued that it is a public good, may be privatised through IPRs such as patenting. This necessitates licenses for further innovation, which may be costly and difficult to negotiate, especially where a patented technology incorporates claims to many research tools, or where innovation requires multiple research tools held by different patent holders (concurrent fragments). Using the Myriad³²⁵ case as precedent, some may argue that patents on DNA sequences should be prohibited, and whilst this is sentiment is shared by the author, the lack of clarity from TRIPS, and the conflicting views of jurisdictions may not enable a global transition to this provision. Furthermore, although these measures will open up these critical research tools for further innovation, these will not enable value capture for private interests groups, as these research tools alone are merely chips of knowledge that need to be translated into useful, commercial medical technologies. What is needed is a governance mechanism that promotes innovation in genomic medicine and 'maintains a balance between the global public goods characteristics of genomics knowledge and the private goods nature of its application'. 326 This mechanism, facilitated by coherent IP law and policy on patenting and licensing in the public and private sectors, needs to allow for the 'continuous circulation of knowledge' for downstream innovation.³²⁷

Innovation systems need to be constructed so as to 'create and distribute benefits from a public resource without being captured through patents and private appropriation of value'. There should be an innovation system that does not rely on patent monopolies and excessive license fees, but in doing so, does not minimise the economic profits to potential 'research partners' of biobanks and public initiatives to that which is unappealing and unsustainable. Thus private actors must be incentivised to produce public goods, that are not rendered excludable by IP, or public actors must be

³²⁴ An interesting use of IP has also been as part of a company's defence strategy when facing claims of infringement. In the case of *Incyte Genomics, Inc. v. Invitrogen Corp.*, the lawsuit seems to have been filed in retaliation to a patent infringement lawsuit filed by Invitrogen against Incyte previously.

³²⁵ Myriad (note 24 above).

³²⁶ Dowdeswell (note 196 above; 132).

³²⁷ Guaragna (note 187 above; 69).

³²⁸ Huzair & Papaioannou (note 53 above; 508).

supported to undertake risky, high investment ventures.³²⁹ One means of doing this would be to nationalise IP at market prices, which means that privately–owned IP would be sold to the state and the IP would exist under state control and become a public asset. This provides private actors with a more dependable source of profit in lieu of profiting off their patents, and allows the state to use the IP as a public good to meet the demands of the concerned sectors. The 100 000 Genomes Project, which is explored in the following chapter, employs a similar structure where a state–owned company largely controls the publically– or privately–generated IP developed from the genomic information it holds.

This model has economic ramifications that may affect the subsequent willingness of the private sector to engage in this type of arrangement where IPRs are traded for a dependable income source, however, these ramifications are beyond the scope of this dissertation. Instead what this arrangement emphasises is the centralisation of IP ownership. As the state concerns itself with meeting public demands, it is a prime candidate to act as a governing body over the relevant IP. However, the state may not be the only actor capable of coordinating IP through ownership — independent, private initiatives also have this capacity, such as with the BIOS initiative to be explored in the following chapter. Ideally what such centralisation offers is a control over how knowledge flows are created, fostering an environment for partnerships or networks between public and private actors that have similar R&D goals but different interests. ³³⁰ Rischard ³³¹ summarises the potential of networks below as follows:

'On our increasingly small and interconnected planet...global problems cannot be solved within any one nationstate. They call for collective and collaborative action....The current international system is simply not effective enough – or at least fast enough – to solve these problems.'332

Though Rischard is referring to networking between nations, and Dowdeswell et al³³³ use this in support of government-led networks (for legitimacy and accountability), the latter agree that the potential of this system could be extrapolated to public-private sectors networks as well (which involve international organisations, non-governmental organisations, corporations, and other

³²⁹ Ibid.

³³⁰ Ibid.

³³¹ J F Rischard 'High noon: we need new approaches to global problem solving, fast' (2001) 4

Journal of International Economic Law.

³³² Ibid.

³³³ Dowdeswell (note 196 above; 138).

interested parties), such as BIOS, 334 although this requires further substantive evidence. These networks require a flow of knowledge and technology, facilitated by a model such as that of open innovation. In the following chapter, open innovation in genomic medicine will be explored, and the openness of the IP policies of three genomics-related initiatives that involve the public and private sectors will be compared.

³³⁴ Ibid.

Chapter Four: The role of IP policy on open collaborative innovation in genomic medicine

As proposed by Peter Drucker, an eminent management theorist of the 20th century, 'The corporation as we know it is ... unlikely to survive the next 25 years. Legally and financially, yes. But not structurally and economically', as the economy becomes based in rapidly evolving knowledge.³³⁵ Companies operating under traditional internally-focussed, closed innovation models — in which producers control the entire innovation chain, from discovery to marketing, and act in isolation 336 are realising that this business model is becoming obsolete³³⁷ as it struggles to produce and use knowledge at sufficient pace, leading to declining R&D productivity and competitive advantage. 338 This has led to the concept of 'openness' in innovation, which relies on strategic alliances based on strengths, and models where knowledge can rapidly flow to enhance productivity and commercialisation of innovation. In this chapter, the concept of open innovation, focussing on open collaborative innovation as framed in Chapter One will be discussed. This will be followed by a discussion on the shift from closed to open innovation models in genomic medicine, drawing on the arguments made in Chapter Three to highlight the role of IPRs in this shift. In the next section, the various IP policies of collaborative initiatives, as substantiated in Chapter One, will be consolidated into a comprehensive IP policy that promotes open innovation. The Draft Intellectual Property Policy of SA Phase 1 (2017)³³⁹ and the SA Medical Research Council's (MRC) IP policy³⁴⁰ will be examined in juxtaposition to the consolidated IP policy on open collaborative innovation.

I. The principles of open innovation in genomic medicine

(a) The foundation of open innovation: purposive knowledge flows

Science has traditionally been associated with the 'ideal of free and open dissemination of scientific knowledge' that enables cumulative innovation by producers and users of inventions.³⁴¹ However, as industries emerged and grew, the interest arose to capture value from scientific pursuits for future

³³⁵ J Daly 'Peter Drucker' (22 August 2000) available at http://www.ghandchi.com/iranscope/Anthology/Drucker-SageAdvice.htm, accessed on 15 November 2017.

³³⁶ B Hughes & J Wareham 'Knowledge arbitrage in global pharma: a synthetic view of absorptive capacity and open innovation' (2010) 40(3) *R&D Management* 325.

³³⁷ M Goldman 'The Innovative Medicines Initiative: A European Response to the Innovation Challenge' (2012) 9(3) *Clinical Pharmacology & Therapeutics* 418.

³³⁸ Gastrow (note 54 above; 42).

³³⁹ Draft IP Policy (note 81 above).

³⁴⁰ South African Medical Research Council *Management and Commercialisation of Intellectual Property Policy* (2013).

³⁴¹ Joly (note 13 above; 391).

innovation and to satisfy investments. As knowledge was recognised as the heart of innovation and competitiveness, 342 and a firm's competitive advantage stemmed from its 'unique knowledge and how it manage[d] that knowledge, 343 industries sought to control knowledge and resources in the innovation chain, from discovery to commercialisation to avoid incurring external costs for resources and skills, and to secure monopolies and fees from licensing.³⁴⁴ This control required the boundaries of the firm (or other profit—seeking entities) to be closed and impermeable; knowledge and innovation was kept within the firm, and was sourced in as this would require the firm to enter costly licensing agreements, whose upfront payments or royalties would reduce the profit margins of the firm.³⁴⁵ Especially in the past few decades, IPRs, as discussed in Chapter Three, have dominated the innovation landscape as means of creating competitive advantage and capturing value through closing the boundaries of an entity, 346 and IP policies based on patent and contract law have been integral in the business model of profit-seeking entities, as well as the models of public-based organisations that seek to capture social value of healthcare, such as medical research councils or national biobanks, or initiatives, such as the Human Genome Project. Additionally, IPRs are not only a passive means of securing profits through monopolies or licensing, but are also used as indicators of a firm's expertise and potential.³⁴⁷ This is particularly relevant to SMEs who may proactively use patent portfolios to attract the partnership or investment of large corporations, or may establish themselves as prolific innovators from whom large companies can buy the patented technologies or agree to licenses.

However, arguments have been raised that enclosing scientific knowledge is contrary to the communalism ideal of science mentioned above, 348 and that a new model of innovation is needed that balances the ideals of science with the private interests of participants. This model should allow for the dissemination of knowledge and technology, aligned with the principles of international instruments such as the Universal Declaration of Human Rights³⁴⁹ or the TRIPS Agreement,³⁵⁰ to be

342 Clark & Turner (note 194 above; 96).

³⁴³ Ibid 85.

³⁴⁴ Ibid.

³⁴⁵ Ibid.

³⁴⁶ Whilst the emphasis of closed boundaries is firm-centric herein, it would also stand to reason that the public sector would also practice closed innovation with the intent of maximising the capture of social value, for example, if a vaccine for TB could be researched, developed, mass produced and distributed by a governmental body, public health would stand to benefit greatly. However, this is not a practical expectation for a majority of public entities as the costs of executing the entire innovation chain that is publically-funded entity may be too high.

³⁴⁷ Nicol & Nielsen (note 210 above; 355).

³⁴⁸ Joly (note 13 above; 391).

³⁴⁹ Universal Declaration (note 1 above; Article 27).

³⁵⁰ TRIPS Agreement (note 15 above; Articles 7-8).

used for further scientific pursuit. For knowledge to flow optimally, the boundaries of entities have to be permeable, leading to the model of open innovation. Before the potential of this model is explored, open innovation has to be defined within the context of this dissertation. In Chapter One, the open innovation model that will be explored has been outlined, and will be elaborated on in this section.

The concept of open innovation is based on the principle that knowledge relevant for innovation is abundantly dispersed outside the firm, and external knowledge can be used to improve internal innovation.³⁵¹ A strong public knowledge base is highlighted as a factor promulgating the shift to open innovation, 352 as the abundance of external knowledge that will be available to competitors is extensive. Knowledge-based economies are suited to open innovation and the nature of knowledge itself supports openness — whereas physical goods are protected from overuse by privatisation, as discussed under the tragedy of the commons, knowledge is intangible and non-rival, that is, it can be reused and applied to generate increasing returns without being diminished.³⁵³ In this way, knowledge can flow easily between entities and be used without creating obstacles of access for each entity. For example, two diagnostics firms may use the same gene information to independently develop diagnostic technologies, and the knowledge will still be available for further use. This is juxtaposed to a scenario where two soft drink companies have to compete for an exhaustible supply of water. This concept of purposive in-flows and out-flows of knowledge is based on the work of Henry Chesbrough, as discussed in Chapter One. Chesbrough delineates open innovation as being inbound or outbound, with knowledge being internalised from external parties, or outsourced to external parties, respectively. 354 Synonymous phrases used to describe such flow of knowledge include outside-in and inside-out, respectively. 355 In the following sub-section, the means by which knowledge flow is created in the firm-centric open innovation model envisioned by Chesbrough will be described, and further on the evolution of this model beyond the firm to a more collaborative approach between a variety of actors will be explained.

⁻

³⁵¹ F T Piller & J West 'Firms, Users, and Innovation: An Interactive Model of Coupled Open Innovation' in H Chesbrough, W Vanhaverbeke and J West (eds) *New Frontiers in Open Innovation* (2014) 29.

³⁵² Chesbrough & Bogers (note 27 above; 10).

³⁵³ Chesbrough & Appleyard (note 84 above; 62).

³⁵⁴ Chesbrough & Bogers (note 27 above; 8).

³⁵⁵ Ibid.

(i) Inbound and outbound licensing

Licensing is a means of creating knowledge flow, and knowledge may be licensed in from an external source, or licensed out. Generally, IP is licensed out by a licensor to a licensee for a fee, although in a cross—license, each party acts as a licensor and a licensee, trading in IP licenses. Licensing incurs transactions costs, and high upfront fees or royalties, which may be prohibitive to the practice. The OECD addresses best licensing practices in its *Guidelines for the Licensing of Genetic Inventions* (*Guidelines*)³⁵⁶ (to be discussed below under the section on the consolidated policy framework). There are three types of licenses, each dictating the number of potential licensees and third party involvement: exclusive, semi–exclusive and non–exclusive. In an exclusive licence agreement, the licensee has exclusive rights to use the licensed technology and the associated IPRs, and the licensor itself does not retain these and must refrain from granting licences to third parties.³⁵⁷ The semi-exclusive licence agreement assigns the same rights to the licensee as the exclusive license, however the licensor may retain the right to exploit the technology, although it may not license out to third parties.³⁵⁸ In a non-exclusive licence agreement, the licensee and licensor are assigned the same rights as in the semi–exclusive license, but the licensor retains the right to grant other licences to third parties.³⁵⁹

The benefits of licensing in knowledge is that it reduces the amount of human and financial capital required by a single firm to generate the same knowledge, and diminishes duplication and risks of failure. Moreover, it may provide new directions to the existing knowledge base. Licensing out is also beneficial to a firm, especially in light of knowledge spill—overs, that is, knowledge that is generated by the firm but is not directly useful for its core purposes but can be used by others. These knowledge spill—overs contribute to external knowledge, and are useful as leverage in the open innovation model, where one party trades their knowledge for that of another. Licensing out provides financial revenue, and in some cases, builds a reputation for the firm. An evolution of licensing practice to cross—licensing, may reduce transaction costs, upfront payments and royalties,

³⁵⁶ OECD (note 65 above).

³⁵⁷ Ibid 14.

³⁵⁸ Ibid.

³⁵⁹ Ibid.

³⁶⁰ Chesbrough & Bogers (note 27 above; 12-14).

³⁶¹ Ibid.

³⁶² Ibid.

but this is only feasible if both parties have equally valuable licenses, which is not necessarily easy to evaluate objectively. 363

Licenses do not have to be for patented technology. In fact, an OECD report states that 'in several countries most licences are for non-patented intellectual property, such as biological research material or copyrighted works'. However, as the focus on this dissertation on the role of IPRs, particularly patents, in open innovation, licensing will henceforth concern patented knowledge and technologies, unless otherwise stated.

To maximise the diffusion of knowledge, licensing may follow FRAND licensing policy.³⁶⁵ FRAND policy requires that licensing is fair, reasonable and non-discriminatory. 366 However, the challenge is determining what constitutes the FRAND principles. Often, these terms are defined by standard bodies that oversee licensing in a particular technology. Genomic medicine does not seem to have such bodies, without which the articulation of FRAND policy is difficult to achieve. Policies regarding IP that intend to favour open innovation, or any licensing practice, should address both the issue of FRAND definitions and oversight standard bodies. The three following examples of licensing in genomic diagnostics illustrates this challenge. Firstly, genes patented by research institutions can be freely accessed for diagnostic testing, but royalties must be paid when the genes are used in commercial tests, and these payments should not be prohibitive. 367 Secondly, firms may also choose to license out their patents on diagnostic testing on condition that competitors mark their cost-price higher than the patent holder. This, however, may not benefit consumers if the patent holder chooses to set this baseline cost quite high. A third strategy, as employed by Myriad regarding the BRCA genes, is that licenses may be granted for a subset of the gene mutations, with the patent holder retaining the rights to test for the entire set of genetic mutations. Again, patient access to services is impeded by this model of commercialisation, and as seen from these examples. What is needed is a model of innovation that creates more openness for researchers and consumers to enjoy the scientific benefits.

-

³⁶³ G Van Overwalle et al 'Models for facilitating access to patents on genetic inventions' (2006) 7 *Nature Reviews Genetics* 144.

³⁶⁴ OECD Patents and innovation: trends and policy challenges (2004) 20.

³⁶⁵ R N A Bekkers, E Iverson & K Blind 'Patent pools and non-assertion agreements: coordination mechanisms for multi-party IPR holders in standardization' in Proceedings of the European Association for the Study of Science and Technology (EASST) 2006 conference (2006) 8.

³⁶⁶ Ibid.

³⁶⁷ Van Overwalle et al (note 363 above; 144)

(b) The evolution of open innovation through democratisation and collaboration

The open innovation model proposed by Chesbrough is a firm-centric paradigm where firms form strategic alliances to barter knowledge, but this knowledge remains within a closed circuit of the few networked parties. ³⁶⁸ Over the years, others have developed the model to extend beyond the firm, retaining the principle of knowledge flows between actors, claiming that certain knowledge such as research tools, must not just flow in a closed circuit, as in Chesbrough's firm-centric model as this may impede cumulative innovation. ³⁶⁹ For example, knowledge on genomic sequences should be available as widely as possible, with the option of improving on the knowledge base through annotation, and re–entering this modified knowledge into a commons. As mentioned in Chapter One, of particular note is the open distributed innovation model proposed by Von Hippel — which incorporates the public good nature of genomic knowledge —³⁷⁰ and Gassman and Enkel's interactive coupled innovation model, ³⁷¹ which builds on Chesbrough's model. In the latter model, inside–out and outside–in processes are combined in strategic networks of complementary partners, which distributes the innovation process as suggested by Von Hippel. ³⁷²

This distributed innovation, also known as democratised innovation,³⁷³ is where knowledge is disseminated (through means discussed below) through society so that the tasks of innovation are shared by partners.³⁷⁴ These partners may include other firms, non-profit organisations, universities, and individuals (such as users and inventors)³⁷⁵ which may differ in what they produce and how they commercialise their innovations, that is, these entities may have different innovation strengths and approaches to disseminating innovation.³⁷⁶ For example, universities are rich sources of basic research;³⁷⁷ core biotechnology firms are rich sources of complementary knowledge, creativity and entrepreneurship;³⁷⁸ and large companies offer 'management organisation and technology'.³⁷⁹ These

³⁶⁸ Pénin (note 209 above; 8).

³⁶⁹ Chesbrough & Bogers (note 27 above; 15).

³⁷⁰ Ibid.

³⁷¹ Ibid 13.

³⁷² Piller & West (note 351 above; 37).

³⁷³ Chesbrough & Bogers (note 27 above; 16).

³⁷⁴ Centre for Science and Policy (note 61 above; 7).

³⁷⁵ Piller & West (note 351 above; 39).

³⁷⁶ Ibid 37.

³⁷⁷ K Asakawa, H Nakamura & N Sawada 'Firm's open innovation policies, laboratories' external collaboration, and laboratories' R&D performance' (2010) 40(2) *R&D Management* 112.

³⁷⁸ Ibid 111.

³⁷⁹ Goldman (note 337 above; 420).

principles of purposeful, reciprocal and strategic flows of knowledge between parties aims 'for the benefit of all by coordinating activities and communicating information within an environment of trust and transparency', leading to an overall model of open collaboration.³⁸⁰ In such a model, the locus of innovation shifts from being within each organisation to being jointly created outside the collaborating organisations.³⁸¹

The open collaborative model explored here is based on the flow of public and privatised knowledge between the private and public actors. UNESCO's Universal Declaration on the Human Genome & Human Rights³⁸² states that scientific benefits should be shared,³⁸³ calling for the exchange of scientific knowledge and information between cooperating organisations and states.³⁸⁴ As discussed in the previous chapter, whilst knowledge is regarded as the archetypal public good, knowledge as IP can be protected. Thus, as highlighted in Chapter Three, the crux is the balance between keeping knowledge in the public domain and privatising it so as to maximise its distribution for further innovation. The UK MRC's Data Sharing Policy³⁸⁵ encapsulates this duality in both its mandate on commercialisation and public–private collaboration, and the view that publically–funded research data is a public good, to which access should be as unrestricted as possible.³⁸⁶ Placing knowledge in the public domain does have the potential to optimise its diffusion for further scientific innovation as the knowledge is freely accessible. However, as explored in the previous chapter, privatising knowledge attracts commercialisation that also allows for diffusion of innovation in the interests of the consumer. In the sub–sections below, the various models of open innovation that can be incorporated into open collaborative innovation will be described.

At this juncture it is important to emphasise that open collaboration here does not necessarily mean parties have a common research or development goal – some, such as the SNP Consortium or the severe acute respiratory syndrome (SARS) vaccine pool, may concentrate on a particular disease or task, but others may simply have an overall goal to promote information flow to enable the goals of individual parties. Moreover, open collaboration is not necessarily synonymous with altruism or free–for–all access without IP protection. ³⁸⁷ 'Open' in this context does not stipulate 'free' in terms

³⁸⁰ J Shuman & J Twombly *Innovation and Growth through Collaborative Networks* The Rhythm of Business, Inc (2008) 12.

³⁸¹ Piller & West (note 351 above; 39).

³⁸² Universal Declaration on the Human Genome and Human Rights (1997).

³⁸³ Universal Declaration on the Human Genome and Human Rights (1997) Article 12.

³⁸⁴ Ibid Article 19.

³⁸⁵ UK Medical Research Council *Data Sharing Policy* (2005).

³⁸⁶ T Caulfield, S H E Harmon & Y Joly 'Open science versus commercialisation: a modern research conflict?' (2012) 4(17) *Genome Medicine* 5.

³⁸⁷ Shuman & Twombly (note 380 above; 13).

of access or cost. As Cohen and Walsh state, 'any positive price for access to intellectual property potentially restricts access', ³⁸⁸ however, if the price is reasonable and non–discriminatory, analogous to the FRAND principles above, the knowledge is regarded as being open in a 'weak' sense. ³⁸⁹ Openness rather refers to the unimpeded flow of knowledge via networks of strategic alliances through which knowledge is diffused to meet innovation needs. These alliances are often based on contractual tools or cooperative strategies, ³⁹⁰ which may involve protected IP, or may operate through a knowledge commons or public domain.

At the centre of my dissertation, as delineated in Chapter Two, are two ideas: a) knowledge of research tools stemming from precompetitive research, often enabled by biobanks and databases, should be made widely available through the public domain; and, b) downstream applications of knowledge may need to be protected to satisfy private interests, which may in turn lead to public benefit as technologies are made available. In the following sub–sections, it is explored how the public domain and knowledge commons, as well as specialised practices of licensing IP may be used to promote open collaboration. These mechanisms have been incorporated into the policies that will be examined further on and used to consolidate an overall policy on which to base open collaborative innovation.

(i) Collaboration through the public domain and knowledge commons

The concepts of the public domain, knowledge commons and open access have been explored in Chapter Two under the Human Genome Project and in Chapter Three. To summarise, anything that is placed in the public domain can be accessed, used and distributed by the public, and is without IP protection or licensing agreements.³⁹¹ This is regarded as the most open type of access arrangement, and any collaborator of member of the public is able to access and use the knowledge for innovation, such as in the Human Genome Project. The OECD states that data from publically–funded research should fall under an open–access model as an international norm.³⁹²

Another means by which open access is created is through a knowledge commons, which is similar to the public domain but partially addresses the issue of free–riding of public goods.³⁹³ Free–riding occurs where those who benefit from a resource do not pay for it, leading to an under–

³⁸⁸ In Pénin (note 209 above; 6).

³⁸⁹ Pénin (note 209 above; 6).

³⁹⁰ Joly (note 13 above; 387).

³⁹¹ Stanford University Libraries 'The Public Domain' available at https://fairuse.stanford.edu/overview/public-domain/welcome/, accessed on 14 November 2017.

³⁹² OECD Principles and Guidelines for Access to Research Data from Public Funding (2007) 15.

³⁹³ Carvalho (note 56 above; 105).

production of that resource, or an over-consumption.³⁹⁴ Knowledge is non-rival and so does not deplete through use, and so cannot be over-consumed like a physical good. However, there is a disincentive to produce knowledge if there is no commercial incentive to do so, or if the modifications of that knowledge are enclosed by property rights. For example, a genome sequence may be placed in the public domain, but a firm may develop and patent a diagnostic test using that sequence, diminishing the public benefit of that sequence. A knowledge commons, such as that of BIOS³⁹⁵ to be discussed below, may stipulate that users are bound to a copyleft license, that is, any cumulative innovation based on the knowledge of the commons must be placed in the commons for its users to access and use without restriction, and each user's input will add to the value of the goods.³⁹⁶ A knowledge commons, such as BIOS³⁹⁷, may also be created within a certain community, in which parties may have to pay membership fees for open access, reiterating that 'open' is not synonymous with free of cost. The aim of this measure is not to restrict access, but rather to create sustainability of the commons. It may also be that only members of the commons enjoy unrestricted use of the IP through copyleft licensing,³⁹⁸ whilst other users may have separate arrangements with the licensor, allowing for financial gain. This would encourage entities to become members, increasing the pool of knowledge and subsequent benefits to scientific progress.

These models of open access suit precompetitive research where commercial entities are more willing to waive their IPRs to participate with public entities and develop a strong foundation for future innovation, such as in the Innovative Medicines Initiative (IMI). However, to translate such research into viable downstream technologies is highly risky, costly and requires clinical trials and regulation. For these reasons, without a means of capturing financial value, commercial entities may be unwilling to collaborate in purely open access initiatives, without IP protection for downstream technologies. Recognising this, protected IP may still be used as a specialised tool for co-ordinating collaborations.³⁹⁹ For example, many national policies and guidelines from state health departments and funding bodies encourage the commercialisation of technology by the traditional basic science hubs — academia and the public–sector — through exploitation of IPRs,⁴⁰⁰ and through collaboration

_

³⁹⁴ Wikipedia 'Free rider problem' available at *https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Free-rider_problem*, accessed on 22 November 2017.

³⁹⁵ CAMBIA (note 57 above).

³⁹⁶ Carvalho (note 56 above; 105).

³⁹⁷ CAMBIA (note 57 above).

³⁹⁸ Ibid

³⁹⁹ Centre for Science and Policy (note 61 above; 8).

⁴⁰⁰ Caulfield, Harmon & Joly (note 386 above; 3).

with industry. ⁴⁰¹ Two such tools – patent pools and clearing houses – ⁴⁰² will be discussed below as a means of coordinating collaboration whilst retaining capture of financial value for licensors of IP. However, without an effective open strategy to guide this process, knowledge can be hedged in and its benefits to a wider population reduced. Thus it is important for entities to consider how an IP strategy may be used to sustain open innovation, in which value is created and captured by many, not just a single entity.

(ii) Patent Pools and clearinghouses

The characteristics of the various licenses used in transferring knowledge and technology has been described above. To reiterate, licenses may be exclusive, semi–exclusive or non–exclusive in nature, which determine to what rights licensees and licensors are entitled. The practice of licensing has been used in the closed model of innovation, and is a vital practice of Chesbrough's firm–centric open innovation. Open collaborative innovation initiatives, such as BIOS or 100KGP or 100KGP is maximised, which occurs when multiple licensees are allowed by the licensing structure, as in a non–exclusive license, and when the total costs of the license are not prohibitive. Patent pools and clearinghouses have the potential to maximise the licensing of knowledge and technologies whilst reducing the overall costs to licensees, as will be explored below.

Patent pools and clearinghouses, often referred to as collaborative licensing models, are intermediary tools that enable access to multiple inventions through aggregating information and technologies, thus reducing search and transaction costs and streamlining the licensing process. 406 These tools involve numerous licensors and licensees, as opposed to only a few as in bilateral licensing. 407 In a patent pool, licensors may license their patents out to each other by way of a multiparty agreement, and then bundle their patents and license out the bundle to a third party. As a one-stop license, these mechanisms reduce the number and complexity of negotiations and the high transactions costs incurred through multiple bilateral licenses, and may standardise license terms to provide greater legal certainty. 408 A prudent pool would also vet the patents that are pooled to verify

⁴⁰¹ Ibid.

⁴⁰² R Aoki & A Schiff 'Promoting access to intellectual property: patent pools, copyright collectives, and clearinghouses' (2008) 38(2) *R&D Management* 192.

⁴⁰³ Chesbrough (note 26 above).

⁴⁰⁴ CAMBIA (note 57 above).

⁴⁰⁵ Genomics England Genomics England Intellectual Property Policy (2017) Article 3.6.

⁴⁰⁶ Ibid.

⁴⁰⁷ Van Zimmeren (note 234 above; 570).

⁴⁰⁸ Ibid 569.

that these are valid and enforceable to prevent unnecessary litigation. Additionally, a patent pool consists of complementary technologies or information, rather than those that are competing or are substitutes for each other. 409

Over the years, patent pools have emerged involving public and private actors, many of which targeted the treatment or prevention of infectious diseases such as malaria (Medicines Patent Pool) or neglected tropical diseases (BIO Ventures for Global Health pool). Though not directly related to human genomic medicine, these pools will need to include parties that have an understanding of the genomes of the infectious agents, as in the Severe Acute Respiratory Syndrome (SARS) pool. However, although private and public actors are involved, these pools are humanitarian in their objectives, and it is yet to be seen how pools in genomic medicine that incorporate private interests will work.

A clearinghouse is an intermediate platform that acts as a matchmaker service between licensors and licensees to exchange information or technology. As a neutral intermediary service that standardises licensing terms, such as the Science Commons, and that may bundle licenses, the clearinghouse eliminates engagement between the licensors and licensees. This reduces negotiations and transaction costs, provides visibility for licensors, and cuts down on the searching process by licensees. Clearinghouses may also engage in other activities, such as royalty collection and dispute management.

Two pertinent examples of clearinghouses include MPEG LA's Librassay⁴¹⁴ and DSM's SNP Nutrigenomics. Librassay aims to aggregate patents for existing and emerging diagnostic tests that bear on personalised treatment of diseases, and non-exclusively license out this bundle for diagnostic use. The success of the clearinghouses is still to be established. DSM, through its SNP Nutrigenomics clearinghouse seeks to reduce patent thickets around genetic variations called SNPs, particularly regarding personalised nutrition. By providing standard licenses, it hopes to encourage companies to develop genetic tests for personalised nutrition, but the uncertainty of such a market has discouraged potential parties from collaborating. This suggests that whilst patent pools and clearinghouses have promise as mechanisms of open innovation, they are heavily dependent on the

⁴⁰⁹ Aoki (note 406 above; 194).

Aoki (note 406 above; 194).

⁴¹⁰ Van Overwalle (note 363 above; 145).

⁴¹¹ Ibid.

⁴¹² Van Zimmeren (note 234 above; 570).

⁴¹³ Aoki (note 406 above; 194).

⁴¹⁴ Van Zimmeren (note 234 above; 571).

⁴¹⁵ Ibid.

⁴¹⁶ Ibid.

⁴¹⁷ Ibid 572.

willingness of actors to participate to create a critical mass of information and technology that makes the platform viable. 418

By enabling access to multiple inventions, patent pools and clearinghouses may overcome the problems of patent thicketing as all relevant patents may be included in a bundle of rights, especially where the development of an innovation is dependent on using multiple research tools like genomic sequences. Both patent pools and clearinghouses are mechanisms to enhance the licensing process needed in open innovation models. However, these simplify the process of licensing, and may not necessarily lead to technology transfer and distribution without suitable policy that promotes these aims. ⁴¹⁹ Furthermore, the interests of parties that may be from different sectors must be aligned, and competing technologies should not be included in the same pool. ⁴²⁰ And as other commentators have noted, patent pooling can tend towards anti-competitive practices. To keep within the IP law focus of this dissertation, this will not be discussed further, but future policy should consider this. As yet, neither mechanism has seen extensive and broad success in the life sciences or genomic medicine, in particular. Although as models that require broad licensing, such open collaborative innovation, are more frequently adopted, these tools may be refined and used more widely, which would need to be pre-empted by policy.

(d) The shift to open collaborative innovation

Pharmaceutical companies, core biotechnology firms (such as SMEs) and public research institutes (such as universities and NPOs) are looking to expand their current operations in personalised medicine activities, which would benefit public health interests. Pharmaceutical companies have largely relied on blockbuster models of innovation in conventional medicine, where incremental changes are made to an existing, successful invention. But the field of genomic medicine is nascent and different from conventional medicine, as discussed in Chapter Two, and requires breakthrough innovations to capture consumer interest and meet their needs. To bring about such breakthroughs, the following activities are critical in the innovation chains: extensive precompetitive research and discovery of genomic knowledge; innovative application of this knowledge to generate inventions; and effective distribution of these inventions to satisfy consumer interests. This highlights the importance of knowledge in driving genomic medicine. However, under a closed innovation model,

⁴¹⁸ Van Overwalle (note 363 above; 146).

⁴¹⁹ Guaragna (note 187 above; 196).

⁴²⁰ Ibid 196-197.

⁴²¹ T Melese et al 'Open innovation networks between academia and industry: an imperative for breakthrough therapies' (2009) (15(5) *Nature Medicine* 502.

these entities are faced with stagnated knowledge — either knowledge that is obsolete, or knowledge that cannot be translated into useful innovation by that entity because the boundaries of these entities are closed. In this way, knowledge cannot flow to where it would be used most effectively, for example, key information on genome variants associated with a disease discovered by a university may enable an SME to develop a genomic test. To assist these knowledge flows, the boundaries of these entities need to become more permeable, which may be facilitated by strategic alliances and collaborations, ⁴²² for example, Merck's Gene Index ⁴²³ discussed in the previous chapter. In this dissertation, the main focus is on the collaboration between public and private sectors, with an emphasis on public biobanks and databases.

Clarke and Turner⁴²⁴ note that a salient characteristic of the biotechnology industry is that of collaborations between various actors such as universities, biotechnology SMEs and large companies (often pharmaceutical-based) and not-for-profit organisations. The alliances within collaborations may be vertical, which brings in new upstream knowledge and allows for commercialisation downstream, or horizontal, which brings in the complementary knowledge of competitors. Networking arising from webs of vertical and horizontal alliances is also powerful, as Powell notes, in the biotechnology industry, innovation is a result of networks, not individual firms. The Diabetes Genetics Initiative⁴²⁷ is a pertinent example of collaboration between the Broad Institute of Massachusetts Institute of Technology (MIT) and Harvard, Lund University, and Novartis Institutes for BioMedical Research where the expertise and resources of these collaborators are combined to collect and analyse the genomes of diabetic patients so as to understand the genomic variants contributing to Type 2 Diabetes. Diabetes.

The importance of collaborative innovation in genomic medicine can be attributed to various reasons, as outlined below, many of which are proposed by the Genomic Medicine Colloquium⁴²⁹ – the overall reasoning is very few firms have the internal capacity to take a product through from research to commercialisation, for reasons of time, cost, resources and regulatory approval.⁴³⁰. Firstly, genomic medicine is dependent on highly complex technologies in both diagnostics and therapeutics,

⁴²² Ibid 503-505.

⁴²³ Chesbrough & Appleyard (note 84 above; 72).

⁴²⁴ Clark & Turner (note 194 above; 90).

⁴²⁵ Ibid.

⁴²⁶ Ibid.

⁴²⁷ Broad Institute 'Diabetes Genetic Initiative' available at *https://www.broadinstitute.org/diabetes/diabetes-genetics-initiative*, accessed on 30 October 2017.

⁴²⁸ Ibid.

⁴²⁹ Clark & Turner (note 194 above; 90).

⁴³⁰ Clark & Turner (note 194 above; 90).

which should be developed together to optimise their benefits. This complexity is partially attribute to the nature of genomics — to understand a single disease through genomics, a web of multiple genomic elements may have to be studied. This complexity calls for greater human and financial resources than a single firm may be able to provide. 431 Open collaboration creates networks of partners and transparency, and where initiatives are geared towards a common R&D goal, 432 the activities of innovation may be democratised, reducing overlapping research and duplication. 433 Such transparency and distribution of tasks will also enable collaborators to work on cumulative innovation and concurrent technologies and accelerate development in the field. Furthermore, as the focus shifts away from only producers to include users of technologies, diagnostic and therapeutic technologies can be customised within the collaborative initiative, potentially expanding the range of user of the downstream technologies. 434 A hypothetical example would be where a collaborating commercial laboratory finds that testing for breast and ovarian cancer is more appealing to patients than only testing for one type of cancer, and uses the network to communicate this to producers of the test. The networks of collaboration creates a platform not only to share IP and funding, but also expertise and skills in applying new knowledge. 435 Balancing the development of resources and relations is needed in such a highly complex field that requires interoperability and convergence of technologies and knowledge to address the needs in diagnostics and therapeutics. 436 Companies, like Roche, are recognising that collaboration may aid them in achieving breakthrough inventions and assisting the shift from the blockbuster model that relies on incremental adjustments to existing technologies. 437

Secondly, the tools used and the technologies required by the field undergo rapid evolution may be too costly for a single entity to constantly update their tools and develop new technologies. As with other branches of medicine, genomic medicine is a high–investment and high–risk field that requires value capture, although private entities are observing that patenting may not always result in such capture, as explained by the 'Valley of Death' phenomenon. In this phenomenon it is observed that patented inventions do not necessarily become commercialised. This may fall into an abyss

⁴³¹ T A Manolio et al 'Implementing genomic medicine in the clinic: the future is here' (2013) (15(4) *Genetics in Medicine* 258.

⁴³² Joly (note 13 above; 399).

⁴³³ Ibid 393.

⁴³⁴ Ibid 402.

⁴³⁵ H W Chesbrough From Open Science to Open Innovation (2015) 8.

⁴³⁶ European Patent Office (EPO) Scenarios for the future (2007) 93.

⁴³⁷ P Nakagaki, J Aber & T Fetterhoff 'The Challenges in implementing open innovation in a global innovation–driven corporation' 2012 *Research–Technology Management* 32.

⁴³⁸ A K Rai et al 'Pathways Across the Valley of Death: Novel Intellectual Property Strategies for Accelerated Drug Discovery' (2008) 8 *Yale Journal of Health Policy, Law, and Ethics* 53-89.

because the costs between the processes of patenting and commercialisation in the medical field is higher than in other fields of technology (noting the additional step of regulation). Moreover, as populations are stratified according to genomic sub-populations, there is a risk of market failure as the consumer bracket for a product becomes smaller as compared to the larger populations for which conventional medicine caters. Collaborative efforts, whether by private or public actors, or both, share these risks and investments, as discussed in the previous section, and can pool resources and reduce transactions costs and time—consuming negotiations, 439 especially regarding the use of patent pools.

Thirdly, genomics is also highly susceptible to the effects of patent thickets, as genome sequences cannot be substituted. 440 Open collaborative innovation that creates more open access through specialised licensing agreements, such as copyleft licenses or patent pools, or stipulations to preserve the knowledge in the public domain, can reduce the number of patents placed on essential research tools that are needed for precompetitive research, such as in the Merck Gene Index. 441 Such preservation of the public domain or knowledge commons reduces the threat of patent infringement and litigation, and attracts scientists to the field. Open collaborative innovation lessens the uncertainty of research exemptions, whereby scientists in public research institutes may be hesitant to engage in precompetitive research as countries either do not have explicit laws or guidelines, or in some cases have very strict rulings from courts. For example, the US federal court ruled that research exemptions should only apply 'when research is solely for amusement, to satisfy idle curiosity, or for strict philosophical inquiry'. 442 Such a narrow view of this exemption is possibly influenced by legislation such as the Bayh-Dole Act⁴⁴³ that promotes publically-funded bodies to patent inventions. Narrowing the scope prevents public entities from exploiting the exemption to further their commercial interests without proper due compensation for the patent holder. Collaborative networks that are based on private contracts between parties, informed by policy and law, provide an opportunity for researchers and patent holders to communicate the terms of research exemptions.

Lastly, open collaborative innovation engenders social responsibility by firms in terms of patenting and licensing practices by facilitating greater access for further innovation and social benefit without jeopardising the firm's sustainability. In such open innovation, where the boundaries of a firm are willingly made more permeable, commercial entities agree to avoid strategies of secrecy in precompetitive stages to maintain a competitive advantage downstream. As suggested by Melese et

⁴³⁹ A Kapczynski et al 'Addressing Global Health Inequalities: an open licensing approach for university innovations' (2005) 20(1031) *Berkeley Technology Law Journal* 1077.

⁴⁴⁰ Joly (note 13 above; 390).

⁴⁴¹ Frishmann, Madison & Strandburg (note 250 above; 121).

⁴⁴² OECD (note 364 above; 18).

⁴⁴³ Patent and Trademark Law Amendments (note 212 above).

al ,'Establishing areas of precompetitive research, with open standards and protocols, would enable companies to pool their knowledge and resources to fill current technology gaps'. 444

II. The role of IP policy in open collaborative innovation

(a) A consolidation of IP Policies to promote open collaborative innovation in genomic medicine

As explained in Chapter Two, biobanks and genomic databases are essential in generating genomic knowledge and in supporting precompetitive research. A primary mission of many large—scale public biobanks is to make these data accessible to the scientific community so as to maximise the research output for downstream innovation. The approach of sharing data on DNA sequences was endorsed by the Bermuda Principles, and the role of resource producers, users and funding agencies in doing so was reiterated by the scientific community in 2003. These are rich sources of primary knowledge and expertise, databases and biobanks are valuable as platforms for private—public partnerships and collaborations, which are useful in decentralising the innovation process and accelerating the generation and translation of genomic knowledge into applications for patient benefit. He

However, the heterogeneity of collaborative partners from public and private sectors leads to diverse views on: a) how samples and databases should be accessed; b) whether IP should be granted to inventions stemming from research on their samples; and c) how such IP should then be governed, considering the public good nature of the knowledge in databases discussed in Chapter Three. Currently, there is no binding international consensus or comprehensive framework, as found in an OECD report on the 'issues of ownership, commercialisation, exclusive licensing, access for researchers, benefit sharing and other issues' regarding population databases, 449 thus leaving these issues to the policy–makers of the biobanks and databases. The Universal Declaration on the Human Genome and Human Rights states that human genome in its natural state will not give rise to financial

⁴⁴⁴ Melese et al (note 421 above; 507).

⁴⁴⁵ S Fortin et al "'Access Arrangements" for Biobanks: A Fine Line between Facilitating and Hindering Collaboration' (2011) 14 *Public Health Genomics* 105.

⁴⁴⁶ Bermuda Principles (note 218 above).

⁴⁴⁷ Ibid 106.

⁴⁴⁸ P Hofman et al 'Public–private relationships in biobanking: a still underestimated key component of open innovation' (2014) 464 *Virchows Arch* 3.

⁴⁴⁹ OECD Creation and Governance of Human Genetic Research Databases (2006) 61.

gains,⁴⁵⁰ and favours free access to and sharing of data under a collaborative framework. However, this declaration pays little attention to the translation of such data in useful medical applications. Biobanks and genomic databases, such as the 100KGP,⁴⁵¹ have acknowledged that IP frameworks are essential in their governance of common pool resources used in research, especially where there are private participants and commercialisation is essential to the distribution of innovation. IP policy must capture the full potential of collaborative relationships between the different sectors, and close the gap between basic research and its clinical translation. In this section, the policies of various open collaborative initiatives related to genomics that have been introduced in Chapter One, such as the BIOS initiative,⁴⁵² the 100KGP,⁴⁵³ and the Diabetes Genetics Initiative, as well the OECD's *Guidelines*,⁴⁵⁴ will be drawn on to create a framework for IP policy that can be applied in an open collaborative model of innovation.⁴⁵⁵

The open collaborative model, highlighted in the above section, is a modification of Chesbrough's firm—centric open innovation model; the former incorporates a mixture of actors from the private and public sectors. This means that innovation policies, which include IP policies, should also be modified to fit the objectives of collaboration, that is, where there is a network of actors who benefit jointly from the collaboration, even if they do not have a common research goal. Thus, policy should encourage the development of open strategy where collaborators 'actively shape the external conditions to facilitate the development of a joint innovation strategy where all partners can benefit' a short—term open innovation effort. Partners from different sectors have different interests, as discussed throughout this dissertation, all of which must be met by policy to promote the sustainability of the open collaboration by attracting contributors, ⁴⁵⁷ aligning research agendas, disseminating collaboration results, or using IP strategies to promote further innovation and prevent unsuitable appropriation of the results emerging from the collaboration. ⁴⁵⁸ A good example of open strategy is the Merck Gene Index ⁴⁵⁹

⁴⁵⁰ Universal Declaration on the Human Genome and Human Rights (note 383 above; Article 4).

⁴⁵¹ Genomics England (note 405 above).

⁴⁵² CAMBIA (note 57 above).

⁴⁵³ Genomics England (note 405 above).

⁴⁵⁴ These guidelines address licensing practices crafted to meet public health needs in member and non–member countries, and recognise the input and potential of private–public collaboration.

⁴⁵⁵ It must be noted that IP is only one aspect bearing on innovation, and should be considered together with policies on other areas in a more comprehensive study.

⁴⁵⁶ W Vanhaverbeke, N Roijakkers, H W Chesbrough 'The Importance of Connecting Open Innovation to Strategy' in N Pfeffermann & J Gould (eds) *Strategy and Communication for Innovation: Integrative Perspective on Innovation in the Digital Economy* 8.

⁴⁵⁷ Chesbrough & Appleyard (note 84 above; 69).

⁴⁵⁸ Vanhaverbeke, Roijakkers & Chesbrough (note 456 above; 9-10).

⁴⁵⁹ Chesbrough & Appleyard (note 84 above; 72).

discussed in the previous chapter. Philanthropy aside, Merck attracted partners using the bait of a common objective — to prevent the appropriation of valuable knowledge that would influence their independent commercial activities downstream. In doing this, whilst Merck relinquished any rights to the genetic markers in the index, it also encouraged others to do the same, creating a valuable knowledge commons that would enable greater downstream innovation and value capture, rather than only capturing value on a few patented genes. This initiative upheld the tenets of open collaboration by encouraging entities to make their boundaries permeable to allow knowledge to *flow* out (into a commons) for use by others, promoting the *democratisation* of precompetitive research and enabling the *diffusion of knowledge* for further innovation whose social and financial *value may be captured*.

460 Based on these principles, encapsulated by many IP and licensing policies of guiding bodies, such as the OECD, and collaborative initiatives by biobanks and databases, and how IP policy should be framed so as to promote open collaborative innovation will be outlined.

In the previous section, there is an exploration of how knowledge flows are created in open collaborative innovation through the public domain and knowledge commons and specialised licensing that endeavours to preserve open access to knowledge. As mentioned in that discussion, IPRs do not necessarily have to be negated, but must be used creatively to avoid creating obstacles to accessing knowledge, as IPRs still have a role in attracting venture capital and external investment, as well as commercial entities such as large pharmaceutical companies. ⁴⁶¹ IPRs for research tools (although this is not ideal, as discussed in Chapter Three) or downstream innovations should not be disproportionately allocated in collaborations; collaborators should receive the rights according to their contribution.

Many collaborations, especially those initiated by the public sector, such as health departments or the MRC, include universities and public research institutions. These are regarded as prolific producers of basic research that can be licensed out in accordance with open policy that encourages data—sharing. He policies of these national bodies should balance commercialisation needs with open access, and should stipulate that collaborators incorporate data—sharing plans in their research proposals. He cases where exclusive licensing is preferable, such as when considerable investment is needed to distribute a technology, policy should include an agreement that licensees fulfil the requirement to exploit the invention and agree to milestones in the event of

⁴⁶⁰ Centre for Science and Policy (note 61 above; 7).

⁴⁶¹ S J Herstad et al 'National innovation policy and global open innovation: exploring balances, tradeoffs and complementaries' (2010) 37(2) *Science and Public Policy* 120.

⁴⁶² Caulfield, Harmon & Joly (note 386 above; 2).

⁴⁶³ Caulfield, Harmon & Joly (note 386 above; 6)

commercialisation.⁴⁶⁴ Furthermore, where national legislature or policy prefer licenses held by research institutions to be granted to NPOs and SMEs,⁴⁶⁵ such provisions must not hamper the flow of knowledge to other actors such as large pharmaceutical companies, which could adversely affect the distribution of goods in genomic medicine as commercialisation may not be optimally executed.

To create sustainability and promote open access, national policy could instruct publicallyfunded bodies to dedicate a percentage of their output to the public domain where it is applicable. 466 Policies of individual collaborative initiatives have also recognised the value of preserving a commons for research tools, for example, the Diabetes Genetics Initiative aims to make its work readily available at no cost to academic institutions and NPOs, 467 and BIOS states that 'enclosure rarely ensure[s] a sustainable competitive advantage'. 468 This implies that a fragmented hegemony on critical tools does not actually benefit firms, and is a waste of innovation resources, for example, if various genome sequences involved in diabetes are patented by different firms, a single firm will not be able to develop effective technologies without licensing-in other patents. For research tools to be effective in innovation, broad access, in which multiple components are publically accessible, needs to be realised. In his theory on patents as data aggregators, explored in Chapter Three, Burk highlights that genomic data is more powerful when coordinated at one point, for example, if Myriad held all the data on the BRCA gene variations, instead of the dataset being fragmented, this single firm would be able to develop more impactful diagnostics tests. 469 Burk suggests that patents are key in allowing this aggregation of data at a single point, or even to control the coordination points through licensing. In a closed innovation model, a patent monopoly favours data aggregation, but limits the R&D capabilities of other interested researchers who do not hold the patent rights through licensing. In open innovation, the flow of knowledge will require either open access to data or extensive licensing. In moving away from closed innovation, large-scale biobanks and databases that pool resources into a commons or in the public domain, may also function as coordination points as they provide robust sample sets and datasets for research, and can adopt open licensing practices.

Although, merely placing knowledge in the public domain may not prevent others from appropriating the data by combining it in their own cumulative innovation; BIOS⁴⁷⁰ recognises that

⁴⁶⁴ OECD (note 364 above; 21).

⁴⁶⁵ IPR Act (note 258 above; s 11).

⁴⁶⁶ Kapczynski (note 439 above; 1064).

⁴⁶⁷ Broad Institute 'Diabetes Genetic Initiative' available at *https://www.broadinstitute.org/principles-disseminating-scientific-innovations*, accessed 30 October 2017.

⁴⁶⁸ CAMBIA (note 57 above; 4).

⁴⁶⁹ Burk (note 321 above).

⁴⁷⁰ CAMBIA (note 57 above; 4).

genome sequences placed in the public domain may be captured by 'converting that information into economically valuable goods and services'. BIOS proposes the solution of a copyleft licensing obligation, discussed above, in its open licensing agreements to grant rights to BIOS in any improvements made on the licensed technology, which will be placed in a protected commons to prevent those who incrementally improve on a technology from enclosing that technology in a patent. Thus, licensees may not appropriate developments to technologies licensed out by BIOS and prevent access by others or fostering of growth of the knowledge commons. The HapMap project, which seeks to identify shared genetic variations across populations, also addresses this problem of commons appropriation using a click-wrap license where users have to click to agree to the terms of the project before being able to use the information — these terms include users agreeing not to combine the data of the project with their own results and enclose the project's data in a patent. Ara

However, although a commons model and the public domain may be suitable for precompetitive knowledge and vital research tools, this may not always be a feasible option to incentivise participation in a collaboration; IPRs may still be regarded as essential to value capture from downstream innovation. It is my suggestion that IPRs only be used to capture value from downstream applications, and appropriation is deferred until is in undeniable that the invention meets the criterion of patentability, which needs to be clarified by TRIPS or national policy and legislation, as discussed in Chapter Three. 474 Policy should ensure that IPRs promote knowledge flow through open licensing practices, as used by BIOS⁴⁷⁵ and the Diabetes Genetics Initiative which follow the FRAND principles discussed above, and favour non-exclusive licensing. Before open licensing becomes attainable, there must be clarity as to how IPRs are assigned to collaborators. This is especially pertinent considering that national legislation in some countries, such as the US and SA, encourages patenting of publically-funded research by assigning IPRs to public actors such as universities, as discussed in Chapter Three. Policy should clarify how the IPRs on the collaboration's results are to be assigned between collaborators, and how non-holders may use the IP posttermination of the collaboration. ⁴⁷⁶ Open collaborations should differentiate between precompetitive, non-commercial research, and competitive, commercial R&D. This may allow for a tiered system of

⁴⁷¹ CAMBIA (note 57 above; 7).

⁴⁷² Pénin (note 209368 above; 15).

⁴⁷³ Kapczynski (note 439 above; 1071).

⁴⁷⁴ M Allarakhia, D M Kilgour & J D Fuller 'Modelling the incentive to participate in open source biopharmaceutical innovation' (2010) 40 *R&D Management* 61.

⁴⁷⁵ CAMBIA (note 57 above).

⁴⁷⁶ G Slowinski & K W Zerby 'Protecting IP in collaborating research' 2008 *Research Technology Management* 58–65.

IPRs, as seen in the 100KGP,⁴⁷⁷ where non–commercial academic researchers assign all IPRs to the 100KGP parent body, Genomics England, to avoid a fragmentation of rights and to create a knowledge coordination point. Should researchers intend to commercialise any technologies using Genomics England IP, the two parties will negotiate a 'fair and reasonable' license.⁴⁷⁸ Genomics England will also share any profits with institutions that contributed to the IP enclosed in the license.⁴⁷⁹ However, forgoing any IPRs as an academic institution may not always seem appealing, especially when IPRs are used to attract investment or commercial partners, or build a reputation.

Genomics England also has an IP policy for commercial entities, which are tiered according to size. Where companies collaborate in 100KGP, ⁴⁸⁰ any IP that arises will be owned by Genomics England, but where companies solely develop technologies using Genomics England information, without collaboration, the company retains all IPRs. In the former scenario, such a policy may deter commercial collaborators as IPRs have to be relinquished, although it does create a strong knowledge base for 100KGP. In the latter, openness is substituted for sustainability as IPRs holders either have to pay royalties or a larger upfront fee, depending on their size. ⁴⁸¹ This business model approach to collaboration, where profits are derived from IP, may certainly support sustainability, however commentators at the IP Policy Workshop held by the Centre for Science and Policy, Cambridge, ⁴⁸² have queried whether a government—based initiative should support the capture of financial value, instead of the traditional focus in supporting innovation through infrastructure and funding. From this arises the concern of how to balance openness with value capture so as to cater for public and private interests, which are dependent on the nature of the collaborators, the complexity and potential of the field, and the long–term goals of the collaboration.

Another option to keep the boundaries of collaborators permeable and maintain a knowledge flow is where IPRs are jointly held by collaborators, and in the cases where a collaborator cannot hold the IPRs, open licensing should enable them to access the information easily, encouraging their participation in the initiative. Creative licensing agreements could also be used to prevent a hegemony over knowledge, for example, jointly–held IPRs or exclusive licenses could be licensed according to geography, field of use and time, without infringing competition law⁴⁸³, as recommended by the IP policy for 100KGP. ⁴⁸⁴ Hypothetically, companies A and B could each hold IPRs in different

4

⁴⁷⁷ Genomics England (note 405 above).

⁴⁷⁸ Centre for Science and Policy (note 61 above; 14).

⁴⁷⁹ Ibid.

⁴⁸⁰ Genomics England (note 405 above).

⁴⁸¹ CSaP Workshop Report Realising Genomic Medicine: Intellectual Property Issues (2015) 8.

⁴⁸² Ibid

⁴⁸³ Allarakhia, Kilgour & Fuller (note 474 above; 63-64)

⁴⁸⁴ Genomics England (note 405 above).

countries simultaneously, or hold IPRs in the same country at different times. Where a technology has patents on multiple uses, such as a diagnostic test for breast and ovarian cancers, A could hold the IPRs for the use of the test in breast cancer diagnosis, whilst B could hold the IPRs for ovarian cancer diagnosis.

Furthermore, open collaborative initiatives should make core external knowledge available for licensing if it is not already in the public domain. This knowledge is not the IP of the initiative, but is externally sourced from third parties by collaborators in order to innovate. For example, Genomics England, a subsidiary of the UK Department of Health, may claim ownership of whole genome sequence datasets of third parties if these datasets are used by 100KGP academic researchers in creating their own IP for a hypothetical invention 'C', depending on whether the datasets were created using public funds. ⁴⁸⁵ By doing this, Genomics England ensures that licensees who seek to use C for further innovation can acquire critical research tools to fully understand C and optimise innovation without having to enter negotiations with the third party and pay exorbitant transactions costs. ⁴⁸⁶ However, before adopting such measures, policy—makers need to evaluate whether this appropriation of external IP does not discourage third parties from allowing collaborators to use their data. As this data is publically—funded, funding bodies should clearly communicate in their own IP policy the possibility of a governmental subsidiary claiming ownership of core data.

Open licensing should be available to third parties so as to maintain a flow of knowledge, and where IPRs align in research, patent pools could be orchestrated to facilitate licensing within the collaboration and with third parties. Again, the assignment of the resultant IP from third party collaboration should be clearly guided by policy. In Nicol's analysis of cooperative IPRs in biotechnology, to it is suggested that databases and biobanks such as BIOS or 100KGP act as coordination points of knowledge, and through their IP policy, can act as patent pools. Open collaborations could also participate in clearinghouses to maximise the dissemination of their IP, and policy would have to address how this may be conducted. Clearinghouses and technology transfer offices, or similar mechanisms within a collaboration, should be used to correctly evaluate IP for fair licensing. However, for patent pools and clearinghouses to be effectively formed, policy would also need to address the possibly negative perception entities have of patent trolls and clearinghouses that may have thus far contributed to the slow growth of these mechanisms, for example parties

⁴⁸⁵ Ibid.

⁴⁸⁶ Thic

⁴⁸⁷ OECD (note 65 above).

⁴⁸⁸ D Nicol (note 236 above).

⁴⁸⁹ Ibid.

⁴⁹⁰ J P J de Jong, T Klavet & W Vanhaverbeke 'Exporing a theoretical framework to structure the public policy implication of open innovation' (2010) 22(8) *Technology Analysis & Strategic Management* 888.

believe that they will lose control over the bargaining process, to their determines.⁴⁹¹ Furthermore, in genomic medicine, these mechanisms would need to assemble multiple key patented technologies, which would need to be clearly marketed to prospective licensees. If these technologies are not verifiably critical to further innovation, prospective licensees may fear wasting financial and human resources on buying into these license bundles, and attempting to develop using these patented technologies. Effective policy would appease these licensees if it articulated clear instructions on how patent pools and clearinghouses vet patented technologies, although achieving this may be unrealistic as it is not always easy to evaluate a technology. Furthermore, licensors may fear that their technologies are undervalued, discouraging their participation.

Licensing of IP is an important means of knowledge diffusion and distribution of applicable technologies. The OECD *Guidelines*⁴⁹² provide best practices that would enable diffusion of knowledge and financial and social value capture to satisfy private and public interests. The objective of the *Guidelines* is to foster innovation and make this readily available for maximum utilisation through non–exclusive licensing to promote a healthy competitive environment that would meet the commercialisation needs of public demand, ⁴⁹³ and would enable licensors and licensees to obtain returns on their investment. ⁴⁹⁴ In accordance with the principle of reasonableness in FRAND licensing, the *Guidelines* recommend that best practice minimise the burden of royalties, upfront fees and transaction costs, and reach—through licenses, discussed in Chapter Three, as these may hinder access to downstream innovation and discourage inventors. ⁴⁹⁵

Particularly in relation to research activities, which would encompass the agendas of genomic databases and biobanks, the *Guidelines* recommend that information, particularly foundational genetic inventions, ⁴⁹⁶ is rapidly disseminated through broad licensing and unrestricted access to databases. Where research results are kept confidential for patenting, this should not unduly hamper the eventual publication of such results in the public domain or knowledge commons. ⁴⁹⁷

In the event that IPRs are not used to capture financial value through monopolies and social value through dissemination of innovation, policies should consider how value is to be captured, and how knowledge spill—overs are to be patented or otherwise treated as public goods. ⁴⁹⁸ Where

⁴⁹¹ Van Zimmeren et al (note 234 above; 573-574).

⁴⁹² OECD (note 65 above).

⁴⁹³ OECD (note 65 above; Articles 1.A, 5.A, 5.3).

⁴⁹⁴ Ibid Article 1.C.

⁴⁹⁵ Ibid Articles 4.1-4.4.

⁴⁹⁶ Ibid Article 4.A.

⁴⁹⁷ Ibid Articles 3.1-3.5.

⁴⁹⁸ Jong, Kalvet, Vanhaverbeke (note 490 above; 881).

knowledge flow is encouraged through open access that reduces a commercial entity's ability to derive profit from IP protection, there must be an alternative rewards system. These rewards may still be pecuniary, as in prizes for open innovation, or could be non–pecuniary, as in social rewards.⁴⁹⁹ The latter could include prestige and recognition derived from open challenges, a reputation of openness, refinement of skills and gain in expertise through peer interactions and exposure to new ideas.⁵⁰⁰ A significant development in this area of alternative rewards systems is in the InnoCentive open initiative where solutions are sourced from the public knowledge flows, termed crowdsourcing, and rewarded socially and monetarily. Policy must clearly outline these rewards for sharing IP and create realistic paths for participants to gain these.

Collaboration policy offers a platform for standardising activities that are not clearly legislated or regulated by national policy. Ideally, national policy and open collaboration policy should standardise research exemption licenses to clarify how research may be conducted in collaborative innovation. This would reduce uncertainty about facing infringement litigation. On that point, IP policy should provide clear IP dispute resolution mechanisms.

The policy guidelines,⁵⁰¹ consolidated from various sources, attempt to promote the principles of open collaborative innovation discussed in this chapter. Policy is dependent on national laws, but can also provide certainty in areas that the law does not address. The innovation policies of individual collaborations or overarching bodies, such as the Medical Research Council (MRC) can be more specific in how IP is managed in particular fields, for example, whether genomic research tools can be patented. In its IP policy, Genomics England states that it does not intend to own the genomes of any individual, ⁵⁰² or patent isolated sequences,⁵⁰³ nor does it support patenting overly broad claims that may hinder further innovation.⁵⁰⁴ Overarching bodies, such as medical research councils or national research foundations, play a critical role in promoting a research agenda that addresses public health needs through the collaboration of the public and private sectors – for example, funding bodies could stipulate that grant–holders engage in open collaborative practices. The IP policies of these national bodies should favour governmental health services, as seen in the 100KGP⁵⁰⁵ where a particularly favourable licensing regime will be considered for the National Health Service in

⁴⁹⁹ Chesbrough & Bogers (note 27 above; 16)

⁵⁰⁰ Joly (note 13 above; 399).

⁵⁰¹ Section II (a) above.

⁵⁰² Genomics England (note 484 above; Article 2.3).

⁵⁰³ Ibid Article 3.2.1.

⁵⁰⁴ Ibid Article 3.2.2

⁵⁰⁵ Genomics England (note 484 above).

alignment with the 100KGP objectives to 'bring benefit to NHS patients'. ⁵⁰⁶ Using the case of the South African MRC, the role of its IP policy in fostering open collaborative innovation will be explored, juxtaposing its policy with the consolidated framework above. ⁵⁰⁷ However, as open collaborative innovation develops, and healthcare needs change, a single, static framework would not be advantageous. As suggested in the preface of the OECD *Guidelines*, ⁵⁰⁸ guidelines and policy should be dynamic, evolving in light of scientific progression, and changes in business practice and societal needs. ⁵⁰⁹

(b) The promise of South African IP policy in open collaborative innovation

According to the OECD, SA is 'the continent's leading economy, with strong research-based industries' and 'related knowledge-intensive business services' and 'knowledge infrastructure'. S11 Research and innovation are significantly influenced by domestic industry-academic networks, s12 and as Gastrow finds, these networks are incorporating open innovation. F13 Furthermore, international collaboration has a role in scientific publication and patenting, as per the OECD's findings, indicating that knowledge flow is occurring on the domestic and international fronts. However, despite these positive indicators, there is an imbalance in the participation of the private and public sectors in the biotechnology industry — the OECD reports that whilst government funding of R&D doubled, the figure by businesses hardly increased. S14 Jordaan suggests that public policy on the level of national strategy, which largely excludes the private sector, contributes to the reluctance of private sector to contribute to the industry. This imbalance has the potential to impede the growth of a strong genomic knowledge base and, more pertinently, to hinder the translation of this knowledge into downstream technologies and the distribution of these technologies to capture their value. At a meeting convened by SA's Council for Scientific and Industrial Research (CSIR), policymakers and leading researchers identified that in order to create affordable products and services, universities,

--

⁵⁰⁶ Ibid Article 1.1.1

⁵⁰⁷ Section II (a).

⁵⁰⁸ OECD (note 65 above).

⁵⁰⁹ OECD (note 65 above; Article 5).

⁵¹⁰ OECD OECD Science, technology and industry outlook (2012) 380.

⁵¹¹ OECD OECD Reviews of Innovation Policy: South Africa (2007) 11.

⁵¹² OECD (note 510 above; 380).

⁵¹³ Gastrow (note 54 above).

⁵¹⁴ OECD (note 511 above; 1).

⁵¹⁵ D W Jordaan 'Biotech innovation in South Africa: twenty years in review' (2016) 35(1) Law Report 42.

research councils and industry must closely network,⁵¹⁶ and called for a policy that promotes not only networking, but the growth of these sectors, possibly assisted by collaboration. Thus, it is critical to understand the current public policy landscape to determine how the innovation chain in genomic medicine may be hampered, looking at this through the lens of open collaborative innovation. In Chapter One, the past national strategies aimed at building the biotechnology industry in South Africa were briefly outlined, and in this section, the focus is on two current IP policies that have a bearing on innovation in this field: the Draft Intellectual Property Policy of SA Phase 1 (2017),⁵¹⁷ and the Medical Research Council's IP Policy.⁵¹⁸

(i) The Draft Intellectual Property Policy of SA Phase 1 (2017)

In the Draft Intellectual Property Policy of SA Phase 1 (2017) (Draft Policy),⁵¹⁹ under the Department of Trade and Industry, IP is recognised as an important policy instrument in 'promoting innovation, technology transfer, research and development (R &D), creative expression, consumer protection, industrial development and more broadly, economic growth'.⁵²⁰ The Draft Policy also aims to transition from an 'over-reliance', on natural resources to a knowledge economy. Though public health is given more attention, with this policy intending to 'strike a balance between owners and users of IP', ⁵²² SA still lags behind other jurisdictions which have specific public policies addressing genomics in public health, such as the EU Directive. ⁵²³ This section examines how the provisions of this policy promote open collaborative innovation between the public and private sectors in genomic medicine — although its phase 2 intends to address biotechnology, this seems to be limited to agricultural resources. ⁵²⁴

As the Draft Policy seeks to promote the growth of domestic industry,⁵²⁵ it is important to determine its reliance on national and international linkages to do this, that is, to determine whether a global openness is fostered. As demonstrated by the Human Genome Project and subsequent genomic research initiatives, the nature of research and development in genomic medicine is global

⁵¹⁶ C A Gardener, T Acharya & D Yach 'Technological and Social Innovation: A Unifying New Paradigm For Global Health' (2007) 26(4) *Health Affairs* 1057.

⁵¹⁷ Draft IP Policy (note 81 above).

⁵¹⁸ South African Medical Research Council (note 340 above).

⁵¹⁹ Draft IP Policy (note 81 above).

⁵²⁰ Draft IP Policy (note 81 above; 318).

⁵²¹ Ibid.

⁵²² Ibid 324.

⁵²³ EU Directive (note 45 above).

⁵²⁴ Ibid 351.

⁵²⁵ Ibid 321.

— research participants, and researchers and developers from around the world engage in these initiatives to maximise the potential of the genomic knowledge generated so as to benefit a wider range of genomic sub-populations. Therefore, there is a need for a national policy to facilitate international networking so as to access globally distributed knowledge networks that can support such initiatives by the public and private sectors. 526 Gastrow notes that public policy does not currently promote the formation of global innovation networks.⁵²⁷ These linkages are essential in a field like genomic medicine, which relies on cumulative innovation and is highly complex in terms of its technological content, 528 requiring diagnostic and therapeutic goods for a multitude of genomic sub-populations. As Herstad et al note, the 'more *complex* knowledge bases, products or processes become, the higher is the direct or indirect dependence on various external sources of information, ideas and knowledge'. 529 Open innovation on a global scale can enable broader knowledge diffusion, and allow domestic actors to in-source knowledge and technologies to build their R&D capacity in a highly complex area such as genomic medicine, especially in the cases of developing countries. Furthermore, these international linkages may contribute to knowledge spill-overs, which can be transformed by domestic actors into useful technologies, if supported by policy that encourages networking and permeability for the flow of information.

However, the globalisation of genomic research does not detract from the requirements of domestic industries to develop. As Herstad et al observe, ⁵³⁰ Chesbrough emphasises the use of these knowledge spill-overs from the knowledge commons, but this may in fact reduce domestic capability in the long run. If there is a perpetual dependence on external sources, domestic industries are less likely to invest in their own R&D, which would mean that in the long-run, knowledge flow will become unidirectional as opposed to bi-directional, and capacity to absorb from external sources will not increase dynamically in these industries. ⁵³¹ Cohen and Levinthal define absorptive capacity as 'the ability to recognize the value of new information, assimilate it, and apply it to commercial ends'. ⁵³² Hence, prior knowledge created by internal R&D is essential in increasing absorptive capacity, and an open innovation model should accommodate both in-sourcing and internal

⁵²⁶ Herstad (note 461 above; 114).

⁵²⁷ Gastrow (note 54 above; 58).

⁵²⁸ Herstad (note 461 above; 115).

⁵²⁹ Ibid.

⁵³⁰ Ibid.

⁵³¹ Herstad (note 461 above; 115-117).

⁵³² W M Cohen & D A Levinthal 'Absorptive capacity: a new perspective on learning and innovation.' (1990) 35 *Administrative*

development, which may contribute to out-sourcing later on. Thus, if the Draft Policy should seek to foster open innovative practice, it would need to balance the formation of international linkages with that of domestic networking and growth. Currently, although the Draft Policy is unclear about how it would foster international linkages to achieve this balance, like the Bayh-Dole Act Act SA of the US, SA's IPR Act articulates the need to support domestic firms, especially SMEs, and the need to develop policies that prioritise national linkages. Therefore, when focussing on the field of genomic medicine, the Draft Policy should appoint a focus group that identifies: a) how the biotechnology industry of SA is formed and how productive it is; b) what are the current international influences; c) how have comparator countries addressed the issues of domestic and international linkages in the industry; and d), how should SA address the same issues.

A key reform introduce by the Draft Policy is the application of a substantive search-andexamination (SSE) process to stimulate 'genuine innovation', 535 as the Draft recognises that whilst SA patent law provides for SSE, as discussed in Chapter Three, limited human and financial resources in the past have curtailed efforts to effectively apply such a process. 536 Currently, only a depository system is employed, with SSE only be applied if the patent is challenged in litigation. This allows for a significant difference in patenting trends in SA as compared to comparator countries such as Indian or Brazil. According to a study by researchers from Harvard and Columbia, SA grants 93% of the patents applications, compared to India's 19% or Brazil's 14%. Even the US, a country which promulgates strong patent law, only grants 61% of the patent applications. This is an important flexibility that may prevent the patenting of subject matter that does not fit the criteria of inventions, such as isolated DNA sequences (referring to Myriad⁵³⁷ from the previous chapter). In this way, genomic sequences, research tools and inventions that do not fit the criteria may be placed in the public domain or in knowledge commons, but it is important that policy considers the role of secrecy in lieu of patenting. There must be sufficient incentive, generated by clearly-defined means of value capture, to share IP in collaborations otherwise entities may not publically disclose their results and inventions as in done patenting quid pro quo.

The Draft Policy also intends TRIPS flexibilities to be used optimally to meet public health needs. As discussed in Chapter Three, apart from the actual flexibilities stated in TRIPS, there may be significant room for the interpretation of its provisions, especially regarding interpreting patentable

⁵³³ Herstad (note 461 above; 113).

⁵³⁴ Patent and Trademark Law Amendments (note 212 above).

⁵³⁵ Draft IP Policy (note 81 above; 319).

⁵³⁶ Ibid 330.

⁵³⁷ Myriad (note 24 above).

subject matter criteria.⁵³⁸ The Draft Policy suggests that there may be a way to interpret TRIPS so as to allow for SSE limited to certain fields of public interests so as to accommodate for capacity constraints. Whilst Article 27.1 of TRIPS states that all fields of technology should enjoy patent rights, this does not mean that rights have to be granted through a depository system. As long as an alternative system, such as SSE, is used that potentially allows patents in the field, this article is not violated.

The Draft Policy also values voluntary licensing to third parties. To optimise the impact of voluntary licensing that promotes access and innovation through technology and information transfer, the Draft Policy calls for transparency regarding the terms and conditions of the licensing contract. The Draft Policy concurs with the IPR Act⁵³⁹ of SA on how publically–funded IP should be licensed, preferring non–exclusive licensing to SMEs and Broad–Based Black Empowerment Enterprises (BBEEE),⁵⁴⁰ but these preferences may not always be feasible, for example, where exclusive licensing may be better suited (as identified above by 100KGP)⁵⁴¹, or where large firms are necessary for innovation. As the IP Policy of SA intends to propagate the ideals of the IPR Act, and promote the conditions of 'fair' licensing,⁵⁴² possibly modelled on FRAND terms, the policy itself should delineate what these conditions are and how they can be achieved. By doing so, the policy will engender a national protocol on licensing that will improve technology transfer and knowledge flows through the public and private sector collaborators.

In a study conducted by Gastrow, he observed that firms, universities and public science institutes are all active collaborators, with evidence of open innovation.⁵⁴³ He also found that there was a great propensity to collaborate with other domestic firms or within the firm, or to collaborate with international firms, as well as government organisations.⁵⁴⁴ However, he finds that the greatest single mode of collaboration is the industry–university linkage, particularly with foreign universities.⁵⁴⁵ A pertinent issue to this type of linkage is that of research exemptions on patented inventions. The Draft Policy recognises that to promote the dissemination and advancement of knowledge, and 'preserve the scope of researchers', provisions on research exception and

--

⁵³⁸ Ibid 333.

⁵³⁹ IPR Act (note 213 above).

⁵⁴⁰ Ibid 338.

⁵⁴¹ Genomics England (note 405 above).

⁵⁴² Ibid 338.

⁵⁴³ Gastrow (note 54 above; 53).

⁵⁴⁴ Gastrow (note 54 above; 56).

⁵⁴⁵ Gastrow (note 54 above; 56).

⁵⁴⁶ Draft IP Policy (note 81 above; 338).

experimental use must be clarified.⁵⁴⁷ This clarification will ease the flow of knowledge through research, necessary for openness in innovation.

The Draft Policy, although not explicitly geared towards open innovation, recognises the importance of allowing knowledge to flow between the public and private sectors. Its provisions on granting of patents, licensing practices and research exemptions are foundational for future open collaboration, although the policy does not fully address the potential of patent pools and clearinghouses in promoting innovation. Moreover, as a national policy, there is a stronger focus on domestic linkages than international linkages, which may be detrimental in a global field like genomics. However, this policy is promising, and, together with the law, will inform how national bodies create innovative practices. One such body, the Medical Research Council, will be discussed below regarding how well suited its IP policy is to fostering open collaborative innovation.

(ii) The Medical Research Council

The South African Medical Research Council (MRC) is a national research body, mentioned in Chapter One, which includes research, development and technology transfer in its mandate on the improvement of public health.⁵⁴⁸ Through its Technology Transfer Unit and its Strategic Health Innovation Partnerships (SHIP), the MRC endeavours to partner with local universities, science councils and the private sector to translate its research into applications that can improve healthcare.⁵⁴⁹ These partnerships, occurring at different stages of the innovation chain, are indicative of openness in the MRC's innovation, but the body's IP policy will determine the level of open collaboration engendered by the MRC.

In its *Management and Commercialisation of Intellectual Property Policy*, the MRC identifies IP as a key asset, ⁵⁵⁰ and sets out to identify, protect, utilise and commercialise IP emerging from its research, for public benefit, ⁵⁵¹ and to reward relevant stakeholders to encourage further investment. ⁵⁵² As with the policy framework above, and in line with the concept of balancing heterogeneous interests, the policy recognises the need to achieve a 'balance between research excellence, academic freedom and capacity development and the need to commercialise inventions through innovative and

⁵⁴⁷ Ibid 337.

⁵⁴⁸ SAMRC 'Overview' (2017) available at http://www.mrc.ac.za/, accessed on 02 November 2017.

⁵⁴⁹ SAMRC 'Strategic Health Innovation Partnerships' (2017) available at *http://www.mrc.ac.za/*, accessed on 02 November 2017.

⁵⁵⁰ South African Medical Research Council (note 340 above; Article 3.2).

⁵⁵¹ Ibid 2.3.

⁵⁵² Ibid 2.4.

entrepreneurial endeavour' through the involvement of multiple actors, including the MRC, industry, society and IP creators. ⁵⁵³

The policy aligns with the policy framework for open innovation provided above in that it seeks to create a flow of information through 'open dissemination and free exchange of research results', ⁵⁵⁴ but like with BIOS⁵⁵⁵ and 100KGP⁵⁵⁶, values the protection and management of IP in this process. ⁵⁵⁷ In its policy, the MRC sets out how IP ownership should occur and how benefits from its commercialisation should be shared between the MRC and member institutions. Unlike with 100KGP⁵⁵⁸, the MRC is more willing to vest IPRs in the participating institutions, or to jointly own IP. ⁵⁵⁹ The MRC is also willing to share or vest complete IP ownership with sponsors or private funding organisations, especially where the MRC is unable to commercialise the IP. This willingness to share IP ownership may be inviting for potential MRC collaborators, and could facilitate wider commercialisation of technologies. Moreover, the MRC will ensure that the MRC and IP creators are not prevented from using the IP for further research, thus maintaining a knowledge flow for cumulative innovation. ⁵⁶⁰ The policy also provides for the exclusive or non–exclusive licensing of IP to third parties for commercialisation that will benefit the public, increasing the value of resources to consumers. Importantly, if the licensee fails to exploit the IP adequately, the MRC retains the right to exploit the IP itself or contract another organisation to do so, thus ensuring innovation is optimised.

In terms of its licensing policy, the MRC, like the initiatives examined in the above subsection, has a preference for non–exclusive licensing, promoting the involvement of more parties, and encouraging a wider dissemination of knowledge. The MRC also intends to limit licenses according to geographic location, a particular market or sector, and/or field of use, as explained in the policy framework above. Furthermore, diligence and performance clauses are attached to exclusive licenses to optimise their benefits. The MRC policy is also aligned to the IPR Act, which delineates the rights of the state regarding licensing and march-in rights, and which gives preference to SMEs and BBBEE firms, as discussed in the previous chapter, widening the range of potential

⁵⁵³ Ibid 3.1.

⁵⁵⁴ Ibid 3.2.2.

⁵⁵⁵ CAMBIA (note 57 above).

⁵⁵⁶ Genomics England (note 405 above).

⁵⁵⁷ South African Medical Research Council (note 340 above; Article 3.2.3).

⁵⁵⁸ Genomics England (note 405 above).

⁵⁵⁹ South African Medical Research Council (note 340 above; Articles 3.3.1 – 3.3.5).

⁵⁶⁰ Ibid 3.3.9, 3.3.17.

⁵⁶¹ Ibid 3.10.1.1-3.10.1.2.

⁵⁶² Ibid 3.10.1.1.

⁵⁶³ Ibid 3.10.1.3.

collaborators.⁵⁶⁴ However, the preferences to license to the SA government, or to firms (including joint ventures and spin–outs)⁵⁶⁵ domiciled in SA encourages national linkages over international linkages, which may be detrimental in the long run, as discussed under the Draft Policy.

To further allow for the dissemination of knowledge, the MRC does not claim ownership of not–for–profit academic works, but does specify that it should have indefinite, free, non–exclusive use of such material. However, commercial IP, such as databases or electronic data, which may be appropriated by external entities and marketed at costs that are prohibitive to knowledge dissemination, will be owned by the MRC unless otherwise negotiated (in which case the MRC retains the right to use such IP). Like with BIOS and 100KGP this will prevent a hegemony over valuable information needed for further innovation, creating a more open access environment.

The MRC also promotes publication of research results in line with the principles of open science discussed above. However, where commercial potential exists, the MRC encourages patent applications to be filed before results are openly communicated.⁵⁷⁰ This is not an indefinite inhibition of open communication of results, but to ensure that IP can be commercialised to more effectively benefit the public in appropriate circumstances. This commercialisation is further supported by the inclusion of spin—out companies and joint ventures in the IP policy, as well as licensing and placing invention in the public domain for open access where suitable and approved by the National Intellectual Property Management Office (NIPMO).⁵⁷¹ If regulated appropriately, these commercial entities could strategically engage with industry and the public sector to create a network of open innovation to maximise the application and benefit of IP.⁵⁷² The MRC, like the 100KGP,⁵⁷³ also intends on commercialising IP to generate income, which will be shared accordingly with involved MRC members.⁵⁷⁴ This may encourage participation in MRC research projects and may create sustainability for future innovation.

The provisions of the MRC IP policy align with the main purpose of the consolidated framework provided in sub-section II (a) — to create open dissemination of knowledge and free

⁵⁶⁴ Ibid 3.10.1.5.

⁵⁶⁵ Ibid 3.10.2.-3.10.3.

⁵⁶⁶ Ibid 3.3.14.

⁵⁶⁷ Ibid 3.3.14.

⁵⁶⁸ CAMBIA (note 57 above).

⁵⁶⁹ Genomics England (note 405 above).

⁵⁷⁰ South African Medical Research Council (note 340 above; Article 3.8).

⁵⁷¹ Ibid 3.9, 3.10.5.

⁵⁷² Ibid 3.10.

⁵⁷³ Genomics England (note 405 above).

⁵⁷⁴ South African Medical Research Council (note 340 above; Article 3.12).

exchange of research. However, the MRC, unlike the biobanks and databases examined above, does not have an explicit stance on creating open access databases and knowledge commons, either by acting as a platform, or by stipulating that collaborators do so. The MRC could take a firmer stance on the data—sharing responsibilities of collaborators, and could include provisions on creative licensing such as copyleft licensing that promotes open access. The MRC, like the Draft Policy, offers sparse direction on patent pooling and clearinghouses, and there is a stronger focus on domestic rather than international linkages. However, the MRC recognises the need to create knowledge flow and to capture the social and financial interests of the different actors, and sets a strong foundation for open collaborative innovation between the public and private sectors. With time it will be seen how the MRC intends to engage in innovation in genomics medicine, and whether it develops its IP policy to build on the foundations of open collaborative innovation it has built.

III. <u>Conclusion</u>

Open innovation as conceptualised by Chesbrough has evolved and includes the model of open collaborative innovation – a model that is highly suitable to meeting the demands of the complex, global and rapidly transforming field of genomic medicine. 'If an organisation lacks the ability to collaborate, it lacks the ability to innovate and grow'. 575 This transition of the genomics field from closed to open innovation requires entities to revise their policies on innovation, including their IP policies. In this chapter, a consolidated IP policy framework geared towards open collaborative innovation is provided in section II (a), and is used as basis for examining the national Draft IP policy of SA and its MRC. From this comparison it appears that both the Draft Policy and the MRC recognise both the importance of knowledge dissemination and translation into useful applications to satisfy public and private interests to innovation and capture value — the licensing practices of these instruments align with the OECD's Guidelines⁵⁷⁶ and of more open collaborations, such as 100KGP⁵⁷⁷ and BIOS⁵⁷⁸, included in the consolidated framework provided above. However, neither offer guidance on optimising alternative mechanisms for more open collaborative knowledge transfer, such as patent pooling and clearinghouses. Without clear guidance, these mechanisms may not be considered by domestic and international actors in the industry, and may not be used optimally to reduce transaction and licensing costs so as to promote the maximum use of resources in innovation. Additionally, lack of guidance may result in intentional or unintentional anti-competitive practices

⁵⁷⁵ Shuman & Twombly (note 380 above; 24).

⁵⁷⁶ OECD (note 65 above).

⁵⁷⁷ Genomics England (note 405 above).

⁵⁷⁸ CAMBIA (note 57 above).

in those patent pools and clearinghouses that emerge, which could be deleterious to the effectiveness of the mechanism and could cause its premature termination by the state.

Moreover, although they mention opening access to information, neither the Draft Policy nor the MRC commit to initiating a strong scientific knowledge base, either in the public domain or as a knowledge commons through databases or biobanks. Rather, as found in a closed innovation model, there is a stronger focus on using IP for the purposes of commercialisation, rather than examining its role in growing knowledge bases. The provisions in the Draft Policy⁵⁷⁹ and the MRC IP Policy⁵⁸⁰ place emphasis on how commercialisation may be promoted through domestic and international linkages, and through national patent law amendments, such as the review of the SSE process in South Africa or the IPR Act to support the dissemination of publically-funded inventions. This is promising for established industries that are on the precipice of commercialising their innovations. However, in a nascent industry like genomic medicine, where innovation must still occur at the R&D stages prior to commercialisation, what is first needed is the development of a strong knowledge base that can serve the R&D needs of the industry. Both the Draft Policy⁵⁸¹ and the MRC IP Policy⁵⁸² omit specific provisions on how to develop this knowledge base either at a national level or through international linkages. Both these policies should address how IP may be used to promote collaboration in R&D, and should pay greater attention to structures such as open access databases, patent pools and clearinghouses on a domestic and global level that could facilitate open collaboration prior to commercialisation. In a globalised knowledge economy, and especially in the knowledge-intensive field of genomic medicine, neglecting collaborative innovation in R&D that generates knowledge may retard long term social and financial value capture as the knowledge available to the local industries to innovate is diminished.

South Africa could draw on the experience of the UK — where the UK Department of Health created the subsidiary body, Genomics England, to establish and govern its 100KGP biobanks and database. South Africa similarly needs to appoint a governing body that can either oversee a national, publically-accessible biobank and database, or coordinate multiple fragmented databases and biobanks. Without engaging in an extensive discussion that is beyond the scope of this dissertation, it is proposed that the MRC is a possible candidate, being a national research body. However, other institutions, such as universities, or an independent conglomeration of private and public actors acting in concert with the state, could also be oversight bodies in the nationalisation of genomic knowledge.

⁵⁷⁹ Draft IP Policy (note 81 above).

⁵⁸⁰ South African Medical Research Council (note 340 above).

⁵⁸¹ Draft IP Policy (note 81 above).

⁵⁸² South African Medical Research Council (note 340 above).

⁵⁸³ Genomics England (note 405 above).

Policy can be used to elaborate on the unclarified areas of the law, such as genome patenting for the benefit of public health. The Draft Policy intends to focus on public health, but its biotechnology focus seems to angle towards agriculture, with public policy on genomics left undeveloped. The gap could be addressed by the MRC, a major national research body, but its IP policy is vague regarding the patenting of research tools in genomics, such as genomes sequences. Though the limitations of this dissertation preclude a comparison with IP policies of organisations similar to the MRC in other countries, it would be valuable to compare their provisions of patenting in genomics. It is suggested that the MRC clarifies its position on genomes patenting so that collaborators are not deterred by uncertainty on this matter.

On the point of collaboration, both the Draft Policy and the MRC, like the IPR Act,⁵⁸⁴ focus on domestic linkages, especially regarding the public sector and small businesses. There is uncertainty as to how large domestic private companies are regarded in the hierarchy over the licensing policies, which may exclude these entities from participating in the knowledge flow and technology transfer required for open collaboration. From the provisions of both the policies, the preference given to SMEs and BBEEE firms, combined with the lack of direction regarding large multinationals, may also exclude these multinational firms from collaborating. It is recommended that both policies encourage the inclusion of these entities in collaborations, and afford greater attention to fostering global linkages.

As the policies of both the MRC and state have significant bearing on the innovation landscape of South Africa, their IP policies could be used to promote the principles of open collaborative innovation so as to satisfy private and public interests in innovation in genomic medicine. Both the MRC's IP policy and the Draft Policy have laid a foundation for open innovation through their recognition of the importance of dissemination of knowledge and optimal distribution of innovation, and their provisions on licensing align significantly with those of initiatives based in open innovation, as discussed under the consolidated policy framework. However, neither body explicitly identifies the value of open collaborative innovation in a field like genomics, where considerable R&D is necessary and would benefit not only from the growth of the domestic industry, but also from networking with international players. As key industry players, such as the large multinationals, are recognising the value of open collaborative innovation in fulfilling their own private interests in profit, as well as the public interest in relation to advancement in the field, the existing policies should adopt a firmer stance on promoting open innovation in the genomic industry. The Draft Policy is a national instrument, and so addressing the specific topic of open innovation in genomics may be

⁵⁸⁴ IPR Act (note 213 above).

⁵⁸⁵ Section II (a).

unrealistic. However, the policy could better address innovation in healthcare, which has been cursorily mentioned in its objectives. The MRC is in a prime position to address the specific topic of open innovation in genomic medicine, as it as a national body that coordinates research and governs key players in the field. If the MRC is to adopt a firm stance promoting openness in innovation, it would need to first ascertain the amenability of the domestic and international industries to adopting open collaborative approaches. It is found that the biotechnology and pharmaceutical industries are accelerating in their willingness to adopt openness. Pursuant to this, the MRC should base its policy on existing best practices that are evidently viable in the industry. As it has already laid a reasonable foundation in its IP policy for openness in innovation, as discussed above, the MRC has the potential to drive open collaborative innovation in genomic medicine.

Chapter Five: Conclusion

Open collaborative innovation, evolved from Chesbrough's firm-centric open innovation model, is based on the flow of knowledge between collaborators. Juxtaposed to the traditional closed innovation model, open collaboration uses both the public domain and knowledge commons, as well as IPRs to facilitate the transfer of knowledge. This open model has established itself in the software industry, and is budding in the biotechnology industry as players address declining R&D and increasing costs and complexity of technologies. Players recognise that a model promoting rapid breakthrough innovation is needed to satisfy: public interests to advanced health technologies; private interests to improved profits; and private-public interests in sustaining future innovation. As seen in the examples of CAMBIA's BIOS Initiative⁵⁸⁷ and the 100KGP⁵⁸⁸, although the research goals of collaborators may not be aligned, there is a common vision under the initiatives to create open access to knowledge and sustainable innovation to meet public healthcare needs.

Healthcare is also evolving to adopt a more personalised approach to medical decisions. This personalised medicine can be based on a number of individual characteristics, and herein genomic medicine is discussed, where medical decisions are based on a patient's unique genomic constitution. These decisions involve the use of diagnostic and therapeutic technologies that are highly complex and developed from extensive genomic knowledge. As a relatively nascent field, significant R&D is required to rapidly generate a rich source of genomic knowledge and research tools for these technologies to emerge, and innovation has to be optimised to apply these technologies effectively to address the needs of public health. Genomic databases and biobanks are critical infrastructures in the generation of genomic knowledge, as discussed in Chapter Two, and under a suitable model can foster downstream innovation by coordinating knowledge and making this available to researchers. In this dissertation, it is proposed that open collaborative innovation is a fitting model, as various examples of initiatives that employ this model in a private-public sphere, such as BIOS⁵⁸⁹ and 100KGP⁵⁹⁰, are used. The policies of these initiatives dictate how open collaboration may be achieved, and particularly focus is on their IP policies to examine the role of IP in engendering open innovation. These policies are dictated by international, national and regional IP law, which have been discussed in Chapter Three.

Open collaborative innovation is a model that does not only incorporate the public domain and knowledge commons; it is also steeped in Chesbrough's model of open innovation that relies on

⁵⁸⁶ Shuman & Twombly (note 380 above; 12).

⁵⁸⁷ CAMBIA (note 57 above).

⁵⁸⁸ Genomics England (note 405 above).

⁵⁸⁹ CAMBIA (note 57 above).

⁵⁹⁰ Genomics England (note 405 above).

active IP strategy to achieve knowledge flows. Though there is a paucity of conclusive evidence on the impact of IPRs on innovation in genomic medicine under a closed innovation model, it is found that IPRs are important in the structure of open collaborative innovation, enabling licensing and stimulating participation of profit-seeking entities in open initiatives. For such a model to function optimally in genomic medicine, patent law and policy needs to be clarified. It is concurred with prior commentary that although there is an attempt to harmonise IP law through the international framework of the TRIPS Agreement, there is divergence amongst member states when it comes to the particulars of genomics.⁵⁹¹ TRIPS does not elaborate on the issues of genomic patenting; rather, its open-ended provisions underpin the needs to transfer technology, protect inventors and satisfy public health goals. And as yet, there is no legal international consensus on the patenting of the human genomic knowledge and downstream technologies. Landmark cases, such as Myriad, 592 have led to a review of legislation on patenting regarding biological material in certain jurisdictions, such as the US, but relying on litigation to ignite a response to genome patenting may not be the most effective and expeditious solution to providing clarification to support innovation. This is a challenge that South Africa faces in light of its depository system of patent application, where the criteria for inventiveness are not examined, and the patent is only challenged in litigation. As litigation is costly and time-consuming, patents may be left unchallenged despite their weak grounds for inventiveness and their impact on further innovation. South Africa's Draft IP Policy⁵⁹³ intends to reform the depository system to that of a search-and-examination (SSE) system, but this will require significantly greater human resources. The suggestion that the SSE system should be first adopted by priority areas is agreeable. Considering the Draft Policy's attention to public health, and the potential of genomic medicine to address public health needs, it is recommended that development and adoption of patent law and policy on genomics be prioritised. As this national IP policy is still in its draft phase, there may be ample opportunity to amend its provisions, and once this is achieved, other bodies, such as the MRC, may have greater clarity in building a foundation geared towards open innovation in genomic medicine.

Once the field of genomics is prioritised, the next task is to determine what constitutes a patentable invention. Though TRIPS⁵⁹⁴ and national legislature include the criteria of inventiveness, novelty and utility in their provisions, without clear guidance, there is significant room for interpretation. The USPTO guidelines⁵⁹⁵ and the EU Directive⁵⁹⁶ are examples of provisions that are

⁵⁹¹ Strandburg (note 42 above).

⁵⁹² Myriad (note 24 above).

⁵⁹³ Draft IP Policy (note 81 above).

⁵⁹⁴ TRIPS Agreement (note 15 above).

⁵⁹⁵ USPTO (note 288 above).

⁵⁹⁶ EU Directive (note 44 above).

more specific in how elements of genomic medicine may be treated, although countries such as SA lag behind in providing clear guidance. Moreover, even although these guidelines provide clarity, they are divergent, and in a globalised economy of international players, initiatives in genomics that rely on crossing borders need aligned provisions. To address this it is firstly suggest that genomics is divided into a) genomic knowledge that is essential as research tools, and b) downstream applications of that knowledge, and that these divisions are subjected to tailored provisions, as proposed by BIOS.⁵⁹⁷ Drawing on *Myriad*⁵⁹⁸, it is then recommended that isolated DNA should be non-patentable, and a review of the decision on cDNA, which is also a critical research tool found to be a product of an obvious step found in nature, is advocated. Then, following the examples of the SNP Consortium, the HapMap Project, BIOS⁵⁹⁹ and 100KGP,⁶⁰⁰ it is suggested that such basic genomic knowledge is placed in a knowledge commons that can be freely accessed, but is protected by creative licensing clauses, such as click-wrap licensing or copyleft licensing, to enable sustainable open innovation practices. Downstream technologies should also be licensed according to open practices to maintain knowledge flow, which includes non-exclusive licensing and reduced licensing costs, which can be facilitated by patent pools and clearinghouses.

To optimise the potential of genomic medicine in public health, public-based infrastructures such as genomic biobanks and databases are critical. The South African Medical Research Council (MRC) is a foremost organisation of research in the country, and as such, has a vital role in directing the course of innovation in genomic medicine. The MRC, like other public-based initiatives in other countries such as the 100KGP⁶⁰¹, can encourage the generation of vast amounts of genomic knowledge on sequences and their relation to disease through establishing or overseeing public biobanks used for research, and can coordinate this knowledge in public databases. This knowledge can then be used by developers in the private or public sector in downstream innovation. However, before fuelling the engine of genomics medicine, the MRC will need a comprehensive IP policy on what may be patented and what remains in the public domain, how access to resources will be governed, and on the particulars of licensing and the engagement of private and public actors. This is largely determined by the national patent laws and policies, but as these are vague on the matter of genomics, it is recommended that the MRC follows the emerging trend in healthcare of open collaborative innovation, and a comprehensive policy framework built on the IP policies on various open initiatives has been provided. With the initiation of the South African Human Genome

⁵⁹⁷ CAMBIA (note 57 above).

⁵⁹⁸ Myriad (note 24 above).

⁵⁹⁹ CAMBIA (note 57 above).

⁶⁰⁰ Genomics England (note 405 above).

⁶⁰¹ Genomics England (note 405 above).

Programme by the Department of Science and Technology,⁶⁰² the role of the MRC and public policy will be more prominent in guiding how the data of this project is governed to allow future innovation.

Although there is a focus on the transfer of resources as knowledge and technology through IP policy and law, the foundation of IP resides within the human resources of an entity, and for open collaborative innovation to be optimised, there needs to be a development of a community of collaboration, rather than just policy on licensing practices and how IPRs are allocated. This is based on Aubrey and Al-Laham's findings that alliances based solely on licensing patents was not sustainable or useful, 603 and that together with the knowledge-based transfer of licensing patents, it was also necessary to transfer relational components, such as expertise and skills of researchers. 604 The Human Genome Project is such an example, where a global community of researchers contributed to a common goal. However, collaboration does not necessarily necessitate a common goal, but rather, in the case of open collaborative innovation, a dedication to creating openness. Future research should explore how meaningful communities of collaborators are created and sustained, examining the all relevant policies, not only those limited to IP, that bear on innovation.

An additional point on the extensive R&D that is required in genomic medicine to understand and treat genome—linked diseases is that the genome is now recognised as only one aspect of disease aetiology from the working of the cell; a second aspect, called epigenomics, has also been identified. Epigenomics relates to mechanisms apart from DNA sequences that cause changes in genome expression. These mechanisms incorporate environmental influences on genome expression, which may even include childhood care or the lifestyle of ancestors, and as such, requires extensive data collection. Cancer is one disease in which the study epigenomics is established — scientists find that a certain mechanism called DNA methylation of genes is much higher in cancerous cells than in normal cells. The understanding of these mechanisms, and the technologies developed thereafter have led to patents, much like in genetics and genomics. Similarly, important research tools or diagnostic methods may be patented, and the field of epigenomics may be stagnated by a closed model of innovation, as discussed in genomics. As genomics and epigenomics operate together in the workings of the cell, these should be studied concurrently. Thus, when developing the IP policies for

⁶⁰² M S Pepper 'Launch of the South African Human Genome Programme' (2011) 101(5) SAMJ 287.

⁶⁰³ Clarke & Turner (note 194 above; 90-91).

⁶⁰⁴ Ibid.

⁶⁰⁵ W Noonan, A D Dismuke & M S Turker 'Epigenetic patents: a stressful environment for an emerging science' (2013) 32(5) *Biotechnology Law Report* 303.

⁶⁰⁶ Ibid 302.

⁶⁰⁷ Ibid 304.

⁶⁰⁸ Ibid 305-310.

an open collaboration innovation model in genomics, these policies must also consider the role of IP in epigenomics.

Lastly, whilst open collaborative innovation, based on the current trends of transition in innovation models in the biotechnology industry, is advocated, the model must be analysed to produce conclusive evidence that it is indeed a beneficial model to adopt in genomic medicine. In the long-run, the licensing practices, knowledge sharing, and networking effects and strategic alliances⁶⁰⁹ of open collaborative initiatives needs to be evaluated in terms of their impact on innovation, the economy and access to healthcare.

-

⁶⁰⁹ Clarke & Turner (note 194 above; 95).

List of Cited Works

Table of cases

Amgen, Inc v Chugai Pharm Co, 706 (1989) F. Supp. 94, 94 D. Mass.

Association for Molecular Pathology et al v Myriad Genetics, Inc, et al 2013 SC 569 US.

Diamond v Chakrabarty 447 U.S. 303.

Genetic Technologies Ltd. v. Merial L.L.C. (Fed. Cir. 2016) Nos. 2015–1202, 2015–1203.

Ligand Pharms, Inc v La Jolla Cancer Research Found, (1993) No. 93-01895 S.D. Cal.

Myriad Genetics, Inc v OncorMed, Inc, (1997) No. 97-922 D. Utah.

Myriad Genetics, Inc v Univ of Pa, (1999) No. 98-829 D.C. Utah

Table of statutes

Constitution of the Republic of South Africa (1996)

Intellectual Property Rights From Publicly Financed Research and Development Act No. 51 of 2008

s 2

s 11

s 10

Patents Act No. 57 of 1978

s 25.

International legal instruments

Agreement on Trade-related Aspects of Intellectual Property Rights (TRIPS Agreement) (1994).

Bermuda Principles (1996).

Directive 98/44/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council of 6 July 1998 on the legal protection of biotechnological inventions (1998).

Doha Declaration on the TRIPS Agreement and Public Health (2001).

International Covenant on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights (ICESCR) (1966).

Patent and Trademark Law Amendments Act (1980)

Title 35 of the United States Code (USC)

s 200

s 202

s 101

Universal Declaration on the Human Genome and Human Rights (1997).

Universal Declaration of Human Rights (1948).

Secondary sources

Allarakhia, M, Kilgour, DM & Fuller, JD 'Modelling the incentive to participate in open source biopharmaceutical innovation' (2010) 40 *R&D Management* 50–66.

Aoki, R & Schiff, A 'Promoting access to intellectual property: patent pools, copyright collectives, and clearinghouses' (2008) 38(2) R&D Management 189–204.

Asakawa, K, Nakamura, H & Sawada, N 'Firms' open innovation policies, laboratories' external collaborations, and laboratories' R&D performance.' (2010) 40(2) R&D Management 109–123.

Barratt, A 'Lessons from Bayh-Dole: Reflections on the *Intellectual Property Rights from Publicly Financed Research and Development Act*' (2010) 35(2) *Journal for Juridical Science* 30–69.

BBC News 'Human Gene Patents Defended' (27 October 1999) available at http://news.bbc.co.uk/2/hi/science/nature/487773.stm, accessed on 11 December 2017.

Beall, R & Kuhn, R 'Trends in Compulsory Licensing of Pharmaceuticals Since the Doha Declaration: A Database Analysis' (2012) 9(1) *PLoS Medicine* e1001154.

Beard, A 'Life's Work: An interview with J. Craig Venter' (September 2014) available at https://hbr.org/2014/09/j-craig-venter, accessed on 11 December 2017.

Bekkers, RNA, Iverson, E & Blind, K 'Patent pools and non-assertion agreements: coordination mechanisms for multi-party IPRs holders in standardization' in Proceedings of the European Association for the Study of Science and Technology (EASST) 2006 conference (2006).

Bentley, DR 'Genomes for medicine' (2004) 429 Nature 440-445.

Bio-IT World 'GTG Primed to Expand Non-coding DNA Licensing' (26 January 2006) available at http://www.bio-itworld.com/newsitems/2006/january/01-26-06-news-gtg/ accessed on 04 November 2017.

Broad Institute 'Diabetes Genetic Initiative' available at https://www.broadinstitute.org/diabetes/diabetes-genetics-initiative, accessed on 30 October 2017.

Broad Institute 'Diabetes Genetic Initiative' available at https://www.broadinstitute.org/principles-disseminating-scientific-innovations, accessed 30 October 2017.

Burk, DL 'Patents as data aggregators in personalized medicine' (2015) available at https://intranet.law.ox.ac.uk/ckfinder/userfiles/files/Alleles_%20D%20Burkdocx.pdf, accessed 24 April 2017.

Campbell, NA et al. *Biology* 8 ed San Francisco: Pearson Benjamin Cummings, (2008).

CAMBIA 'The CAMBIA BIOS Initiative: Biological Innovation for Open Society' (2004) available at http://www.bios.net/daisy/bios/10/version/live/part/4/data, accessed on 26 October 2017.

Carvalho, A 'The Intellectual Property and Open Source Approaches to Biological Material' in Trento Law and Technology Research Group Student Paper Series (2013) 1–164.

Caulfield, T, Harmon, SHE & Joly, Y 'Open science versus commercialisation: a modern research conflict?' (2012) 4(17) *Genome Medicine* 1-11.

Centre for Science and Policy *Open Innovation with Large Bioresources: Goals, Challenges and Proposals* Cambridge: Centre for Science and Policy, (2016) 1–34.

Chadwick, R & Wilson, S 'Genomic databases as global public goods' (2004) 10 Res Publica 123–134.

Chesbrough, HW *Open innovation: the new imperative for creating and profiting from technology* Boston: Harvard Business School Press, (2003).

Chesbrough, HW From Open Science to Open Innovation Science Business Publishing, (2015).

Chesbrough, HW & Appleyard, MM 'Open Innovation and Strategy' (2007) 50(1) California Management Review 57–76.

Chesbrough, HW & Bogers, M 'Explicating Open Innovation: Clarifying an Emerging Paradigm for Understanding Innovation' in H W Chesbrough, W Vanhaverbeke, J West (eds) *New Frontiers in Open Innovation* First edition (2014) 1–37.

Clark, JL & Turner, P 'Extending the Knowledge-based View: An Examination of Intellectual Property Strategies in Australian Biotechnology Firms' (2003) 21(1) *Prometheus* 85–100.

Cohen, WM & Levinthal, DA 'Absorptive capacity: a new perspective on learning and innovation.' (1990) 35 *Administrative*

Science Quarterly 128–152.

Committee on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights CESCR General Comment No. 14: The Right to the Highest Attainable Standard of Health (Art. 12) (2000).

Cook-Deegan, R & Heaney, C 'Patents in Genomics and Human Genetics' (2010) 11 *Annu Rev Hum Genet* 383–425.

Cook-Deegan, R & Niehaus, A 'After Myriad: Genetic Testing in the Wake of Recent Supreme Court Decisions about Gene Patents' (2014) 2 Curr Genet Med Rep 223–241.

Coriell Institute 'Genetic Variation' available at https://cpmc.coriell.org/genetic-education/genetic-variation, accessed on 25 September 2017.

CSaP Workshop Report *Realising Genomic Medicine: Intellectual Property Issues* Cambridge: Centre for Science and Policy, (2015).

Daly, J 'Peter Drucker' (22 August 2000) available at http://www.ghandchi.com/iranscope/Anthology/Drucker-SageAdvice.htm, accessed on 15 November 2017.

de Jong, J P J, Kalvet, T and Vanhaverbeke, W 'Exploring a theoretical framework to structure the public policy implications of open innovation.' (2010) 22(8) *Technology Analysis & Strategic Management* 877–896.

Department of Science & Technology *The Bio-Economy Strategy* Pretoria: DST, (2013).

Dowdeswell, E et al 'Realising the promise of genomics: exploring governance' (2006) 8(1/2) *Int J Biotechnology* 132–141.

EPO Scenarios for the future Munich: European Patent Organisation (2007).

Farmer, Y & Godard, B 'Public Health Genomics (PHG): From Scientific Considerations to Ethical Integration' (2007) 3(3) *Genomics, Society and Policy* 14–27.

Fortin, S et al "Access Arrangements" for Biobanks: A Fine Line between Facilitating and Hindering Collaboration' (2011) 14 *Public Health Genomics* 104–114.

Frishmann, BM, Madison, MJ, & Strandburg, KJ *Governing Knowledge Commons* Oxford: Oxford University Press, (2014).

Gardener, CA, Acharya, T & Yach, D 'Technological and Social Innovation: A Unifying New Paradigm For Global Health' (2007) 26(4) *Health Affairs* 1052–1061.

Gastrow, M 'Great expectations: The state of biotechnology research and development in South Africa' (2008) 7(4) *African Journal of Biotechnology* 342–348.

Gastrow, M 'Open innovation in South Africa: case studies in nanotechnology, biotechnology, open source software development' (2012) 9(1) *Journal for New Generation Sciences* 42–66.

Genetics Home Reference 'What is pharmacogenomics? (26 September 2017) available at https://ghr.nlm.nih.gov/primer/genomicresearch/pharmacogenomics, accessed on 26 September 2017.

Genome News Network 'What's a genome?' (15 January 2003) available at http://www.genomenewsnetwork.org/resources/whats_a_genome/Chp4_1.shtml, accessed on 23 September 2017.

Genomics England Intellectual Property Policy (2017).

Gold, ER, Kaplan, W, Orbinski, J, Harland-Logan, S & N-Marandi, S 'Are Patents Impeding Medical Care and Innovation?' (2010) 7(1) *PLoS Medicine* e1000208.

Goldman, M 'The Innovative Medicines Initiative: A European Response to the Innovation Challenge' (2012) 9(3) Clinical Pharmacology & Therapeutics 418–425.

Goodman, DM, Lymn, C & Livingston, EH 'Genomic Medicine' (2013) 309(14) JAMA 1544.

Guaragna, MB Stimulating innovation in Brazil: a study of intellectual property law, biotechnology and open scientific innovation (DPhil in Law, Queen Mary University of London, 2016).

Hardin, G 'The Tragedy of the Commons' (1968) 162 (3859) Science 1243–1248.

Heller, MA & Eisenberg, RS 'Can Patents Deter Innovation? The Anticommons in Biomedical Research.' (1998) 280(5364) *Science* 698–701.

Herstad, S J, Bloch, C, Ebersberger, B & van de Velde, E 'National innovation policy and global open innovation: exploring balances, tradeoffs and complementarities.' (2010) 37(2) *Science and Public Policy* 113–124.

Hofman, P et al 'Public-private relationships in biobanking: a still underestimated key component of open innovation' (2014) 464 *Virchows Arch* 3–9.

Holman, CM 'The Impact of Human Gene Patents on Innovation and Access: A Survey of Human Gene Patent Litigation' (2007) 76 UMKC Law Review 295–361.

Hood, L & Rowen, L 'The Human Genome Project: big science transforms biology and medicine' (2013) 5(79) *Genome Medicine* 1–8.

Hughes, B & Wareham, J 'Knowledge arbitrage in global pharma: a synthetic view of absorptive capacity and open innovation: Knowledge arbitrage in global pharma.' (2010) 40(3) R&D Management 324–343.

Huzair, F & Papaioannou, T 'UK Biobank: Consequences for commons and innovation' (2012) 39 *Science and Public Policy* 500–512.

Joly, Y 'Open Source Approaches in Biotechnology: Utopia Revisited.' (2007) 59(2) Maine Law Review 386-405.

Jordaan, DW 'Biotech Innovation in South Africa: Twenty Years in Review.' (2016) 35(1) Biotechnology Law Report 37–42.

Kapczynski, A, Chaifetz, S, Katz, Z & Benkler, Y 'Addressing Global Health Inequalities: An open Licensing approach for University Innovations' (2005) 20 *Berkeley Technology Law Journal* 1031–1114.

Knoppers, BM, Abdul-Rahman, MH & Bédard, K 'Genomic Databases and International Collaboration' (2007) 18 *King's Law Journal* 291–312.

Lawrence, E *Henderson's Dictionary of Biology* 14 ed Londond: Pearson Benjamin Cummings, (2008).

Lybecker, KM 'Social, ethical and legal issues in drug development, marketing, and pricing policies: setting priorities; pharmaceuticals as private organizations and the duty to make money/maximize profits' in J Cohen et al (eds) *The Power of Pills*, (2006) 25–31.

Manolio, TA et al 'Implementing genomic medicine in the clinic: the future is here' (2013) (15(4) *Genetics in Medicine* 258–267.

Melese, T, Lin, S M., Chang, J L & Cohen, N H 'Open innovation networks between academia and industry: an imperative for breakthrough therapies,' (2009) 15(5) *Nature Medicine*.

Mukherjee, S The Gene: An Intimate History Kindle edition New York City: Scribner, (2016).

Nakagaki, P, Aber, J & Fetterhoff, T 'The Challenges in Implementing Open Innovation in a Global Innovation-Driven Corporation.' (2012) 55(4) Research-Technology Management 32–38.

National Human Genome Research Institute (NHGRI) 'A Brief Guide to Genomics' (27 August 2015) available at https://www.genome.gov/18016863/a-brief-guide-to-genomics/, accessed on 29th August 2017.

National Human Genome Research Institute (NHGRI) 'DNA Sequencing Costs: Data' (24 May 2016) available at https://www.genome.gov/27541954/dna-sequencing-costs-data/, accessed 26 September 2017.

Nicol, D 'Cooperative Intellectual Property in Biotechnology.' (2007) 4(1) SCRIPT-ed 136–151.

Nicol, D & Nielsen, J 'The Australian Medical Biotechnology Industry and Access to Intellectual Property: Issues for Patent Law Development' (2001) 23(347) *Sydney LawReview* 347–374.

Noonan, W, Dismuke, AD & Turker, MS 'Epigenetic patents: a stressful environment for an emerging science' (2013) 32(5) *Biotechnology Law Report* 302–312.

OECD Patents and innovation: trends and policy challenges Paris: OECD, (2004).

OECD Creation and Governance of Human Genetic Research Databases Paris: OECD, (2006).

OECD Guidelines for the Licensing of Genetic Inventions Paris: OECD, (2006).

OECD Principles and Guidelines for Access to Research Data from Public Funding Paris: OECD, (2007).

OECD OECD Reviews of Innovation Policy: South Africa Paris: OECD, (2007).

OECD OECD Science, technology and industry outlook Paris: OECD, (2012).

Ossorio, PN 'The Human genome as Common Human Heritage: Common Sense or Legal Nonsense?' (2007) *Journal of Law, Medicine & Ethics* 425–439.

Pénin, J 'More open than open innovation? Rethinking the concept of openness in innovation studies' (2008) 18 *Juillet* 1–20.

Pepper, MS 'Launch of the South African Human Genome Programme' (2011) 101(5) SAMJ 287–288.

Piller, FT & West, J 'Firms, Users, and Innovation: An Interactive Model of Coupled Open Innovation' in H Chesbrough, W Vanhaverbeke and J West (eds) *New Frontiers in Open Innovation* (2014) 29–49.

Rai, A K et al 'Pathways Across the Valley of Death: Novel Intellectual Property Strategies for Accelerated Drug Discovery' (2008) 8 *Yale Journal of Health Policy, Law, and Ethics* 53-89.

Raja, BH & Sambandan, P *Open Innovation in Pharmaceutical Industry: A case study of Eli Lilly* (Master of Science Thesis, KTH Industrial Engineering and Management, 2015).

Shuman, J & Twombly, J *Innovation and Growth through Collaborative Networks* Newton: The Rhythm of Business, Inc, (2008) 1–34.

Rischard, JF 'High noon: we need new approaches to global problem solving, fast' (2001) 4 *Journal of International Economic Law* 507–525.

Rouse, R & Hardiman, G 'Microarray technology- an intellectual property perspective' (2003) 4(5) *Pharmacogenomics* 1–10.

SAMRC 'Overview' (2017) available at http://www.mrc.ac.za/, accessed on 02 November 2017.

SAMRC 'Strategic Health Innovation Partnerships' (2017) available at http://www.mrc.ac.za/, accessed on 02 November 2017.

Sevick, K 'U.S. patent office floats new biotech-friendly guidelines.' (19 December 2014) *Sciencemag News* available at http://www.sciencemag.org/news/2014/12/us-patent-office-floats-new-biotech-friendly-guidelines, accessed on 15 April 2017.

Shampo, MA & Kyle, RA 'J. Craig Venter — the Human Genome Project' (2011) 86(4) *Mayo Clinic Proc* e26–e27.

Singer, E 'Craig Venter's Genome' (4 September 2007) available at https://www.technologyreview.com/s/408606/craig-venters-genome/, accessed on 11 December 2017.

Slowinski, G & Zerby, KW 'Protecting IP in collaborating research' 2008 Research Technology Management 64.

South African Medical Research Council Management and Commercialisation of Intellectual Property Policy (2013).

Special Representative of the Secretary-General Guiding principles on business and human rights: Implementing the United Nations "protect, respect and remedy" framework, (2011) UN Doc A/HRC/17/31.

Stanford University Libraries 'The Public Domain' available at https://fairuse.stanford.edu/overview/public-domain/welcome/, accessed on 14 November 2017.

Strandburg, KJ 'Accommodating user innovation in the international intellectual property regime: A global administrative law approach,' (2009) *Acta Juridica* 283–318.

UK Medical Research Council *Data Sharing Policy* (2005).

USPTO Memorandum *Supreme Court Decision in Association for Molecular Pathology v. Myriad Genetics, Inc.* Virginia: USPTO (13 June 2013).

Vanhaverbeke, W, Roijakkers, N, Lorenz, A & Chesbrough, H 'The Importance of Connecting Open Innovation to Strategy.' in N Pfeffermann, J and Gould (eds) *Strategy and Communication for Innovation* Cham: Springer International Publishing, (2017) 3–15.

Van Overwalle, G, van Zimmeren, E, Verbeure, B & Matthijs, G 'Models for facilitating access to patents on genetic inventions.' (2006) 7(2) *Nature Reviews Genetics* 143–154.

Van Zimmeren, E et al 'Patent pool and clearinghouses in the life science' (2011) 29(11) *Trends in Biotechnology Trends in Biotechnology* 569–576.

Vawda, YA & Baker, BK 'Achieving social justice in the human rights/intellectual property debate: Realising the goal of access to medicines,' (2013) 13 *AHRLJ* 55–81.

Wikipedia 'Celera Corporation' (28 November 2017) available at https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Celera_Corporation, accessed on 11 December 2017.

Wikipedia 'Free rider problem' available at https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Free-rider_problem, accessed on 22 November 2017.

World Intellectual Property Organization Publication (WIPO) No.450(E) What is Intellectual Property Geneva: WIPO, (2004).

World Health Organization (ed) *Genomics and world health: report of the Advisory Committee on Health Research* Geneva: World Health Organization, (2002).

World Health Organization Genetics, genomics and the patenting of DNA: review of potential implications for health in developing countries (2005) 1–82.

World Health Organization *Medical genetic services in developing countries: The ethical, legal and social implications of genetic testing and screening* Geneva: World Health Organization, (2006).

World Health Organization *The Ethical, Legal and Social Implications of Pharmacogenomics in Developing Countries* Geneva: World Health Organization, (2007).

YourGenome 'Why was there a race to sequence the human genome' available at https://www.yourgenome.org/stories/why-was-there-a-race-to-sequence-the-human-genome, accessed on 03 September 2017.



29 June 2017

Ms Siddharthiya Pillay (211505906) School of Law Howard College Campus

Dear Ms Pillay,

Protocol reference number: HSS/0930/017M

Project title: Examining the role of intellectual property law, policy and management in open innovation models that facilitate innovation in and access to personalised medicine

Approval Notification – No Risk / Exempt Application

In response to your application received on 27 June 2017, the Humanities & Social Sciences Research Ethics Committee has considered the abovementioned application and the protocol has been granted FULL APPROVAL.

Any alteration/s to the approved research protocol i.e. Questionnaire/Interview Schedule, informed Consent Form, Title of the Project, Location of the Study, Research Approach and Methods must be reviewed and approved through the amendment/modification prior to its implementation. In case you have further queries, please quote the above reference number.

PLEASE NOTE: Research data should be securely stored in the discipline/department for a period of 5 years.

The ethical clearance certificate is only valid for a period of 3 years from the date of issue. Thereafter Recertification must be applied for on an annual basis.

I take this opportunity of wishing you everything of the best with your study.

Yours faithfully

Dr Shamila Naidoo (Deputy Chair)

/ms

Cc Supervisor: Dr Donrich Jordaan

Cc Academic Leader Research: Dr Shannon Bosch Cc School Administrator: Mr Pradeep Ramsewak

Humanities & Social Sciences Research Ethics Committee

Dr Shenuka Singh (Chair)

Westville Campus, Govan Mbeki Building

Postal Address: Private Bag X54001, Durban 4000

Telephone: +27 (0) 31 260 3587/6350/4557 Facsimile: +27 (0) 31 260 4609 Email: ximbap@ukzn.ac.za / snymanm@ukzn.ac.za / mohunp@ukzn.ac.za Website: www.ukzn.ac.za



Founding Campuses: m Edgewood

Howard College

Medical School

Pietermaritzburg

Westville

HUMANITIES AND SOCIAL SCIENCES RESEARCH ETHICS COMMITTEE ETHICAL **CLEARANCE CHANGE OF DISSERTATION TITLE FORM** School Law Siddharthiya Pillay Student Name Student Number 211505906 Supervisor Dr D W Thaldar (formerly known as D W Jordaan) Co-supervisor Old Title Examining role of IP law, policy and management in open innovation models that facilitate innovation in and access to personalised medicine. New Title Examining role of IP law, policy and management in open innovation models that facilitate innovation in and access to genomic medicine. Reason for Change The reference to *genomic* medicine is more accurate than the overarching term of personalised medicine. Signatures Student: Supervisor: N/A Co-supervisor: ALR: HSSREC:

^{*}Reference number: HSS/0930/017M

^{**}This request was submitted to the College Office upon submission of the mini-dissertation in February 2018.